
1200 Wilmette Avenue 
WILMETTE, ILLINOIS 60091-0040 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Village Board Council Chambers 

Tuesday, July 25, 2017 
7:30 p.m. 

1.0 ROLL CALL 

2.0 PUBLIC COMMENT 

3.0 CONSENT AGENDA 
(The matters listed for consideration on the Consent Agenda are items of routine 
business, land use items coming to the Village Board with a positive recommendation 
from a hearing body, and other items that appear to have the unanimous support of 
the Board of Trustees. The Village President will inquire if any member of the Board 
or member of the public wishes to discuss any item on the Consent Agenda. If such 
a request is made, the matter will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be 
taken up by the Village Board in the order shown. Thereafter, the Village President 
will request a motion and second for passage of all remaining items listed. The 
resulting roll call vote on the Consent Agenda will be applicable to each remaining 
agenda item. Any item removed from the Consent Agenda is subject to a five-minute 
time limit). Any agenda item beginning with a 3 is on the Consent Agenda. 

3.1 Approval of minutes of the Regular Board meeting held July 11, 2017. 

LAND USE COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 

3.2 Presentation of minutes of the Appearance Review Commission 
meeting held June 5, 2017. 

3.3 Presentation of minutes of the Plan Commission meeting held June 6, 2017. 

3.4 Presentation of minutes of the Land Use Committee meeting held July 26, 
2016. 

3.5 Presentation of minutes of the Land Use Committee meeting held 
December 12, 2016. 



2 

3.6 Presentation of minutes of the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting held June 
21, 2017. 

3.7 Introduction of Ordinance #2017-O-44 amending Chapter 20, Article 16 
of the Village Code Sign Ordinance. 

3.8 REQUEST TO REMAND BACK TO THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
MEETING SEPTEMBER 19, 2017 - Zoning Board of Appeals Report, Case 
#2017-Z-31, 808 Linden Avenue (St. Francis Xavier School) regarding a 
request for a special use and variations to permit the construction of a two-
story addition. 

3.9 REQUEST TO TABLE TO AUGUST 22, 2017 REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD 
MEETING - Plan Commission Report, Case #2017-P-03, 730 Romona 
Road   regarding a request for tentative plat approval for a two-lot 
subdivision.  

FINANCE COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 

3.10 Adoption of Resolution #2017-R-19 declaring the Village of Wilmette’s 
official intent to reimburse certain capital expenditures from the proceeds of 
future debt issues. 

ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 

3.11 Presentation of minutes of the Transportation Commission meeting held 
December 15, 2016. 

3.12 Recommendation of appointment of Cameron Krueger to the Board of Fire 
and Police Commissioners from July 25, 2017 to July 25, 2020-Waiver of 
rules; Appointment of Cameron Krueger to the Board of Fire and Police  
Commissioners from July 25, 2017 to July 25, 2020. 

3.13 Notice of vacancy on the Electrical Commission due to the resignation of 
Michael McGreal. 

3.14 Recommendation of appointment of Benjamin Wozney to the Electrical 
Commission from August 22, 2017 to August 22, 2021. 

MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 

3.15 Approval of contract in the amount of $38,900 with McCann Industries, 
Inc., Addison, IL for purchase of asphalt roller and trailer. 

3.16 Approval of contract in the amount not to exceed $32,700 with Hutchinson 
Design Group, Ltd., Barrington, IL for professional design and project  
management services associated with the Village Hall roof replacement 
project. 



3 

3.17 Approval of contract in the amount not to exceed $129,535 with RJN, 
Wheaton, IL for smoke testing services. 

3.18 Approval of contract in the amount not to exceed $49,385 with Stantec, 
Chicago, IL for Supplemental Analysis of the Separate Storm Sewer 
System Study. 

3.19 Introduction of Ordinance #2017-O-43 amending Chapter 15 of the Village 
Code concerning encroachments in public easements.

3.20 Adoption of Resolution #2017-R-18 approving a Local Agency Agreement 
for Federal participation Preliminary Engineering Services Agreement for 
Federal participation for the Locust Road Improvements, Phase II design 
services. 

JUDICIARY COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 

3.21 Adoption of Resolution #2017-R-20 approving a third amendment to the 
ground lease between the Village of Wilmette and New Cingular Wireless 
PCS, LLC. 

4.0 REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

4.1 Recognition of Deputy Chief Tom Robertson for his service to the Village. 

4.2 Recognition of Fire Chief Michael McGreal for his service to the Village. 

4.3 Promotion of Michael Scheetz to Lieutenant, James Bentz to Duty Chief
and Robert Brill to Deputy Chief. 

4.4 Appointment of Benjamin Wozney as Chief of the Wilmette Fire 
Department effective August 3, 2017. 

5.0 REPORT OF LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSIONER: 

6.0 STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS: 

6.1 LAND USE STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 

6.2 FINANCE STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 

6.3 ADMINISTRATION STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 



4 

6.4 MUNICIPAL SERVICES STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 

6.5 PUBLIC SAFETY STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 

6.6 JUDICIARY STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 

6.7 REPORTS FROM SPECIAL COMMITTEES 

7.0 NEW BUSINESS 

8.0      MATTERS REFERRED TO STANDING COMMITTEES 

8.1 Review text amendments to the Zoning Ordinance. 

8.2 Review adding group homes for private school students as a permitted or 
special use in the residential zoning districts. 

8.3  Review Westlake Plaza Local Sign Ordinance regulations 

9.0 ADJOURNMENT 



7/11/17  Not yet approved 

1200 Wilmette Avenue 

WILMETTE, ILLINOIS 60091-0040 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
     OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF WILMETTE, ILLINOIS HELD IN THE 
      COUNCIL ROOM OF SAID VILLAGE HALL, 1200 WILMETTE AVENUE, 

WILMETTE, ILLINOIS ON TUESDAY, JULY 11, 2017. 

The Village President called the meeting to order at 7:31 p.m. 

1.0 ROLL CALL 
Trustees Julie Wolf 

Senta Plunkett 
Kathy Dodd 
Stephen M. Leonard 

 President Bob Bielinski 

Absent Daniel E. Sullivan, Jr. 
Joel Kurzman 

Staff Present:  Timothy J. Frenzer, Village Manager 
Michael Braiman, Assistant Village Manager 
Jeffrey M. Stein, Corporation Counsel 
John Adler, Director of Community Development 

2.0 PUBLIC COMMENT 

Allyson Haut, 523 Maple Avenue, said she is Co-President of the League of 
Women Voters of Wilmette.  She noted that two weeks ago the Village Board voted 
to opt out of the Cook County Minimum Wage and Paid Sick Leave Requirement.  
The Village Board also committed to studying the issues at the Board Committee 
levels and she said the League of Women Voters and the community continue to 
be interested in these issues and would like to be updated by the Village Board.  

3.0 CONSENT AGENDA 

Trustee Wolf moved approval of the Consent Agenda as follows: 

3.1 Approval of minutes of the Regular Board meeting held June 27, 2017. 

Agenda Item: 3.1



7/11/17  Not yet approved 

 2 

  LAND USE COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 
 
3.2 Presentation of minutes of the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting held June 

7, 2017. 
 
3.3 Adoption of Resolution #2017-R-17 granting final plat approval of a two-lot 

subdivision of the property located at 511 and 515 Pinecrest Lane in 
accordance with the plat. 

 
3.4 Zoning Board of Appeals Report, Case #2017-Z-28, 1300 Sheridan Road 
 regarding a request for a 642.25 square foot (24.95%) front yard 
 impervious surface coverage variation and a variation to permit parking 
 spaces in a required front yard to allow the expansion of the  existing legal 
 non-conforming driveway in accordance with the plans submitted-  
 REQUEST TO TABLE TO AUGUST 22, 2017 REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD 
 MEETING. 
 

  3.5 REMOVE FROM TABLE - Zoning Board of Appeals Report, Case   
   #2017-Z-23, 701 Lake Avenue regarding a request for a 613.98   
   square foot (6.44%) lot coverage variation and a 24.83’ rear  yard   
   setback variation to  permit the construction of a one-story attached garage
    addition and new front porch in accordance with the plans submitted – 
   REQUEST TO TABLE TO AUGUST 22, 2017 REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD 
   MEETING.  

 
3.6 Zoning Board of Appeals Report, Case #2017-Z-29, 447 Sandy Lane 
 regarding a request for a 2.0’ fence height variation and a fence openness 
 variation to permit a 6.0’ tall solid fence in a side yard adjoining a street 
 (Wilmette Avenue) in accordance with the plans submitted; adoption of 
 Ordinance #2017-O-41. 
 
3.7 Zoning Board of Appeals Report, Case #2017-Z-30, 424 Lake Avenue 
 regarding a request  for a 120.95 square foot (22.4%) rear yard pavement 
 impervious surface coverage variation to permit the expansion of the 
 existing legal non-conforming driveway in accordance with the plans 
 submitted; adoption of Ordinance #2017-O-42. 
 

FINANCE COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 3.8 Approval of June 2017 Disbursement Report. 
 
 ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 3.9 Appointment of John Kann to “Housing Our Own Wilmette” Board of  
  Directors.  
 
 



7/11/17  Not yet approved 

 3 

 
  MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE CONSENT AGENDA 
   
  3.10 Presentation of minutes of the Municipal Services Committee meeting held  
   May 3, 2017. 
 
  3.11 Approval of contract in the amount of $22,215 with BioGX, Birmingham, AL 
   for the purchase of beach sample testing kits. 
 
  3.12 Approval of contract in the amount not to exceed $59,500 with Baxter &  
   Woodman, Consulting Engineers, Chicago, IL for Engineering permit review 
   and inspection services. 
   
  3.13 Approval of contract in the amount of $2,556,995.44 with Abbey Paving &  
   Sealcoating Company, Inc., Aurora, IL for the Public Works Yards   
   Improvements Project. 
 

 Trustee Plunkett seconded the motion.  Voting yes: Trustees Wolf, Plunkett, Dodd,  
  Leonard and President Bielinski.  The motion carried. 
 
4.0 REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

 
President Bielinski said staff sent out communications to the Trustees regarding 
questions for the Village to study regarding the Cook County minimum wage and 
paid sick leave ordinances as well as the ongoing stormwater study.  
 
Village Manager Timothy Frenzer thanked all the residents who attended the first 
Music on the Green concert and encouraged residents to attend the next concert 
scheduled for Tuesday, July 18, 2017. 
 
There was no report from Corporation Counsel. 
 

5.0 REPORT OF LIQUOR CONTROL COMMISSIONER: 
 
No Report 
 

6.0 STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS: 
 

6.1 LAND USE STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 
 

6.2 FINANCE STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 

 
6.3 ADMINISTRATION STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 

All items listed on the Consent Agenda 
 



7/11/17  Not yet approved 

 4 

 
 

6.4 MUNICIPAL SERVICES STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda 
 

6.5 PUBLIC SAFETY STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
No Report 
 

6.6 JUDICIARY STANDING COMMITTEE REPORT 
No Report 

 

6.7 REPORTS FROM SPECIAL COMMITTEES 
No Reports 

 

7.0       NEW BUSINESS 
 
  No Report 
 
8.0      MATTERS REFERRED TO STANDING COMMITTEES 
 
  8.1 Review text amendments to the Zoning Ordinance. 

   
8.2 Review adding group homes for private school students as a permitted or 
 special use in the residential zoning districts. 
 
8.3     Review the Sign Ordinance. 
 
8.4   Review Westlake Plaza Local Sign Ordinance regulations 

 
9.0       ADJOURNMENT 
 
 Trustee Dodd moved to adjourn the meeting at 7:43 p.m., seconded by Trustee   
 Leonard. All voted aye, the motion carried. 
 
 
 

      Barbara L. Hirsch 
      Deputy Village Clerk 
 



Approved 7/10/2017 

1 

V I L L A G E   O F   W I L M E T T E 
1200 Wilmette Avenue 

WILMETTE, ILLINOIS 60091-0040 

MEETING MINUTES 

APPEARANCE REVIEW COMMISSION 

MONDAY, JUNE 5, 2017  

7:30 P.M. 

SECOND FLOOR TRAINING ROOM 

Members Present: William Bradford, Chairman 

Nada Andric 

Daniel Elkins  

Mason Miller 

Craig Phillips 

Carrie Woleben-Meade    

Members Absent: None 

Guests: James Waite, 1618 Sheridan Road 

Dan Carpenter, 921 Oxford Lane 

Staff Present: Lucas Sivertsen, Business Development Coordinator 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman Bradford called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES; APPEARANCE REVIEW COMMISSION MEETING

OF MAY 1, 2017.

Ms. Woleben-Meade moved to approve the May 1, 2017 meeting minutes as submitted.  

The motion was seconded by Mr. Phillips.  Voting yes:  Chairman Bradford and 

Commissioners Andric, Elkins, Miller, Phillips, Woleben-Meade.  Voting no: none.  The 

motion carried. 

Agenda Item: 3.2



   Approved 7/10/2017 
  

 2 

III. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Mr. Elkins moved to grant an Appearance Review Certificate for Case 2017-AR-14, 811-

813 Ridge Road, Kerrigan Plumbing, Awning.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Phillips.  

Voting yes:  Chairman Bradford and Commissioners Andric, Elkins, Miller, Phillips, 

Woleben-Meade.  Voting no: none.  The motion carried. 

 

 

IV. CASES 

 

2017-AR-15 2716 Old Glenview Road 

Wilmette Baseball Association Appearance Review Certificate 
 

Mr. Sivertsen called Case 2017-AR-15, 2716 Old Glenview Road, Wilmette Baseball 

Association for an Appearance Review Certificate to install a new fence along the north 

and east perimeters of the property. 

 

Mr. Dan Carpenter introduced himself as the director of Roemer Park and Board member 

of the Wilmette Baseball Association.  He said the neighboring properties had fencing, 

however, there has always been some misunderstanding as to who was supposed to 

maintain the various fencing, so the park decided they would just install their own.  The 

fence would parallel fencing of neighboring properties.  They will not be removing any 

fencing, but the neighbors may decide to remove their own fence after the park installs its 

own fence. 

 

Mr. Bradford asked what style of fencing would be installed. 

 

Mr. Carpenter said they are proposing a double sided fence so that both the park and 

neighbors will have a finished look. 

 

Mr. Bradford asked if the fence would be stained. 

 

Mr. Carpenter said the fence would not be stained and would naturally weather. 

 

Mr. Phillips moved to approve Case 2017-AR-15, 2716 Old Glenview Road, for an 

Appearance Review Certificate to install a new fence as submitted.  The motion was 

seconded by Mr. Miller.  Voting yes:  Chairman Bradford and Commissioners Andric, 

Elkins, Miller, Phillips, Woleben-Meade.  Voting no: none.  The motion carried. 

 

 

2017-AR-16 1618 Sheridan Road 

1618 Sheridan Road Appearance Review Certificate 
 

Mr. Sivertsen called Case 2017-AR-16, 1618 Sheridan Road, for an Appearance Review 

Certificate to install a fence. 

 



   Approved 7/10/2017 
  

 3 

Mr. James Waite introduced himself as the President of the condominium association.  He 

said there’s no protection on top of the concrete retaining wall to prevent someone from 

falling over.  They are proposing to install a white metal fence to match the existing fence 

already install along the property line.  It will be 42 inches in height and will stop six feet 

from the sidewalk so as to not obstruct the view of motorists as they approach the sidewalk 

and street. 

 

Mr. Elkins said he doesn’t have an issue aesthetically, but if the point of the fence is to 

serve as a guardrail the spacing of the pickets should be reduced so that it is consistent with 

code requirements.  The code says a 4 inch sphere should not be able to pass through so he 

would suggest narrowing the spacing from 5 inches to 4 inches. 

 

Mr. Waite said he didn’t think it would affect the price of the fence that much. 

 

Mr. Elkins moved to approve Case 2017-AR-16, 1618 Sheridan Road, for an Appearance 

Review Certificate to install a fence on top of an existing retaining wall with the condition 

that the vertical pickets will be spaced so that nothing larger than a four inch sphere can 

pass through the opening per code.  The motion was seconded by Ms. Woleben-Meade.  

Voting yes:  Chairman Bradford and Commissioners Andric, Elkins, Miller, Phillips, 

Woleben-Meade.  Voting no: none.  The motion carried. 

 

 

V. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

There were no additional public comments. 

 

 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 

 

Mr. Sivertsen said St. Francis Xavier was currently on the July 10 Appearance Review 

Commission agenda.  The will be going to the Zoning Board on July 5. 

 

 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 

 

At 7:47 p.m., Mr. Elkins moved to adjourn the meeting.  The motion was seconded by Mr. 

Phillips.  Voting yes:  Chairman Bradford and Commissioners Andric, Elkins, Miller, 

Phillips, Woleben-Meade.  Voting no: none.  The motion carried. 

 

 



June 6, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 1 Approved July 6, 2017 

MEETING MINUTES 
PLAN COMMISSION 

TUESDAY, JUNE 6, 2017 
7:00 P.M. 

VILLAGE HALL TRAINING ROOM 

Members Present: Maria Choca Urban, Chairman 
Michael Bailey  
Homa Ghaemi  
Christine Norrick  
Steven Schwab 

Members Absent: Jeffrey Head 

Staff Present: John Adler, Director of Community Development 

I. CALL TO ORDER. 

Chairman Urban called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES; PLAN COMMISSION MEETING OF MAY 2, 2017.

Commissioner. Bailey moved to approve the minutes of the May 2, 2017 meeting.  The
motion was seconded by Commissioner Norrick.  Voting yes: Chairman Urban, Mr. Bailey,
Ms. Ghaemi, and Ms. Norrick.  Voting no: none.  The motion carried.

III. 2017-P-02    511-515 Pinecrest Lane

A request by Michael Swain for tentative plat approval of a two-lot subdivision

Commissioner Norrick moved to recommend approval of the request for tentative plat
approval of a two-lot subdivision of the property at in conformance with the plat submitted,
with the condition that the existing house be removed prior to the final plat being recorded.

Commissioner Schwab seconded the motion.

3.3
7-25-17



  
   

June 6, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 2 Approved July 6, 2017 

The vote was as follows: 
 
 Maria Choca Urban, Chairman Yes 
 Michael Bailey   Yes 
 Homa Ghaemi    Yes 
 Jeffrey Head    Absent 
 Christine Norrick   Yes 
 Steven Schwab   Yes 
        
  The motion carried.  The subject request will be on the June 27, 2017 Village Board 

agenda.  
 
  Mr. Bailey moved to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and 

recommendation for the Plan Commission for case number 2017-P-03.   
 
 Ms. Ghaemi seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes and no nays.  The 

motion carried. 
 
Case Minutes are attached.   

 
IV. NEW BUSINESS 

Mr. Adler explained that the next Plan Commission meeting will be held on Thursday, July 
6th because of the 4th of July holiday. A two lot subdivision will be heard at that meeting.  

V. PUBLIC COMMENT 

There was no public comment. 

VII. AJDOURNMENT. 

At 7:10 p.m., Commissioner Schwab moved to adjourn the meeting.  The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Norrick.  Voting yes: Chairman Urban, Mr. Bailey, Ms. 
Ghaemi, Ms. Norrick and Mr. Schwab.  Voting no: none.  The motion carried. 

The meeting was thereafter adjourned. 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
John Adler 
Director of Community Development 
 
 
 

 
 



  
   

June 6, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 3 Approved July 6, 2017 

Case Minutes 2017-P-02 – 511-515 Pinecrest Lane 
 
3.0 TESTIMONY, COMMENTS AND ARGUMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE 

APPLICANT 
 

3.1 Persons appearing for the applicant 
 
3.11 Mr. Michael Swain, 2045 Highland Avenue, Wilmette 

           
 3.2 Summary of comments 

 
3.21 Mr. Adler said the request is for tentative plat approval of a two-lot subdivision at 

511-515 Pinecrest Lane. He explained that this is a subdivision where there are 
currently two developed lots and the petitioner is looking to make the lots equal in 
width. Currently one of the lots is 50’ wide and the other is 100’ wide. The 
subdivision would make the lots both 75’ wide. The nonconforming 50’ wide lot 
would be made conforming in both lot width and area. 

 
3.22 Mr. Swain lives across the street from the lots and has been working to acquire 

them for some time. They both were rental properties. It has legally been described 
as a two lot subdivision and they are trying to deed 25’ from the wider lot to the 
narrower lot. He plans to tear down the two existing homes and build two spec 
homes. 

 
3.23 Commissioner Bailey gathered that there were a number of nonconforming lots in 

the area and the proposed subdivision will eliminate one of those nonconforming 
lots. Mr. Adler agreed. 

 
3.24 Commissioner Norrick asked if there was a pedestrian bicycle connection between 

Pinecrest Lane and Highcrest Drive. Mr. Swain said there was a cut through south 
of the subject properties that can be seen on the aerial. 
 

4.0 INTERESTED PARTIES 
 

4.1 Persons speaking on the application 
 

4.11 Donna Nye,  473 Highcrest Drive 
4.12 Mary Libby Neiman, 450 Highcrest Drive 

 
4.2 Summary of Comments 
 
4.21 Ms. Nye asked if this was the first time the property had been addressed by the Plan 

Commission. Commissioner Urban answered yes. Ms. Nye said she liked the 
petitioner’s house because it went up so quickly.  

 



  
   

June 6, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 4 Approved July 6, 2017 

4.22 Ms. Neiman said her house backs up to the larger of the two lots. She was interested 
in how long the construction would take, simply because of the noise she will be 
subjected to during construction. Mr. Swain said typically 6 months to finish a 
house. Ms. Nieman asked how many stories the house would be. Mr. Adler 
answered two and a half stories is the maximum number of stories it could be. Mr. 
Swain said the maximum height is regulated at 35’. 

 
5.0 VIEWS EXPRESSED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION 

     
 No additional discussion 
 
 6.0 DECISION   

 
6.1 Commissioner Norrick moved to recommend granting a request for tentative plat 

approval of a two-lot subdivision at 511 & 515 Pinecrest Lane in accordance with 
the plat, with the condition that the existing house be removed prior to the final plat 
being recorded. 

    
 6.11 Commissioner Schwab seconded the motion. 
 

6.12 The vote was as follows: 
 
 Maria Choca Urban, Chairman Yes 
 Michael Bailey   Yes 
 Homa Ghaemi    Yes      
 Christine Norrick   Yes 
 Steven Schwab   Yes 
 Jeffrey Head    Absent 
   
  Motion was approved.  The subject request will be on the June 27, 2017 Village 

Board agenda.  
 
 6.2 Commissioner Bailey moved to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and 

recommendation for the Plan Commission for case number 2017-P-02.   
 
 6.21 Ms. Ghaemi seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes and no nays.   
 
7.0 FINDINGS OF FACT UPON WHICH THE DECISION WAS BASED 
 

The Plan Commission finds that the proposed subdivision is consistent with the density 
and development pattern of the surrounding neighborhood.  
 
 
 
 
 



  
   

June 6, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 5 Approved July 6, 2017 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Plan Commission recommends tentative plat approval of a two-lot subdivision at 511-
515 Pinecrest Lane in accordance with the plat, with the condition that the existing house be 
removed prior to the final plat being recorded. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                                  

1 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

 
1200 WILMETTE AVENUE  

WILMETTE, ILLINOIS 60091-0040 
 

MINUTES OF THE LAND USE COMMITTEE 
TUESDAY, JULY 26, 2016 

5:30 P.M. 
SECOND FLOOR TRAINING ROOM OF VILLAGE HALL 
1200 WILMETTE AVENUE, WILMETTE, ILLINOIS 60091 

 
Members Present: Trustee Dan Sullivan, Chairman 
 Trustee Carol Ducommun 
 Trustee Ted McKenna 
Members Absent: None 
Staff Present: John Adler, AICP, Director, Community Development 
 Lisa Roberts, AICP, Assistant Director of Community Development 
Guests: Chris Canning, 1000 Skokie Boulevard 
 
I. Call to Order. 
 
Chairman Sullivan called the meeting to order at 5:35 p.m. 
 
II. Approval of Minutes. 

 
Trustee McKenna moved to approve the minutes of the April 14, 2016 Land Use Committee 
meeting.  The motion was seconded by Trustee Ducommun.  Voting yes: Chairman Sullivan, 
Trustee Ducommun, and Trustee McKenna.  Voting no: none.  The motion carried.  

 
 III. Review of Electrical Licensing Program and Code Amendments 

 
Mr. Adler said the Village has been licensing electricians for a long time but haven’t been testing 
them since the full-time electrical inspector retired in 2005.  Since then, a combination inspector 
has been doing building and electrical inspections.  For some time, the staff has been discussing 
whether to abandon the licensing program or re-test the current license holders and open it up to 
new individuals.  The code has changed enough that re-testing is probably warranted if the licenses 
will continue.  The Village has a new plan reviewer who was an electrical contractor before he 
became a certified building code official.  With his help, we feel we are in a position to offer a new 
test and expand licensing to new contractors. 
 
There are not that many communities that test and issue licenses any more.  Staff’s 
recommendation is to make amendments to the Village code to allow testing of current license 
holders and to offer testing and new licenses.  This proposal is at least budget neutral as we expect 
it will be done using existing staff time. 
 

3.4 
7-25-17 



                                  

2 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

Chairman Sullivan asked if the proposed test shown in the packet is the same test from when the 
Village was actively testing. 
 
Mr. Adler said the older test was probably a little bit easier.  The new draft test is probably more 
comprehensive but a fair test.  The goal is not to make it so hard people can’t pass it.  The plan 
reviewer wants to know, if they do pass, that he feels comfortable that when the contractors do 
work, it is going to be conforming. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if the license implied any level of quality and if the Village’s liability 
and/or reputation are on the line. 
 
Mr. Adler said other towns recognize the license, many other communities allow contractors to 
use a Wilmette license and it’s been 10 years at least since those individuals have been tested. This 
will give us a level of confidence that those who are issued a Wilmette license are at least as 
qualified as they have been in the past, perhaps even more so than from other communities that 
test.  Some communities have also been re-issuing licenses without testing, as Wilmette has been 
doing. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if any community has tried to come back at Wilmette because of 
problems with a contractor holding a Wilmette license. 
 
Mr. Adler said the Village has not had that problem.  Neither has the Village had a major problem 
with a contractor licensed from another community.  If you are able to pass the test and continue 
to work, you are probably up to speed on code requirements.  Many current Wilmette license 
holders haven’t done work in Wilmette in years.  If one of these contractors came in now, we’d 
likely be more concerned about their work than someone who does four or five jobs a year and has 
demonstrated to the inspector they know the code, or have had their work corrected. 
 
Trustee Ducommun clarified that Wilmette accepts electrical licenses issued by other 
communities. Mr. Adler said yes.  There hasn’t been a problem with licenses from any particular 
community.   
 
Trustee Ducommun asked what the plan is regarding requiring the electricians to provide a 
certificate of insurance. Ms. Roberts said that it is not proposed to be a requirement but can be 
added.  Some communities have this as a requirement. 
 
Mr. Adler said an argument could be made for requiring a certificate of insurance.  We don’t 
require this for other contractors but then the contractor license is somewhat different than the 
electrical license.  If the Committee supports the idea of the licensing, the staff can review with 
corporation counsel Mike Zimmermann about an insurance requirement and also how to address 
any liability concerns. 
 
Chairman Sullivan asked how to monitor people doing electrical work who are not licensed. Mr. 
Adler said if we find someone doing electrical work and they’re not licensed and they’re not the 
owner, they need to stop working.  This hasn’t been a huge issue.  It comes up more often with 
plumbers, that someone is doing work improperly under someone else’s license without 
supervision.  It’s probably more difficult to obtain a state plumbing license than a local electrician’s 
license.  To be a plumber, the State requires a number of years of work under the supervision of a 
licensed plumber.  



                                  

3 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

 
Chairman Sullivan asked if there was a big administrative burden with offering the testing and 
licensing. Mr. Adler said no.  It comes down to administering the test.  We’re already issuing the 
licenses each year.  With this new testing, we will be collecting a fee for the license regardless of 
whether the individual is also obtaining a Wilmette contractor’s license.  We’re not losing money 
now because it’s not that difficult to simply issue a license.  For those who don’t do work in the 
Village, we issue the renewed license without a fee, which doesn’t make a lot of sense because it 
has value; they are using it to do work in other communities. 
 
Chairman Sullivan asked what the cost will be to the person taking the test.  Will it be minimal? 
Mr. Adler said yes, it will be tested during the work day. 
 
Chairman Sullivan said the memo referenced sending the tests outside for grading. Ms. Roberts 
said that the plan reviewer has created a different test than what is shown in the packet; he has an 
answer key for this.  The staff had talked about having someone, probably SAFEbuilt, do the actual 
grading of the test to avoid any concerns by applicants that they didn’t pass the test because the 
inspector or whoever doesn’t like them.  The cost from SAFEbuilt to do this would probably be 
small. 
 
Mr. Adler said the cost for taking the test and for the license will far exceed whatever SAFEbuilt 
might charge to do this.  SAFEbuilt would be given the answer key and simply check each test. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked why this issue was in front of the Land Use Committee. Mr. Adler said 
the committee has looked at building code issues recently.  There is an Electrical Commission but 
they haven’t met in a while.  We’re confident that they will support this.  Given that this is basically 
a new program to be offered, it made sense to get input from the Village Board. 
 
Trustee McKenna said from his research, this looks to be a tough test.  Half of it is not applicable 
to residential; it includes commercial work as well.  The committee should be aware of this. 
 
Mr. Adler said that if there is feedback that the test is way too difficult, the test can be reconsidered.  
SAFEbuilt and the plan reviewer thought this was reasonable.  It’s not like an electrician has to 
pass this test to work in Wilmette; the Village will still accept licenses from other communities.  
What the Village is says is, if you have a Wilmette license, we’re confident you know what you’re 
doing since you passed this test. 
 
Trustee Ducommun said she thought Trustee McKenna was saying that it may be difficult for 
current license holders to pass this test if they don’t regularly do commercial work, for example. 
 
Trustee McKenna said he would expect the larger companies to have Chicago licenses.  It’s going 
to be the smaller companies seeking a Wilmette license. 
 
Mr. Adler said the Wilmette license allows people to do both residential and commercial work so 
it would be difficult to only test on the residential.  There are a few other places they can test if 
they have concerns about Wilmette’s test.  If the test is oriented towards residential and an 
electrician decided to take a commercial project, we don’t have any representation of their work.  
If they are using the Wilmette license elsewhere, it would be beneficial for other communities to 
be sure they can do both residential and commercial work.   
 



                                  

4 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

Trustee McKenna asked if this proposal is going to the Electrical Commission.  If so, he would 
suggest getting their input regarding residential versus commercial testing. 
 
Ms. Roberts said that some communities have separate licenses for residential and for commercial.  
This is something that could be discussed with the plan reviewer as well as the Electrical 
Commission.  She said the test in the committee packet was created by SAFEbuilt and that the 
plan reviewer has created a new test that might be more manageable. 
 
Mr. Adler said the plan reviewer has been reasonable and it is not expected that every electrician 
is going to be an expert on everything.  Seeking feedback on the test is a reasonable. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked how many electrical contractors who do work in Wilmette have a 
Wilmette license.  Is it 50% of everyone in business or less or more? Mr. Adler said the staff isn’t 
sure.  There are about 60 Wilmette electrical license holders.   
 
Ms. Roberts said she would expect about 80% of those doing work in Wilmette have a license 
from somewhere else. 
 
Trustee McKenna clarified that the Village asks all electricians to provide their electrical license 
from another community.  He clarified that the proposed test is given to the supervisor and not all 
workers.  He asked if the staff knows where the majority of electricians working in Wilmette have 
their license. 
 
Mr. Adler said we issue 60 licenses.  We don’t know how many electricians are using that license 
in Wilmette.   
 
Trustee McKenna asked if when the Village is sending the renewed licenses out, is proof of another 
license required. Mr. Adler said no, no other license needs to be provided.  If they are being issued 
a Wilmette electrical license each year, they passed the test in the past.  The Village has not been 
re-testing. 
 
Trustee McKenna clarified that every electrician working under a permit has a license. Mr. Adler 
said that was correct, either a license issued by Wilmette or one from another community. 
 
Trustee Ducommun said that Wilmette electrician’s licenses have not been given to new 
contractors in over ten years. Mr. Adler said that was correct. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked if an electrician is given a Wilmette electrical license for having a license 
from another community. Mr. Adler said no, such individuals are not issued a Wilmette electrical 
license. 
 
Chairman Sullivan said the Village hasn’t issued a new electrical license in years. Mr. Adler said 
that was correct.  Some people have dropped off the list by not seeking a new license each year.  
Others request a new license each year whether they are doing work in Wilmette or not.  As long 
as Wilmette’s license continues to be accepted in other communities, individuals will keep 
renewing their Wilmette license.  Liability hasn’t been an issue but if he was asked if he was 
confident that everyone holding a Wilmette license is up to date, he could not say for certain that 
is the case. 
 



                                  

5 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

Trustee Ducommun moved to send the proposal to the Electrical Commission for review and 
recommendation to the Village Board. Trustee McKenna seconded and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
IV.  Review of Demolition and New Construction Definition Amendments 
 
Ms. Roberts said in 2007, the definition of demolition and new construction was amended with a 
50% provision.  The problem continues to be with how to define that 50%.  The current proposal 
is a way to calculate the area of the structure from a staff memo prepared by Highland Park.  The 
calculation weighs the different parts of the structure: the roof, the foundation, the exterior walls, 
and the interior walls.  It’s not really changing the 50% qualification; it is clarifying how to apply 
it.  There have been a number of projects that have either started out as additions and remodeling 
that expanded in scope during construction or that were proposed for permit with such extensive 
work that they are practically new homes.  When the work rises to the level of a new home, existing 
non-conformities under the zoning ordinance need to be addressed, where they were not an issue 
for an addition/remodel.  A few projects have had to go to the Zoning Board for relief.  There are 
incentives for applicants to not have the project be considered a new home, with property taxes, 
the fire sprinkling requirement, and the zoning issues.  The proposal attempts to be as clear as 
possible about drawing the line in these cases.  For most of these types of projects, the architect 
prepares a demolition plan so it shouldn’t be too much more work to measure what’s being 
removed.  It is not proposed that everyone do this paperwork, only those projects where there is 
some question about the extent of the project scope.  If an applicant wants to modify their plans to 
try to fall under 50%, they have some idea of where to make changes.  This calculation from 
Highland Park seems to be the only tool out there to quantify demolition. 
 
Trustee Ducommun said the memo referenced that the Village Code and the Zoning Ordinance do 
not have the same language and that it will be proposed to make them consistent. Ms. Roberts said 
this was a point the staff wanted to raise with the Committee.  The language in the Village Code, 
50% of the structure, is not the same as 50% of the replacement value, as is written in the Zoning 
Ordinance.  There was one case where the architect was able to provide a statement that the value 
was less than 50% but the area of the structure was pretty clearly more than 50%. 
 
Trustee Ducommun said the value test is also more easily manipulated.  She asked if the intention 
was then to use the same proposed language in the Zoning Ordinance. Mr. Adler said more likely 
that section of the Zoning Ordinance would simply refer to the Village Code.  He discussed the 
case of 1819 Wilmette where zoning relief was necessary because the replacement value was over 
50% but the area of the structure being removed was less than 50%.  The applicant was strongly 
encouraged to seek the zoning relief before starting construction so that any increase in the scope 
during construction, such as the replacement of damaged studs, would not delay them at that time. 
 
Trustee Ducommun clarified what the staff recommendation is. Mr. Adler said yes, the idea was 
to have the Village Code and Zoning Ordinance definitions be the same.  If the Committee agrees 
to that idea, the next step would be to request referral to a Special Zoning Committee to amend the 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 
Trustee McKenna said he supports taking the next step of also amending the Zoning Ordinance.  
The floor area is completely appropriate for both zoning and building.  The measurement is 
consistent with the code and trying to rehabilitate older homes.  Addressing the removal of roofs 
and floors is more compelling than the valuation. 



                                  

6 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

 
Mr. Adler said trying to determine the replacement value of old construction can be problematic, 
as was the case with the type of construction and materials that were used in the Women’s Club.  
In that case, they demonstrated that the work to be done was about 47% of the replacement value.  
The walls, foundation, and floors would be millions of dollars to replace. 
 
Trustee Ducommun moved that a referral to the Land Use Committee be recommended for the 
associated amendment to the Zoning Ordinance.  Trustee McKenna seconded and the motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
V. Review of Swimming Pool and Spa Amendments 
 
Ms. Roberts said that this issue has not been a problem but one the staff thought should be brought 
up to the Committee.  A couple times a year, the Village gets a request to do an infinity pool with 
an edge that drops off.  They have been allowed provided that the 4’ walk is included around the 
lower portion of the pool through the walkway at the lower level doesn’t meet the intent of the 
code, which is to have a way to access someone in the pool all the way around.  The proposal is 
based on what some other communities allow, which is that a certain percentage of the pool 
perimeter would not be required to have the walk provided there is a handhold.  If someone is in 
trouble in the pool, there is an alternative way to secure themselves. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if it was an industry standard to have a walkway or a handhold. 
 
Ms. Roberts said that the walkway seems to be a common requirement. 
 
Mr. Adler said staff has been told by a pool company that infinity edge pools have been installed 
in Winnetka, so somehow other communities are getting around the requirement.  Perhaps they 
are not enforcing it or perhaps they are allowing it like we did through an appeal process.  The 
Village received a request for a lakefront home with a pool in the basement.  Their request went 
to the Building Code Board of Appeals and they came up with a compromise that is similar to 
what is being proposed to the Committee.  The applicant was allowed to do it.  In that case, it really 
wasn’t a life safety issue.  The pool in that case wasn’t unduly wide. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if pool owners are required to have things like life rings that can be 
thrown into the water. Ms. Roberts said that is not required in the Village Code.  The Village has 
not adopted the ICC pool code either but it’s possible something like that might be in there. 
 
Mr. Adler said in the next six months, the staff will be reviewing and proposing adoption of the 
2015 ICC codes.  The staff could look at some of the other codes that the Village hasn’t used.  
When the Committee recently talked about adopting the 2006 Property Maintenance Code, there 
was discussion about adopting the 2015 ICC codes.  The swimming pool code is a part of these 
codes.  There is probably a reason the pool code hasn’t been adopted before, perhaps so the Village 
can be more flexible, but that’s something staff would have to look into.  It hasn’t been a problem. 
 
Chairman Sullivan asked how many requests come in for infinity pools.  Why not just send all 
requests to the Board of Appeals?  It seems like the one request went through a good process and 
had a good outcome. Ms. Roberts said it is maybe two or three requests a year, if that. 
 



                                  

7 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

Mr. Adler said the Committee could recommend having the Building Code Board of Appeals 
review this proposal.  The proposal is similar to what they came with on their own for the one 
appeals case so it’s possible that they will agree with it.  But if they don’t feel it’s necessary, they 
can recommend against it.  If we get one or two of these requests a year, the Board of Appeals is 
likely to not want to meet when it could be addressed by an amended code.  
 
Trustee McKenna said he supports having the Board of Appeals take a look at it.  He was 
concerned that each situation might be unique with other considerations they’re not aware of.  The 
Fire Department might also have an opinion regarding the amendment. 
 
Mr. Adler said that’s another idea.  The Zoning Ordinance provides requirements for solar panels 
but certain requests for relief go to the Fire Chief.  He can authorize relief or some other 
modification.  Maybe something like that could be done with pools. 
 
Trustee McKenna said what is being proposed has been effective in other homes and even hotels. 
 
Mr. Adler said there may be some people who want less walk than is proposed here and they will 
still need to go to the Board of Appeals.  This proposal is an attempt at something most people can 
comply with.  The staff has used a work around and that can continue to be done, but that may not 
be the best way to deal with infinity pools. 
 
Chairman Sullivan asked if anyone in the audience wanted to comment on pools. 
 
Mr. Chris Canning described a recent situation where a resident sought to install a pool in a 
conforming location in their backyard.  A neighbor objected to the location and the pool was 
moved.  The pool equipment was in a non-conforming location, non-conforming by inches, and 
the neighbor on that side did not have any objection to that setback.  Mr. Canning then asked staff 
if the pool equipment setback could be handled administratively.  Air conditioners were made 
administrative and generators were made administrative, but upon the staff doing research, it 
seemed that relief for pool equipment doesn’t qualify for that process.  If they put the equipment 
in a conforming location, they would have upset the neighbor who was initially unhappy with the 
pool location.  And if they had to go through the full ZBA process, they wouldn’t have had their 
pool equipment for the summer swimming season.  It’s not a request before the committee tonight 
but could the committee review this as an administrative process.  His understanding from the 
installer in this case is the other communities handle this type of thing administratively. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked how big the equipment is.  Mr. Canning said it will fit in a shed. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked how tall.  Six feet?  Five feet? Mr. Canning said maybe larger than the 
size of the table in the meeting room. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked if there was any sound consideration. Mr. Canning said if you put it in a 
shed, that will dampen the sound.  It’s probably similar to an air conditioner or generator.  He said 
he hears his neighbor’s air conditioner much more than he hears their pool equipment though the 
air conditioner is right under his bedroom window. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked what the next step was. Mr. Adler said the committee could direct staff 
to put in a request for referral to a Special Zoning Committee, like was discussed with the zoning 
definition of new construction.  There are several other small items as well. 



                                  

8 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

 
Trustee Ducommun moved to send the swimming pool and spa amendment to the Building Code 
Board of Appeals for review.  Trustee McKenna seconded and the motion carried unanimously. 
 
Chairman Sullivan said the second item regarding relief for pool equipment does not require a 
motion.  That item will be included in a request to the Village Board for referral to a Special Zoning 
Committee along with the demolition definition and other zoning ordinance items. 
 
VI. Review of Permit Extension Fee 
 
Mr. Adler said the permit extension fee has been in place for eight or nine years.  The staff has 
been able to manage it but the main issue is with people who get a one-year permit and then run 
over three, four, five weeks.  The staff has basically held fast that if the work isn’t completed, if 
there is no conditional certificate of occupancy, the applicant needs to pay the extension fee.  The 
way the ordinance is written, when a permit is issue, one chooses either a 12-month or an 18-month 
permit.  If the permit exceeds 12 months, an extension equal to another 12 months must be paid.  
Early on, it was reviewed with the Village Manager and the village attorney, and the decision was 
made, since an 18-month permit is an option, to allow for a six month extension, so it’s the same 
effect as if someone has intended an 18-month permit from the start.  Some recent cases where the 
12-month permit is a fairly large fee, and so a six-month extension can be fairly significant.  At 
this point, they have to pay six months, potentially thousands of dollars for going over by a couple 
of weeks.  The staff is suggesting we look at the ability to extend permits prorated by month.  We’ll 
have to discuss with the village attorney how to address projects already under construction.  He 
mentioned a couple of examples.   
 
Trustee McKenna suggested that the solution be whatever is least burdensome on applicants. 
 
Mr. Adler said there’s a second part that’s not included in the memo but something the staff is 
starting to look into.  One very expensive home that is currently under construction, one of several 
in recent years, has a 12-month permit fee of $224,000.  If it takes three years to construct, they 
will be charged over $600,000 in permit fees.  The most we’ve collected so far for a single-family 
home is $350,000 and that had to be carefully managed. This may or may not be an issue in the 
future.  There are other homes under construction, one with a construction value of $10 million, 
where the extension fee is going to be expensive. 
 
Chairman Sullivan asked if a $10 million home applies for just a one-year permit. Mr. Adler said 
in this case, the applicant chose a 12-month permit because they know they will need to extend the 
permit at some point and why pay the Village for 18 months when you will be paying more later.  
When the 18-month permit option was created, the applicant had the choice of paying for a 12-
month or an 18-month permit up front, but it you pay for 18 months and only take 16 months, you 
don’t get money back.  There might be a way to say for a house that’s $10 million dollars and will 
take two and a half to three years to construct, if you’re willing to pay us two or two and half years 
up front, that permit is good for three to four years.  These homes don’t get done in a year or a year 
and a half, and no one expects them to get done in that time.  Arguably this change will have an 
impact on the revenue that is being generated but that’s not a reason make a decision. 
 
Trustee Ducommun said the original intention of the extension fee was to keep the project moving 
and not disadvantage the neighbors. 
 



                                  

9 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

Mr. Adler said one lakefront home took three years; most others have taken more like two-and-a-
half years.  One of the ideas was to charge at two-and-a-half years and allow that to be good for 
three or four years or however long it needs to go, paid all up front.  It’s still a lot of money.  In 
the case of a $10 million home, they pay $500,000 up front, instead of $600,000 or more if the 
project takes three or four years.  If the baseline is two years, they might pay $450,000 for two 
years but they’re not paying more to go three or four years. 
 
Mr. Canning said he has a lakefront client who is impacted on by this.  His client is looking for 
cost certainty as well as cost containment.  This project will probably be two-and-a half to three 
years.  The architect is familiar with having to pay extensions.  Mr. Canning and Mr. Adler have 
been discussing the proration concept described in the memo as well as the lump-sum-up-front-
for-a-longer-period-of-time concept.  They wanted to get the idea before the Committee. 
 
Chairman Sullivan said a $10 million house that takes two-and-a-half to three years, that seems 
reasonable.  How do you tell someone with a $1 million house they only get 18 months?  He like 
the idea of a cap.  He doesn’t think we should allow applicants to take forever to build but he also 
doesn’t think we should penalize to pay $700,000 in permit fees every year. 
 
Trustee McKenna said the standard period of twelve months is arbitrary.   
 
Chairman Sullivan said banking loans for residential are limited to twelve months. 
 
Mr. Canning said the original 2007 ordinance was in response to one particular project. 
 
Mr. Adler said it was an expensive house and maybe not the perfect example for adopting the 
regulations.  Kenilworth had a situation where they were sued and ultimately, the owner and the 
village agreed to a permit amount.  That the permit fee was challenged is a caution to staff.  One 
of the differences is that projects that are over $2 and $3 million that are taking over 18 months to 
complete.  If we go with a two-year or two-and-a-half year permit, everyone would be treated the 
same to that point.  What we don’t want is someone pulling a two-and-a-half or three year permit 
for a $50,000 addition.  He mentioned one homeowner who is on his fifth or sixth year because he 
is doing the work himself on a small remodeling project.  He pays an extension fee of 100% of the 
original fee, $900 per year.  We would not want to encourage someone in this position to get a 
multiple year permit because the original point of the permit extensions was to get that person to 
finish.  There are not a lot of projects that go over 18 months that shouldn’t go over 18 months.  
He described two new homes on Crestview where they put in TJIs without getting approval.  
Ultimately it was their own fault but now they are paying for sprinklers as well as $8,000 for each 
home.  At this point, proration would be fairer to them.  Those projects should have been completed 
within a year. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked if Mr. Adler thought the proration still works as an incentive to finish. 
Mr. Adler said in the case of Crestview, they’ve paid a 6 month extension.  But if the houses aren’t 
sold, they don’t have any incentive to get them finished and get the certificate of occupancy.  If 
we are able instead to say, you’re going to pay $1,300 or $1,400 a month, there’s an incentive to 
get done.  It’s fair and easier to justify.  Staff isn’t yet sure what the answer is for two- and three-
year projects, but if the Committee is open to looking at that, the staff can think more about it.  
Regarding monthly extensions, if the Committee agrees with the idea, the staff will present some 
language regarding paying 1/12 of the original permit fee to extend.  At that point, we don’t need 
to even offer an 18-month permit. 



                                  

10 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

 
Trustee Ducommun asked if there was threshold for example of so much square feet over which a 
project is allowed to roll past the 18 months. Mr. Adler said he was thinking by valuation.  Staff 
can review with the plan reviewer and also see how many projects went over 18 months and over 
2 years, to see if there is something that can be defined, like a construction value.  Permit fees are 
already tied to the construction value. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked if there were any outside recommendations on this. Mr. Canning said he 
has been talking to Mr. Adler based on the situation with a different client.  There are maybe four 
homes that Mr. Adler thought would be starting soon that are in the three to four year construction 
range.  So it is something of a pressing issue. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if Mr. Canning was representing some of those owners. Mr. Canning 
said only one. 
 
Mr. Adler said it is pressing to those who want to know the number.  For the $10 million home 
that has already paid $224,000, if we figure it out in the next 6 months and tell them, pay a second 
$224,000 extension and that’s it, it’s not necessarily pressing for them.  It is perhaps pressing for 
someone just starting construction who wants to know what the total fees will be.  For those already 
under way, they’ve probably already resigned themselves to pay whatever fees are required.  The 
homeowners may not be completely aware of the permit fees or that they need to be paid each 
year. 
 
Trustee McKenna asked what the permit fee was for 611 Green Bay Road. Mr. Adler said that was 
$418,000.  The difference is, that’s a mixed use project that is not subject to the 12-month limit.  
It’s only residential projects that require extension fees, because of the impact on residential 
neighbors.  Houses of worship, such as the Chai Center and the Baha’i House of Worship, did not 
have to pay extension fees. 
 
Trustee McKenna said arguably the Baha’i House of Worship project was more disruptive than 
the five year home construction project that led to the ordinance originally. Mr. Adler said the staff 
could look at extension fees of non-residential projects in residential districts.  
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if Imperial Motors will be subject to an extension. Mr. Adler said they 
would probably finish within a year, but if they went past a year, they would not have to pay an 
extension.  He clarified that the ordinance says “residential structure” for extensions.  Mather is 
considered a residential structure so they will pay an extension fee. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if it was intentional to only apply to residential construction. Mr. Adler 
said it was.  He was not at the Village for those discussions but perhaps it was seen as a way to not 
discourage redevelopment.  The developers of 611 Green Bay Road had been surprised at their 
permit fee.  If they were told they would have to pay another $400,000 if the project ran over even 
just one day, that could be seen as a disincentive. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked what the permit fee might have been for the same project in Evanston, 
for example. Mr. Adler said it would have been a less would be his guess.  Wilmette is more in 
line with Kenilworth, Winnetka, and Glencoe in the fees that are charged.  Wilmette isn’t the 
highest but the extension fees put the Village up there because not a lot of communities charge this 
kind of fee. 



                                  

11 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

 
Trustee Ducommun said there are two things: the first is to prorate between 12 and 18 months.  
Second, when do we supersede the 18 months based on value.  Mr. Adler said staff can work with 
corporation counsel on drafting an ordinance that allows the proration of permit fees above one 
year.   
 
Trustee Ducommun suggested this be up to but no more than 18 months. Mr. Adler said at that 
point, he didn’t think it mattered; there will still be an incentive to finish.  Regarding the second 
issue, if the Committee supported the idea, you could ask staff to investigate the larger projects of 
greater construction value, to try to tailor something more appropriate to the typical length of those 
projects. 
 
Trustee McKenna said the construction companies doing those projects have a construction 
schedule that they want to stick to.  They’re very much like commercial construction projects. Mr. 
Adler said he agreed and said the problem is often the number of change orders. 
 
Chairman Sullivan said with the proration, there’s no need to keep an 18-month option.  The permit 
is issued for 12 months and if it goes longer, they pay for each additional month. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if a project could be three-and-a-half years and it would still just keep 
prorating. Mr. Adler said yes. 
 
Ms. Roberts said one challenge will be for the projects that don’t require a certificate of occupancy. 
Mr. Adler said they will have to look at that.  Getting someone to come in each month to pay the 
extension fee might be a challenge.  We will have to make sure to communicate what the fees are 
going forward if they are about to go over and that no final inspections until the fees are paid. 
 
Chairman Sullivan asked the Committee members about having the staff do more research 
regarding extension fee proration and large construction project fees and timing. There was 
consensus to look at both issues. 
 
Mr. Adler said staff is ready to work with corporation counsel on language regarding a monthly 
proration. 
 
Trustee Ducommun moved to recommend that staff work with the Village attorney to develop an 
ordinance regarding monthly proration of building permit fees.  Trustee McKenna seconded and 
the motion carried unanimously. 
 
The staff has also been directed to research large construction projects, but no motion was 
necessary regarding this item. 
 
VII. Other Business. 

  
 Mr. Adler said there has been an issue with attendance at Zoning Board meetings and consequently 

applications are receiving negative recommendations.  With a negative recommendation, most 
applicants wait to have a full Village Board to hear their request because a supermajority is necessary 
to overturn a negative recommendation.  Unless the Committee has a concern, the staff plans to 
include in the Special Zoning Committee referral looking at the supermajority, perhaps allowing a 



                                  

12 
July 26, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

majority rather than a supermajority to overturn.  Or maybe it’s looking at how votes are done at the 
Zoning Board level. 

 
 Trustee Ducommun said she didn’t like the gamesmanship that is played when applicants decide to 

request a table based on what board members are in attendance or not. 
 
 Chairman Sullivan said the Zoning Board needs a couple of alternate members. 
 
 Trustee Ducommun said she thought that might be a better solution. 
 
 Mr. Adler asked if the Committee was okay with the item being looked at. 
 
 Trustee Ducommun said she was not.  She likes the requirement for a supermajority to overturn a 

negative recommendation from the Zoning Board. 
 
 Trustee McKenna said he is okay with the issue being looked at because there seem to be some 

unintended consequences.  The Zoning Board rightly should deny things that are plainly acceptable 
from a policy perspective but their interpretation is going to be such that they need to provide a 
negative recommendation.  You hate to see those applicants get delayed. 

 
 Chairman Sullivan said most of those applicants have taken another look and revised their plans. 
 
 Trustee Ducommun said they gotten some discipline around revising plans with a positive impact on 

improving plans.  If you study something, you may feel obligated to change it. 
 

Chairman Sullivan said he’d like to see ways to improve attendance at the Zoning Board. 
 

VIII. Public Comment. 
 
 There was no public comment. 
 

IX. Adjournment 
 

At 6:49 p.m., Trustee Ducommun moved to adjourn the meeting, Trustee McKenna seconded the 
motion and the motion carried unanimously.  The meeting was thereafter adjourned.  
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Lisa Roberts, Assistant Director 
Community Development 



                                  

1 
December 12, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

 
1200 WILMETTE AVENUE  

WILMETTE, ILLINOIS 60091-0040 
 

MINUTES OF THE LAND USE COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, DECEMBER 12, 2016 

7:30 P.M. 
FIRST FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM OF VILLAGE HALL 
1200 WILMETTE AVENUE, WILMETTE, ILLINOIS 60091 

 
Members Present: Trustee Dan Sullivan, Chairman 
 Trustee Carol Ducommun 
 Trustee Ted McKenna 
Members Absent: None 
Staff Present: John Adler, AICP, Director, Community Development 
Guests: Joe Rodriguez, 430 Pine Manor Drive 
 
I. Call to Order. 
 
Chairman Sullivan called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
II. Approval of Minutes. 

 
There were no minutes to approve. 

 
 III. Review potential settlement for Construction Work Completed in Violation of Issued 

Building Permit 
 

Mr. Adler said the Village Board first heard this request on November 28, 2016.  It’s a variation 
request to allow a detached garage approximately 2’ larger in width and a parking pad that was 
installed without a permit, to allow those to remain.  The Village Board voted unanimously for 
approval of the variations conditioned upon the removal of the curb cut that remains in the parkway 
and that the question of the a fine would be sent to the Land Use Committee who would make a 
recommendation to Corporation Counsel.  That’s what the Committee is asked to do at this 
meeting. 
 
Trustee Ducommun said the impact of the additional width resulted in a floor area variance. Mr. 
Adler agreed and said the increased garage depth also resulted in the garage being located partly 
in the buildable area.  When located entirely in the rear yard, the side yard setback to the garage is 
3’ but now 5’ is required and only 3’ was provided.  He said that in addition to the floor area and 
garage setback variations a parking space setback variation and rear yard coverage variations were 
also necessary. Two other properties on the same block were granted variations for similar sized 
garages. 
 

3.5 
7-25-17 



2 
December 12, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

Trustee Ducommun said the parking pad was not setback far enough or not deep enough. Mr. Adler 
said that was correct.  If it had been any longer, it would have further impacted the rear yard 
coverage. 

Chairman Sullivan said approval was conditioned on the removal of the curb cut and apron. Mr. 
Adler said that was correct and that the ordinance approving the request is up for adoption at the 
Village Board the following night, December 13, 2016.  He said if the Committee agrees, a 
recommendation can be made for consideration at that meeting. 

Chairman Sullivan asked if the Committee reached an agreement at this meeting, could the issue 
be resolved entirely at the Village Board meeting the next night. Mr. Adler said yes, if Mr. 
Rodriguez would agree to the fine to be decided at the Committee meeting, the staff would talk to 
Corporation Counsel to make sure he’s in agreement.  Corporation Counsel had previously told 
Mr. Adler that as long as the Committee and Mr. Rodriguez were in agreement, he would be 
satisfied. 

Trustee McKenna said he thinks the approval condition of removing the curb cut and apron has 
value.  He asked Mr. Rodriguez if he had an estimate of how much it will cost to remove the curb 
cut and restore the parkway. Mr. Rodriguez said it would be about $4,500. Trustee McKenna said 
he thinks that sounds a bit high. Mr. Rodriguez said he got a verbal quote for the work.  There will 
also need to be repair of the asphalt in the street when they remove the curb. Trustee McKenna 
said that wasn’t part of the plans so the village is getting that value.   

Mr. Rodriguez asked Mr. Adler if removal and restoration of the parkway was a part of every such 
permit and if the staff would ask the architect or engineer on a project to add that if it wasn’t shown 
on the plans. Mr. Adler said it wasn’t in writing on Mr. Rodriguez’s permit.  That’s why the Village 
Board made it a condition.  So even though it wasn’t a requirement of the permit, it is now required 
for approval of the ordinance. 

Trustee McKenna said that he’s seen left over curb cuts. Mr. Adler agreed and said sometimes the 
driveway doesn’t need to be abandoned. 

Mr. Rodriguez asked when he would know what to do on future projects. Mr. Adler said the 
Engineering Department would make that determination and would put that on the permit or 
somehow let Mr. Rodriguez know.  If Mr. Rodriguez has a situation like this again, he should plan 
on removing the curb cut and restoring the parkway. Mr. Rodriquez asked if he would need a 
separate permit for that. Mr. Adler said he would have to ask the Engineering Department how 
they would want to handle it. 

Trustee McKenna asked if there would be additional permit fees and if so, that should be 
considered. Mr. Adler said the changes to the plan might result in an additional $500 in permit 
fees.   

Trustee Ducommun said Trustee McKenna was figuring that Mr. Rodriguez would be out $5,000, 
$4,500 for the curb cut restoration and $500 in additional permit fees, and that should be part of 
the Committee’s consideration. Trustee McKenna said that was his point. Mr. Rodriguez said he 
had no problem with that. 



                                  

3 
December 12, 2016 Land Use Committee Minutes Approved July 10, 2017 

Trustee McKenna said the goal should be to make the Village whole.  He said he’d like to see any 
effort go towards improving that block; that’s why taking out the curb cut is beneficial.  He said if 
the Committee thought the costs were still too low, he might suggest Mr. Rodriguez pay for a 
parkway tree. Mr. Rodriguez said he wouldn’t have a problem with that. 
 
Trustee Ducommun asked if there needed to be something to discourage people from doing this in 
the future. Trustee McKenna said going through this and paying these additional fees is 
discouraging. 
 
Chairman Sullivan said that was his question too.  He mentioned the case of Leamington where he 
received feedback from others that the situation was egregious and the fine was a bit light. Trustee 
McKenna said the Leamington case was different in that a new second floor was built without 
permission. 

 
Mr. Adler said he wanted to comment on Mr. Rodriguez’s earlier question of if Engineering 
intended for this to be repaired.  He would want to check with Engineering that the restoration was 
their intention.  If that’s something they typically require, then the Committee might want to look 
at it a little differently.  Trustee McKenna felt comfortable with requiring the parkway restoration, 
additional permit fee and new parkway tree. 
 
Trustee McKenna moved that the Land Use Committee recommend to Corporation Counsel that 
Mr. Rodriguez be required to remove the existing curb cut on Wilmette Avenue and restore the 
parkway, pay for a parkway tree to be planted and pay the increased permit fee with surcharge. 
Trustee Ducommun second the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
IV. New Business. 

  
Chairman Sullivan raised the idea of having alternates for the Zoning Board because of the difficulty 
of getting all members present. Mr. Adler said that staff would discuss this with the Village Attorney 
and depending on his advice, bring the idea of adding alternatives to the ZBA back to the LUC for 
further discussion. 

 
V. Public Comment. 

 
 There was no public comment. 
 

VI. Adjournment 
 

At 8:26 p.m., Trustee Ducommun moved to adjourn the meeting, Trustee McKenna seconded the 
motion and the motion carried unanimously.  The meeting was thereafter adjourned.  
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
John Adler, Director 
Lisa Roberts, Assistant Director 
Community Development 



June 21, 2017 Zoning Board of Appeals Approved July 19, 2017 
1 

1200 Wilmette Avenue 
Wilmette, Illinois 60091-0040 

MEETING MINUTES 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 21, 2017 

7:30 P.M. 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

Members Present: Acting Chairman Bob Surman 
Mike Boyer  
John Kolleng  
Michael Robke  
Reinhard Schneider 

Members Absent: Chairman Patrick Duffy 
Christopher Tritsis 

Staff Present: Lisa Roberts, Assistant Director of Community Development 

I. Call to Order 

Chairman Surman called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 

II. 2017-Z-29 447 Sandy Lane 

See the complete case minutes attached to this document. 

III. 2017-Z-30 424 Lake Avenue 

See the complete case minutes attached to this document. 

3.6 
7-25-17 



June 21, 2017 Zoning Board of Appeals  Approved July 19, 2017 
2 

 

IV. 2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road  
 

See the complete case minutes attached to this document. 
 

V. 2017-Z-27 824 Laramie Avenue  
 

See the complete case minutes attached to this document. 
 

VI. Approval of the May 17, 2017 Meeting Minutes 
 

Mr. Schneider moved to approve the May 17, 2017 meeting minutes. 
 
Mr. Kolleng seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes and no nays.  Motion 
carried. 

 
VII. Public Comment 
 
 There was no public comment. 
 
VIII. Adjournment 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:12 p.m. 
 
 
 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 Lisa Roberts 
 Assistant Director of Community Development 
 
 



2017-Z-29 447 Sandy Lane June 21, 2017 

1 
 

3.0 TESTIMONY, COMMENTS AND ARGUMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE 
APPLICANT 
 
3.1 Persons appearing for the applicant 
 
 3.11 Mr. Paul DeCaen, applicant 
  447 Sandy Lane 
 
3.2 Summary of presentations 
 
3.21 Ms. Roberts said that this is a request for a 2.0’ fence height variation and a fence 

openness variation to permit a 6.0’ tall solid fence in a side yard adjoining a street 
(Wilmette Avenue). The Village Board will hear this case on July 11, 2017.  

 
3.22 The applicant said their property is unique. The backyard faces Crawford and 

Wilmette Avenues. The area is busy and cars move through there quickly. They 
moved to the Village in August 2016. Their daughter is autistic and non-verbal and 
does not respond to all commands. She also climbs fences. They were initially 
willing to deal with the low fence. But they want to make the property work for 
them. They are asking to build a 6’ high fence that could ‘corral’ her. The fence is 
to enclose the back yard. In the area, there are a lot of 6’ high fences. Most abut 
back yards. There are some analogous properties two doors down with 6’ high 
fences. He is making an appeal to conformity and his request should not create a 
big issue.  

 
 He has notified all neighbors in the area within 250’. They will recess the fence by 

2’ and install shrubbery to block out the fence from view. They also had an idea of 
putting the fence into their current shrubbery and recessing the property on both 
sides by an additional 7’. That is drastic and that would take away 25% of their total 
back yard, which is small.  

 
 They cannot do that because they would not be able to pull their cars out and would 

have to change the driveway set up. He drew a map of the 4’ and 6’ high fences in 
the area and showed this to the Board. There are many 6’ high fences in the area.  

 
3.23 Mr. Robke clarified that the variance was for the fence along Wilmette Avenue, 

which is the side yard.  
 
 Ms. Roberts said that Hunter Road (Crawford), with the exception of the side yard 

adjoining Wilmette, is a fence exception area where the fences can be up to 6’ tall 
and solid.  

 
 The applicant continued and showed properties that were similar to his.  
 
3.24 Mr. Schneider said that the Board recently approved one of the fences that the 

applicant showed.  



2017-Z-29 447 Sandy Lane June 21, 2017 

2 
 

3.25 Mr. Robke asked for clarification about recessing the fence by 2’ and moving in 
the shrubs. Is that applicable to Crawford or to Wilmette Avenue?  

 
 The applicant said they planned to move it in on both sides because it would look 

more reasonable.  
 
3.26 Mr. Robke said that the Board does not have to take any action related to Hunter 

where they can do the 6’ high fence where they have the fence now.  
 
3.27 Chairman Surman said he thought that back a certain distance from the corner was 

required.  
 
 The applicant said that a specific 6’ section transitioned down to a 4’ section and 

continues at 4’ but they are requesting that the 4’ height now be 6’. He showed how 
he had to back out his car and turn it around to get out. Right now, they can barely 
accomplish this but if they take away the area and push the fence in, it would not 
be possible and they would need to change their driveway.  

 
3.28 Mr. Robke asked how critical it was to change where the fence met the building. 

They are replacing the current 4’ fence with a 6’ fence but when it turns towards 
the house they are capturing the greater area.  

 
 The applicant said that this was not a big deal. He would rather replace the fence 

along the fence line to capture more area.  
 
3.29 Chairman Surman asked if they planned to add a gate to the fence.  
 
 The applicant said that it is currently a 4’ high fence with a gate. They would like 

a 6’ high fence with a gate.  
 
3.30 Mr. Schneider asked if the fence would be solid.  
 
 The applicant said it is a solid fence because she can squeeze between the posts. He 

is concerned that she could wedge her head or arm. She is four years old.  
 
3.31 Mr. Kolleng asked if there were bushes along the Wilmette side.  
 
 The applicant said there were bushes along the Wilmette side. She still climbs with 

the 4’ high fence. She can wedge between the bushes. There are some broken posts 
that she can get through.  

 
3.32 Chairman Surman said his concern was safety of children outside of the area. 

Maybe they would bring in the fence near the entry. Maybe they could put in a 
mirror for better visibility.  

 



2017-Z-29 447 Sandy Lane June 21, 2017 

3 
 

 The applicant said he was concerned about people walking by when they were 
exiting. He has looked into sensors.  

 
3.33 Chairman Surman said one reason for the requirement for an open lower fence is 

for visibility. He has concerns about safety for younger children on the outside of 
the fence.  

 
 The applicant said he shares that concern. Would it please the Board if they open 

the fence more so that when the gate opens it is more open?  
 
3.34 Chairman Surman said that suggestion would be acceptable.  
 
3.35 Mr. Robke said that when there is foliage they don’t need the fence to block the 

view, but opening it up as wide as possible would be best.  
 
3.36 Chairman Surman said that the gate would be the same size, but they could come 

out a little bit.  
 
 The applicant said that this is an option and they could also open it up.  
 
3.37 Mr. Robke suggested cutting back some of the shrubs.  
 

 3.38 There was no one in the audience to speak on this case. There was no additional 
communication on this case.   

 
5.0 VIEWS EXPRESSED BY MEMBERS OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
5.1 Mr. Boyer said that the location of this property is the hardship. It is a corner side/ 

double-frontage lot at a busy intersection. There are other 6’ high fences in the area. 
The owner has a burden that many other residents don’t have because he has a 
corner side/double-frontage lot at a busy intersection. There are no safety issues 
with sight lines to vehicles. There could be a sight line issue with pedestrians. 
However, the same type of issue could occur with plantings. The request is 
reasonable. He can support the request.  

 
5.2 Mr. Robke agreed with the above comments. The hardship is the siting on the lot. 

His support is contingent that the new fence be in the same location as the current 
fence. About the driveway, he encouraged the applicant to look at the gate 
configuration and make it as wide as the curb cut on the parkway side to give as 
much buffer as they pull out. He can support the request.  

 
5.3 Mr. Schneider said that the Board recently approved the fence replacement to the 

east of this property. The fence height was also 6’. He did not support that request, 
but tonight’s request is more compelling. If one drives down Glenview Road to the 
west toward Hibbard, there are similar situations. He can support the request.  

 



2017-Z-29 447 Sandy Lane June 21, 2017 

4 
 

6.0 DECISION 
 
6.1 Mr. Boyer moved to recommend granting a request for a 2.0’ fence height variation 

and a fence openness variation to permit a 6.0’ tall solid fence in a side yard 
adjoining a street (Wilmette Avenue) at 447 Sandy Lane in accordance with the 
plans submitted.  

 
 6.11 Mr. Robke seconded the motion and the vote was as follows: 
 
  Acting Chairman Bob Surman Yes 
  Chairman Patrick Duffy  Not Present 
  Mike Boyer    Yes 
  John Kolleng    Yes 
  Michael Robke   Yes 
  Reinhard Schneider   Yes 
  Christopher Tritsis   Not Present 
 

Motion carried. 
 
6.2 Mr. Boyer moved to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and 

recommendation for the Zoning Board of Appeals for case number 2017-Z-29.  
 

6.21 Mr. Robke seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes and no nays.  
 
    Motion carried.  

 
7.0 FINDINGS OF FACT UPON WHICH DECISION WAS BASED 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals finds that the request meets request meets the variation 
standards of Section 5.4.F and the fence variation standards of Section 5.4.F.h of the 
Zoning Ordinance. The particular physical conditions of the property, its location as a 
corner lot and a double-front lot with the backyard along Wilmette Avenue, impose upon 
the owner a practical difficulty. The plight of the owner was not created by the owner and 
is due to the orientation of the lot. The difficulty prevents the owner from making 
reasonable use of their property with the safe enclosure of their backyard. The proposed 
variations will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent properties or 
otherwise injure other properties and its use.  The variations if granted will not alter the 
essential character of the neighborhood. 
 
The fence secures the backyard from Wilmette Avenue and Hunter Road, both of which 
are busy streets at a busy intersection. Other such fences exist in the area including a fence 
that was granted a variation for a house directly east of the applicant. Hunter Road is a 
fence exception area where 6’ tall solid fences are permitted and already exist.  
 

 
 



2017-Z-29 447 Sandy Lane June 21, 2017 

5 
 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals recommends granting a request for a 2.0’ fence height 
variation and a fence openness variation to permit a 6.0’ tall solid fence in a side yard 
adjoining a street (Wilmette Avenue) at 447 Sandy Lane in accordance with the plans 
submitted. 



2017-Z-30 424 Lake Avenue June 21, 2017 

1 
 

3.0 TESTIMONY, COMMENTS AND ARGUMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE 
APPLICANT 

 
 3.1 Persons appearing for the applicant 
 
  3.11 Ms. Shannon Page, applicant 
   424 Lake Avenue 
 
 3.2 Summary of presentations 
 
 3.21 Ms. Roberts said that this is a request for a 120.95 square foot (22.4%) rear yard 

pavement impervious surface coverage variation to permit the expansion of the 
existing legal non-conforming driveway. The Village Board will hear this case on 
July 11, 2017.  

 
 3.22 The applicant said that this is a unique situation. They bought their home two years 

ago. One of the previous owners built a garage and driveway in the back of the 
property. They made the driveway unusable. There is a huge berm that is a large 
planter. Their lot is a tear drop lot. One enters the garage in the back through the 
alley. They knew when they bought the house that an unusable driveway was a 
drawback and something that they understood was fixable. They have a small child 
and another child on the way. They have not been able to use the driveway in two 
years. To back down or pull into the driveway is hard. It is a narrow chute. There 
is a huge cutaway that makes getting into the garage very difficult. They are asking 
to widen the driveway to the same width as the garage door.  

 
 3.23 Chairman Surman asked if the driveway was initially the garage door width and 

then previous owners added a planter.  
 
  The applicant said that previous owners constructed the driveway in its current 

configuration, which makes no sense. They will shave the current concrete planter 
in half. The grading will stay the same. They noticed the neighbors and one of the 
neighbors is at the meeting. They received comments from neighbors that they 
support the request. It is not safe to pull into the driveway. There are a lot of small 
children up and down the alley. The applicants either park on 5th as there is no 
parking on their portion of Lake or they park on a side pad adjacent to that spot so 
they are trying to force two cars onto the pad. One car hangs into the alley, which 
is not a good situation.  

 
  The request will not impair light or air. It does not impact any neighbors. According 

to their contractor, this is a simple process. The current driveway has cracked and 
broken concrete that will be removed and replaced. They will put foliage in the 
planter.  

 
 3.23 Mr. Robke asked if there are two trees in the planter.  
 



2017-Z-30 424 Lake Avenue June 21, 2017 

2 
 

  The applicant said there were two trees and Com Ed took down the trees. They plan 
to landscape the planter.  

 
 3.24 Mr. Kolleng asked if this was considered a rear yard for purposes of impervious 

surface.  
 
  Ms. Roberts said that it is a rear yard.  
 
 3.25 Mr. Schneider asked if they ever tried to park two cars.  
 
  The applicant said that this cannot be done. When one backs down the berm comes 

up so high that there are no sight lines. She knows of no houses by them that have 
this same garage configuration. There is access to the house from the garage but 
they currently cannot use this.  

 
 3.26 Mr. Boyer asked where the interior garage access was located. 
 
  The applicant said that the access was in the basement. They built the garage off 

the house and put a deck above it.  
 
 3.27 Chairman Surman asked if there was a problem with water getting in there.  
 
  The applicant said they have no water issues. The construction company looked at 

it and said that there is a French drainage system at the bottom. The drainage system 
is good and recommended that it be left in place. There is a drain and sump pump 
inside the garage.  

 
4.0 INTERESTED PARTIES 
 
 4.1 Persons speaking on the application 
 
  4.11 Ms. Ann Lancer 
   915 Sheridan Road 
 
 4.2 Summary of presentations 
 
 4.21 Ms. Lancer said she lives directly across the alley. She is in full support of the 

request. Their garage is not usable.  
 
5.0 VIEWS EXPRESSED BY MEMBERS OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
 5.1 Mr. Kolleng said that this is a unique lot design in the backyard. There are a lot of 

impervious surface issues but this situation is not like most other situations 
reviewed by the Board. He missed it when he first drove by and had to go around 
again and was stunned when he saw the driveway and how it was blocked. The 



2017-Z-30 424 Lake Avenue June 21, 2017 

3 
 

hardship is the planter that prohibits them from using the garage. The proposal 
makes sense to him. The standards of review are met and he can support the request.  

 
 5.2 Mr. Boyer said it looks like this was not original to the house. The house needs a 

garage and the current garage is not usable. The proposal corrects a design issue 
from an addition to the house. There is no other location for the garage. If they 
demolish the garage and put it in another area, more variances would be needed. 
He can support the request.  

 
 5.3 Mr. Schneider said that this is a compelling case to approve this variation request.  
 
 5.4 Mr. Robke said if they were to get water it would go into their house.  
 
6.0 DECISION 
 
 6.1 Mr. Kolleng moved to recommend granting a request for a 120.95 square foot 

(22.4%) rear yard pavement impervious surface coverage variation to permit the 
expansion of the existing legal non-conforming driveway at 424 Lake Avenue in 
accordance with the plans submitted.  

 
  6.11 Mr. Boyer seconded the motion and the vote was as follows: 
 
   Acting Chairman Bob Surman Yes 
   Chairman Patrick Duffy  Not Present 
   Mike Boyer    Yes 
   John Kolleng    Yes 
   Michael Robke   Yes 
   Reinhard Schneider   Yes 
   Christopher Tritsis   Not Present 
 

Motion carried. 
 
 6.2 Mr. Boyer moved to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and 

recommendation for the Zoning Board of Appeals for case number 2017-Z-30.  
 
  6.21 Mr. Robke seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes and no nays.  
 
   Motion carried.  
 
7.0 FINDINGS OF FACT UPON WHICH DECISION WAS BASED 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals finds that the request meets the variation standards of Section 
5.4.F of the Zoning Ordinance. The physical conditions of the property, the irregular shape 
of the lot and the location of the garage below grade, impose upon the owner a particular 
hardship. The plight of the owner was created by the owner and is due to the unique 
development of the lot and siting of the garage. The hardship is peculiar to the property in 



2017-Z-30 424 Lake Avenue June 21, 2017 

4 
 

question and is not shared by others. The hardship prevents the owner from making 
reasonable use of the property with a functioning and safe two-car garage. The proposed 
variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air. The rear yard is mostly 
impervious surfaces now so the modification will not negatively impact adjoining 
properties with water problems. The variation, if granted, will not alter the essential 
character of the neighborhood. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals recommends granting a request for a 120.95 square foot 
(22.4%) rear yard pavement impervious surface coverage variation to permit the expansion 
of the existing legal non-conforming driveway at 424 Lake Avenue in accordance with the 
plans submitted. 

 



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

1 
 

3.0 TESTIMONY, COMMENTS AND ARGUMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE 
APPLICANT 

 
 3.1 Persons appearing for the applicant 
 
  3.11 Ms. Julie Kramer, applicant 
   1300 Sheridan Road 
 
  3.12 Mr. Harry Kramer, applicant 
   1300 Sheridan Road 
 
 3.2 Summary of presentations 
 
 3.21 Ms. Roberts said that this is a request for a 642.25 square foot (24.95%) front yard 

impervious surface coverage variation and a variation to permit parking spaces in 
a required front yard to allow the expansion of the existing legal non-conforming 
driveway. The Village Board will hear this case on July 11, 2017.  

 
 3.22 The applicant said they have lived in the house for seven years. Her husband works 

out of their home a lot and they have five children. The driveway is a problem. 
They want a safer driveway. If there are other cars around they cannot turn cars 
around and it is hazardous. Sheridan Road is a busy street. It is difficult to look 
behind if one is backing out. They also need an area for people to sit while dropping 
things off at their home. People cannot park nearby on the street.  

 
  She thought about different options when she was creating the design. The easiest 

solution was to get two lanes going in and out. Her neighbors either have abundant 
parking behind the house or someplace else or they have two lanes or a circular 
drive. Her solution was to have a wider driveway that would accommodate two cars 
and there would be the flow of traffic coming in and out of the two garages. She 
did not create this problem. The lot is short and narrow. It is only 50’ wide. Traffic 
is an issue and is not an issue in other locations even locations on Sheridan Road. 
She does not have access to side streets like others have. They are not impacting 
light and air.  

 
 3.23 Chairman Surman asked about the new house to the north.  
 
  The applicant said that there is a new house two houses to the north of her house. 

It is a wider lot. The two houses to the north of her house have ample parking and 
two ways in and out.  

 
 3.24 Mr. Schneider asked if they would have to widen the curb cut.  
 
  The applicant said she did not think they would have to widen the curb cut. It is 

almost two lanes wide.  
 



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

2 
 

 3.25 Mr. Kolleng said he noticed that the grass in the back yard is worn down. Do they 
back out onto Sheridan Road? 

 
  The applicant said she does not back out onto Sheridan Road. She turns around to 

get out. Some people back out and it is a safety hazard to do this.  
 
 3.26 Mr. Schneider asked if they planned to reconstruct the entire driveway if the request 

is approved.  
 
  The applicant said they would reconstruct the entire driveway. She said that snow 

builds up a lot on the driveway so she wants a heated driveway so that is no longer 
a problem.  

 
 3.27 Mr. Schneider asked if she considered a permeable surface driveway.  
 
  She said that she has not spoken with anyone who has said that is possible with a 

heated driveway. They don’t have a lot of runoff. She wants to solve the problem 
of a lot of snow piling up.  

 
 3.28 Mr. Boyer asked Ms. Roberts about the reason for having the curb cut from existing 

construction to the north instead of having a straight shot from the garage to 
Sheridan Road. Was it too close to Michigan Avenue? Too close to the sidewalk? 

 
  Ms. Roberts said she does not know the history of the property.  
 
 3.29 Chairman Surman said he thought that Michigan Avenue probably went straight 

into it and then they built out the berm at some point.  
 
  The applicant said that was done before they moved in.  
 
 3.30 Chairman Surman said he is not as concerned about the impervious surface 

coverage. It is more a second issue about the parking in a front area. The zoning 
ordinance does not allow parking spaces in the required front yard.  

 
 3.31 Mr. Robke said he is also troubled about parking in the required front yard. The 

safety issue has to do with the number of cars parked there. Would she consider not 
widening the driveway until they got onto the property?  

 
 3.32 Chairman Surman said he would prefer seeing a little more impervious in that area 

and make it more of a court.  
 
 3.33 Mr. Robke said he is hearing that the reason for widening the drive is to park cars 

there. There is no street parking in that area. He suggested moving it back towards 
the building so it is not visible by the street. If the back area was larger they could 
accommodate the cars. He does not want to see the parking area from the public 
right of way.  



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

3 
 

 3.34 Chairman Surman said if they pull out of the garage they might not be able to gain 
that much.  

 
 3.35 Mr. Robke said that the issues of safety have to do with cars parked in the front 

yard setback. To allow more cars to park there is not good.  
 
 3.36 Chairman Surman asked if they had considered this option?  
 
  The applicant did not consider that option because she would then have no yard at 

all. The two lanes seems to work for others.  
 
 3.37 Mr. Robke said that the only reason for double width is to park a car and still get 

out.  
 
  The applicant said that happens all the time with other residents. In order to not 

have cars there they would have to go down to Elmwood, over to Michigan and all 
the way up. Most of the time they park on the street. She knows that the Village 
does not want to have people parking on the driveway. The issue is with turning 
around. They park way over in the grass now and cars are still in the way. It does 
not solve the problem to have more space in the turnaround. People park in the 
middle.  

 
 3.38 Mr. Schneider asked about capacity of the new scheme. How many cars will they 

be able to park? 
 
  The applicant said they would be able to park 1 to 2 cars outside the garage.  
 
 3.39 Mr. Boyer clarified that the applicant did not build the house and did not put in the 

driveway. The builder did this for a reason – what is the reason? It would make 
more sense if the driveway was two-car-garage width and to pull out or in in a 
straight line.  

 
 3.40 Chairman Surman said in the planning they probably thought that one might get a 

look at the lake when driving up. 
 
 3.41 Mr. Boyer said that with a front-loaded garage in a typical build the driveway is the 

width of the garage to the street with an apron.  
 
 3.42 Mr. Schneider said that 50’ lots do not have 20’ driveways to the back.  
 
 3.43 Chairman Surman said that his understanding was that if they had a two-car garage 

they can park two cars and the area behind is the driveway. On a 50’ lot they could 
have 18’ driveway. He talked about having an hourglass shape.  

 
 3.44 Mr. Boyer said that would be 1,500 square feet versus 1,605 square feet. There is a 

configuration that probably has more impervious surface than what the applicant is 



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

4 
 

asking for – if it was a straight shot. The garage is front loaded because there is no 
side drive or alley access. They cannot have a side drive due to rear yard 
topography. There are challenges with this narrow lot on the lake.  

 
 3.45 Mr. Robke said that to him the issue is not impervious area, but the front yard 

parking. Making the driveway wide puts cars against the sidewalk.  
 
 3.46 Chairman Surman said he looked at other houses on Sheridan Road. One can have 

a u-shaped house or go into the garage and make the u and the car could be parked 
next to the sidewalk.  

 
 3.47 The applicant reiterated that the situation is dangerous. With a big house, a lot of 

cars come and go.  
 
 3.48 Chairman Surman asked how many cars the family had. 
 
  The applicant said they have three cars and one is always on the street. But her 

husband has clients coming and going. The cleaning lady parks on the street. She 
needs two lanes to get in and out.  

 
  Mr. Kramer said that his wife has spent a lot of time to find the best solution. They 

have five children and four of them now drive. During the summer, their two 
college students are home so they are driving. He is a professor at NU and students 
come over every day. He talked about how hard it was for people coming over to 
find parking. He is sensitive to the risk of hurting someone. They are blessed to be 
in the house but backing up is dangerous. They moved into the house seven years 
ago. They initially thought the situation was dangerous, but they only had one child 
driving. The fifth child is in driver’s ed and will soon be driving. He wants to do 
what is reasonable but is concerned about safety. He supports what his wife is 
proposing. The Board has to do what they have to do.  

 
3.49 There was no one in the audience to speak on this case. There was no additional 

communication on this case.   
 
5.0 VIEWS EXPRESSED BY MEMBERS OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
 5.1 Mr. Schneider said that he is sympathetic to the unique situation. He asked Ms. 

Roberts if the 642 square feet was the incremental increase resulting from the 
request.  

 
  Ms. Roberts said that is the whole amount over the maximum. They are over with 

the existing. 
 
 5.2 Mr. Boyer said that 394 square feet is the net ask and the gross is 642 square feet. 
 



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

5 
 

 5.3 Mr. Schneider continued and said that he is concerned about water runoff in the 
Village. When that can be minimized he is in favor of that. In tonight’s case, the 
applicant said they would tear out the current driveway and install a heated 
driveway, which makes the entire driveway impervious. He wished that there was 
another solution. He does not know if there is. He does not want to see an increase 
in impervious surface. That is his issue.  

 
 5.4 Mr. Kolleng said he looks at this in two parts. The first is expanding the existing 

area closest to the garage to allow more ease in turning around. He has no issue 
with that portion. Widening the drive by 8’ to allow parking will create more of a 
safety issue. People will pull in and back out. That is problematic for him. In past 
cases that are similar, the Board has usually denied the request. He has a problem 
supporting the front yard parking piece of the request.  

 
 5.5 Chairman Surman asked if Mr. Kolleng pulled into the driveway.  
 
  Mr. Kolleng said he backed in.  
 
 5.6 Chairman Surman said he felt disoriented pulling out.  
 
 5.7 Mr. Robke said there are three issues. He knows that there is a safety concern and 

that they need to park more cars there. This is a unique site with Michigan Avenue 
and no parking. He can support more impervious area, but is concerned about 
widening the drive beyond what is on the public side of the curb cut of the sidewalk. 
He could support the request if there was a buffer of the original driveway with 
current landscaping in the front. Without the impervious area, they cannot get 
parking and the ability to get in and out. There is a hardship given lack of parking 
in the area. It is not unreasonable to say they can park more than two cars for a 
house of this size on the lake. He wants the driveway kept at its original length. 
Cars parked there add to site line concerns and safety issues. The goal is not to have 
cars parked in the front yard.  

 
 5.8 Chairman Surman clarified that Mr. Robke would increase it more than what they 

are showing.  
 
 5.9 Mr. Robke said that the ask with regard to impervious area is not unreasonable 

given the task. His issue is with the variation to permit parking, which is being 
created with the proposed configuration of the driveway so close to the sidewalk.  

 
 5.10 Chairman Surman said that by parking the cars on the side if they widen it, those 

cars have to experience backing up.  
 
 5.11 Mr. Robke said that the goal is not to see the cars. The house is nicely landscaped. 

He wants to keep parking in the landscaped area. 
 



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

6 
 

 5.12 Chairman Surman said that currently they are requesting over 30’ out from the 
garage. Is Mr. Robke saying he would accept that number or increase that number?  

 
 5.13 Mr. Robke said he would not have an issue with a slight increase to the 30’ number. 

He would shift impervious from the driveway to get the shape right.  
 
 5.14 Mr. Boyer said that where the builder made the driveway and where he sited the 

house seems like a design error.  
 
 5.15 Mr. Robke said it might not be a design error but an evolution where people have 

more cars today than in the past.  
 
 5.16 Mr. Boyer said there is a way to have more of a flag-type layout. Having a single 

lane drive in this location was not the best design. There is no street parking 
anywhere for this family and this is unique.  

 
 5.17 Chairman Surman said if this was a new house, the driveway would go over to the 

south.  
 
 5.18 Mr. Boyer said if the driveway was reconfigured there would be parking in the front 

yard. Either way there will be parking in the front yard and either way there is no 
street parking. The proposal is not the best correction, but there needs to be some 
relief. The ask is not that big. The Board has to weigh private property rights with 
the ordinance. This is a reasonable request.  

 
 5.19 Mr. Kolleng asked if they were going to guarantee backing out by widening this. 

Pulling forward is not an issue.  
 
 5.20 Chairman Surman said if cars are stacked the last car would back out. This is 

pushing the issue further along the driveway.  
 
 5.21 Mr. Kolleng said they don’t back out now – they turn around.  
 
 5.22 Chairman Surman said if there are two cars in the garage and they need to back out, 

even if they added 10 more feet, there would not be enough room to make that turn.  
 
 5.23 Mr. Schneider said that if there are two cars in the garage and two cars in the court 

that still leaves room for the cars in the garage to come out. If there are two cars in 
the widened driveway, that is four cars. Can’t the cars turn into the apron, back up 
and make a three-point turn to come out?  

 
 5.24 Mr. Robke said an area would need to be squared off more. There could be a more 

efficient way to do this without widening the driveway.  
 
 5.25 Mr. Schneider asked the capacity they are designing for.  After discussion, it was 

determined they are designing for six cars. He does not see that issue as such a big 



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

7 
 

deal and is more concerned about the impervious surface. Runoff would increase 
and flooding is an issue in the Village.  

 
 5.26 Chairman Surman said that the property probably slopes to the back.  
 
 5.27 Mr. Schneider asked if the Village would review/monitor plans to ensure they do 

not increase the runoff situation. He could support this if runoff was mitigated. It is 
a unique situation.  

 
 5.28 Chairman Surman also wants to solve the safety issue at the same time. If the court 

was larger there could be more spaces on the court. This is a difficult situation.  
 
 5.29 Mr. Schneider asked if any mitigation to runoff is reviewed.  
 
  Ms. Roberts said that it could be done in this case. It does not need to be added to 

the motion.  
 
 5.30 Chairman Surman said impervious surface does not bother him, but extending the 

safety issue and having to back out is a concern. But something has to be done. If 
it was designed new there probably would be a parking court.  

 
6.0 DECISION 
 
 6.1 Mr. Schneider moved to recommend granting a request for a 642.25 square foot 

(24.95%) front yard impervious surface coverage variation and a variation to permit 
parking spaces in a required front yard to allow the expansion of the existing legal 
non-conforming driveway at 1300 Sheridan Road in accordance with the plans 
submitted.  

 
  6.11 Mr. Kolleng seconded the motion and the vote was as follows:  
 
   Acting Chairman Bob Surman No 
   Chairman Patrick Duffy  Not Present 
   Mike Boyer    Yes 
   John Kolleng    No 
   Michael Robke   No 
   Reinhard Schneider   Yes 
   Christopher Tritsis   Not Present 
 
   Motion failed. 
 
 6.2 Mr. Boyer moved to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and 

recommendation for the Zoning Board of Appeals for case number 2017-Z-28.  
 
  6.21 Mr. Robke seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes and no nays.  
 



2017-Z-28 1300 Sheridan Road June 21, 2017 

8 
 

   Motion carried.  
 
7.0 FINDINGS OF FACT UPON WHICH DECISION WAS BASED 

 
A majority of the Zoning Board of Appeals finds that the request does not meet the 
variation standards of Section 5.4.F of the Zoning Ordinance. There are no conditions of 
the property that are creating a practical difficulty or a particular hardship. There may be 
an alternative that provides more coverage and maneuvering room closer to the house so 
that widening the driveway and having parking spaces by the sidewalk is not necessary. 
 
A minority of the Zoning Board of Appeals finds that the request meets the variation 
standards of Section 5.4.F of the Zoning Ordinance. The physical conditions of the lot, the 
relatively narrow lot width, the location of the driveway on the lot, and the property 
location on Sheridan Road where Michigan Avenue comes in, impose upon the owner a 
practical difficulty. The plight of the owner was not created by the owner and is due to 
unique circumstances. The difficulty is peculiar to the lot in question and not generally 
shared by others. The difficulty prevents the owner from making reasonable use of the 
property with safe and adequate parking and egress from the property. The proposed 
variations will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to adjacent properties. The 
request will not result in a storm water problem for adjacent properties. The variations, if 
granted, will not alter the essential character of the neighborhood. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals recommends denying a request for a 642.25 square foot front 
yard impervious surface coverage variation and a variation to permit parking spaces in a 
required front yard to allow the expansion of the legal nonconforming driveway at 1300 
Sheridan Road in accordance with the plans submitted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



2017-Z-27 824 Laramie Avenue June 21, 2017 

1 
 

3.0 TESTIMONY, COMMENTS AND ARGUMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE 
APPLICANT 

 
 3.1 Persons appearing for the applicant 
 
  3.11 Ms. Maria Tak, applicant 
   824 Laramie Avenue 
 
 3.2 Summary of presentations 
 
 3.21 Ms. Roberts said that this is a request for a 95.9 square foot (7.15%) front yard 

impervious surface coverage variation and a 127.48 square foot (15.78%) combined 
side yard impervious surface coverage variation to permit the widening of the 
existing driveway. The Village Board will hear this case at their July 11, 2017 
meeting.  

 
 3.22 The applicant wants to widen their current 8’ driveway and extending it to a 13’ 

width. They have lived in the home for four years. They now have funds to repair 
the cracked and damaged driveway. Due to the narrow width, it is an inconvenience 
and a safety issue. Her mother will be having knee surgery and will move in with 
them. They will need more room to get out of the car to have access to a wheel 
chair or walker. When the weather is bad, one has to step onto soil to get out of the 
car and her mother slipped. She asked the Board to approve driveway width 
expansion even if it was not at the requested 13’.  

 
 3.23 Mr. Boyer asked if the width did not have to be 13’.  
 
  The applicant said they want to take advantage of their space if possible.  
 
 3.24 Mr. Schneider clarified that they want to expand the driveway from the edge of the 

house to the edge of the property line for the whole length of the driveway.  
 
 3.25 Chairman Surman said that the reason for ordinances is so that people do not add 

too much impervious area.  
 
  Ms. Roberts said that the driveway could go all the way to the lot line and no setback 

is required.  
 
 3.26 Chairman Surman said 13’ is a big ask. More pavement can mean more flooding.  
 
 3.27 Mr. Robke said if there is an issue of loading and unloading, the whole driveway 

does not need to be done. A 5’ section could be widened all the way to the property 
line so one does not go onto wet soil. Or maybe the section could be 10’. 

 
 3.28 Mr. Boyer said if they are only doing a section they might not need a variance.  
 



2017-Z-27 824 Laramie Avenue June 21, 2017 

2 
 

  The applicant asked if they could extend it from the start of the garage to the front 
of the house.  

 
 3.29 Chairman Surman asked how much over they were on impervious.  
 
  Ms. Roberts said they are over by 95 square feet in the front.  
 
  The applicant said the variation request is 127 square feet in the back.  
 
 3.30 Mr. Boyer said there is a dark outline on 1.4. That is part of impervious surface.  
 
  Ms. Roberts said that is part of the plan but does not count as coverage. It is in the 

buildable area.  
 
 3.31 Chairman Surman said that the whole property is 128 feet long. The driveway 

would be at least 100 feet long.  
 
 3.32 Mr. Boyer said that the driveway from garage to sidewalk is 101.21 feet.  
 
 3.33 Chairman Surman said that the front yard is 30’ and existing driveway is 8’ and 

they want to go 13’ so it is 150 square feet. They would have to narrow the front 
down and make the request half to make it work right. The original request is 95 
square feet so they would have to take 3’ off width so they would be down to 10’ 
wide in the front section and there would be no variance needed.  

 
 3.34 Mr. Boyer said that the rear area brings in the side yard impervious surface issue, 

which is another 71 square feet.  
 
 3.35 Chairman Surman said that the length is 127 feet. If they took 2’ off the whole thing 

they might not need a variance. They would have an 11.5’ area. There is some 
combination that would work without requiring a variance. They could go from 10’ 
and could continue that and fill up that area along the house and put more area in 
the back.  

 
 3.36 Mr. Robke clarified the above for the applicant. The side yard is a little trickier but 

if they widened the area by the house it could work and a variance would not be 
needed. The side yard is to the south when going from the front of the building to 
the property line.  

 
 3.37 Mr. Boyer said that the Board is revising the plan at the meeting. Is there a way to 

amend the request? 
 
 3.38 Mr. Robke said that an amended request as discussed would not require a variance.  
 
 3.39 Mr. Schneider asked if they would vote on the original request and then the revised 

request would not need any variances.  



2017-Z-27 824 Laramie Avenue June 21, 2017 

3 
 

 3.40 Mr. Boyer said there is a potential for alternatives that would not require variances. 
The original request would not be supported.  

 
 3.41 Chairman Surman drew a plan with the front area being 10’ and then they would 

go back a certain distance in the back. The line on the south side would stay straight 
and widen it in the back. That is one option.  

 
 3.42 Mr. Robke said they could move the wider part somewhere else.  
 
 3.43 Chairman Surman said that the applicant would work with staff to stay within the 

code so no variances would be needed.  
 
 3.44 Ms. Roberts said she would meet with the applicant to see if the plans could work 

without any variances. If it can work, the request can be withdrawn from the Village 
Board.  

 
  The applicant agreed to work with staff.  
 

3.45 There was no one in the audience to speak on this case. There was no additional 
communication on this case.   

 
5.0 VIEWS EXPRESSED BY MEMBERS OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
 5.1 Mr. Boyer said that there is most likely a solution that accommodates the applicant 

and eliminates the need for a variance, he will not support the request but 
encouraged the applicant to move forward with a conforming plan.  

 
 5.2 Mr. Robke agreed with the above.  
 
 5.3 Mr. Kolleng said it looks like they can do front yard impervious surface within the 

code and if they needed a smaller side yard variance the Village Board would 
probably look favorably upon this. He cannot support this as presented.  

 
6.0 DECISION 
 
 6.1 Mr. Boyer moved to recommend granting a request for a 95.9 square foot (7.15%) 

front yard impervious surface coverage variation and a 127.48 square foot (15.78%) 
combined side yard impervious surface coverage variation to permit the widening 
of the existing driveway at 824 Laramie Avenue in accordance with the plans 
submitted.  

 
  6.11 Mr. Robke seconded the motion and the vote was as follows: 
 
   Acting Chairman Bob Surman No 
   Chairman Patrick Duffy  Not Present 
   Mike Boyer    No 



2017-Z-27 824 Laramie Avenue June 21, 2017 

4 
 

   John Kolleng    No 
   Michael Robke   No 
   Reinhard Schneider   No 
   Christopher Tritsis   Not Present 
 

Motion failed. 
 
 6.2 Mr. Schneider moved to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and 

recommendation for the Zoning Board of Appeals for case number 2017-Z-27.  
 
  6.21 Mr. Robke seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes and no nays.  
 
   Motion carried.  
 
7.0 FINDINGS OF FACT UPON WHICH DECISION WAS BASED 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals finds that the request does not meet the variation standards 
of Section 5.4.F of the Zoning Ordinance. There are no particular conditions of the property 
that are causing a practical difficulty or particular hardship. A conforming alternative likely 
exists. The owners are able to make reasonable use of the property without the variation. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Zoning Board of Appeals recommends denying a request for a 95.9 square foot 
(7.15%) front yard impervious surface coverage variation and a 127.48 square foot 
(15.78%) combined side yard impervious surface coverage variation to permit the 
widening of the existing driveway at 824 Laramie Avenue in accordance with the plans 
submitted. 



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION AGENDA ITEM: 3.7

Page 1 of 1 

SUBJECT: Amendment to Chapter 20, Article 16 of the Village Code Sign Ordinance 

MEETING DATE: July 25, 2017  

FROM: Chairman Steve Leonard and the Land Use Committee (Trustees Dodd 
and Sullivan) 

None 

Recommended Motion 

Introduction and subsequent adoption of Ordinance 2017-O-44 which amends the Sign 
Ordinance regarding political signs. 

Discussion 

In the recent past, the Illinois General Assembly amended Section 5/11-13-1(12) of the Illinois 
Municipal Code (65 ILCS 5/11-13-1(12)) by adding a restriction upon local municipalities, 
including home rule municipalities, from imposing local regulations limiting the time period in which 
political signs may be displayed upon residential property. Section 16.9 of the Village of Wilmette 
Zoning Ordinance currently has a provision in it that conflicts with the amendment to the state 
statute. While this provision is not begin enforced by the Village, the housekeeping matter of 
correcting the Village Code still needs to be finalized.   

The proposed ordinance addresses this single issue and will make the Village of Wilmette Zoning 
Ordinance compliant with state statute.   

On July 10, 2017 the Land Use Committee voted unanimously to recommend the proposed 
sign ordinance amendment to the Village Board. 

Budget Impact 

There is no impact to the budget. 

Documents Attached 

1. Ordinance 2017-O-44

Community Development 
Department

BUDGET IMPACT: 

mailto:leonards@wilmette.com
mailto:doddk@wilmette.com
mailto:sullivand@wilmette.com


ORDINANCE NO. 2017-O-44 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING CODE 
(Sign Ordinance – Political Signs) 

WHEREAS, the Village of Wilmette is a home rule municipality as provided in Article VII, 

Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 1970, and may pursuant to said authority 

undertake any action and adopt any ordinance relating to its government and affairs; and 

WHEREAS, Public Act 96-904 (P.A. 96-904) amended Section 5/11-13-1(12) of the Illinois 

Municipal Code (65 ILCS 5/11-13-1(12)) by adding a restriction upon local municipalities, 

including home rule municipalities, from imposing local regulations limiting the time period in 

which political signs may be displayed upon residential property.  

WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees find that amending the Village’s 

Zoning Code as it pertains to outdoor political signs, is in the best interests of the health, safety 

and welfare of the public and required pursuant to P.A. 96-904.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES of the Village of Wilmette, Cook County, Illinois in the exercise of its home rule 

authority as follows: 

SECTION 1: Each of the foregoing recitals and findings are hereby made a part of this 

Ordinance and are incorporated by reference as if set forth verbatim herein. 

SECTION 2: The Wilmette Village Code, 1993, as amended, is further amended in 

Chapter 20, Zoning, Section 16.9, SIGNS NOT REQUIRING A PERMIT, paragraph (m), by 

deleting the text shown in strikethrough and inserting the new text shown in underlined, bold 

type below, so that said further Section 16.9 (m) shall hereafter read as follows: 

(m)   Political and Non-Commercial Message Signs 

1.0



(1)   A sign or poster expressing the opinion of the owner or occupant of the property 
about a political, religious, social or similar issue of public concern is permitted without a 
sign permit, provided that no advertising of goods or services is included. 

 
(2)   Political signs or posters announcing candidates seeking public political office 
and/or political and public issues contained on a ballot are permitted without a sign 
permit. Such signs must be removed within seven (7) days after an election. 

 
(32)   Such signs must be posted on private property only, and only with the permission 
of the property owner. 

 
SECTION 3: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

approval and publication in pamphlet form as required by law. 

PASSED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Wilmette, Illinois, on the 

11th day of July, 2017, according to the following roll call vote: 

AYES: __________________________________________________________ 

NAYS: _____________________________________________________________ 

ABSTAIN: _____________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT: _____________________________________________________ 

            
     Clerk of the Village of Wilmette, IL 
 

APPROVED by the President of the Village of Wilmette, Illinois, this 11th day of July, 

2017. 

            
     President of the Village of Wilmette, IL 
ATTEST: 
 
        
Clerk of the Village of Wilmette, IL  
 
 
 



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION    AGENDA ITEM: 3.8 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

   
 

       

SUBJECT: 2017-Z-31 808 Linden Avenue – Request to Remand Back to Zoning 
Board of Appeals on September 19, 2017 

   
MEETING DATE:  July 25, 2017      
 
FROM:   Lisa Roberts, Assistant Director of Community Development 

 
None  

 
 

 
Recommended Motion 
 
Move to remand case 2017-Z-31 a request for a special use for the expansion of a special use 
(educational facility, primary), a 7,652.2 square foot (10.9%) floor area variation, a 14.83’ side 
yard setback variation, a 7.08’ rear yard setback variation, a 2,280.0 square foot (40%) side 
yard impervious surface coverage variation, a 37.0’ rear yard playground equipment setback 
variation, an 18.25’ rear yard step setback variation, a 5.0’ side yard parking space setback 
variation, and a variation to allow parking spaces to open directly upon an alley to permit the 
construction of a two-story addition on the legal non-conforming structure (St. Francis Xavier 
School) at 808 Linden Avenue to the Zoning Board of Appeals to be heard on September 19, 
2017. 
 
Discussion 

At the July 5, 2017 Zoning Board of Appeals meeting, the Board voted to make a negative 
recommendation on the request. 
 
The applicants would like to present a revised plan to the Zoning Board regarding their request 
and are therefore asking the Village Board to remand the case to the Zoning Board for their 
September 19, 2017 meeting. 
 
Budget Impact 
 
There is no impact to the budget. 
 
Documents Attached 
 
1. Email from Gerald Callahan for St. Francis Xavier School dated July 19, 2017 

Community Development 
Department 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

https://www.google.com/maps/place/808+Linden+Ave,+Wilmette,+IL+60091/@42.0742575,-87.7022145,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x880fc54a62a58d2d:0x14ac656b1af70cbf!8m2!3d42.0742535!4d-87.7000258
mailto:robertsl@wilmette.com




REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION AGENDA ITEM: 3.9

Page 1 of 1 

SUBJECT: 2017-P-03 730 Romona Road – Request to Table to August 22, 2017 

MEETING DATE:  July 25, 2017  

FROM:  John Adler, Director of Community Development 

None 

Recommended Motion 

Table case 2017-P-03, a request for tentative plat approval for a two-lot subdivision, to August 
22, 2017. 

Discussion 

At their July 6, 2017 meeting the Plan Commission voted against recommending a request for 
tentative plat approval of a two-lot subdivision at 730 Romona Road.  Because of expected 
absences at the July 25, 2017 Village Board meeting and the cancellation of the August 8, 
2017 Village Board meeting, the applicant is requesting that the case be tabled to August 22, 
2017. 

Budget Impact 

There is no impact to the budget. 

Documents Attached 

1. Email from Derek Schiller, applicant, dated July 20, 2017
2. Case 2017-P-03

Community Development 
Department

BUDGET IMPACT: 

https://www.google.com/maps/place/730+Romona+Rd,+Wilmette,+IL+60091/@42.0768844,-87.748663,842m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m5!3m4!1s0x880fc5a2b6a5be77:0x25be89ebb7708d64!8m2!3d42.0768844!4d-87.7464743
mailto:adlerj@wilmette.com


From: Derek Schiller
To: Adler, John
Subject: RE: July 25th VB Meeting
Date: Thursday, July 20, 2017 11:46:30 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png

Following up that I spoke to Barbara Canning and she supports moving the meeting.

From: Derek Schiller [mailto:derekschiller263@gmail.com] 
Sent: Thursday, July 20, 2017 11:15 AM
To: 'Adler, John' <adlerj@wilmette.com>
Subject: RE: July 25th VB Meeting

Hello John,
I left word with Seller’s attorney and I have not spoken with her yet, but i will assume we’re on the
same page as sellers…

Please re-schedule to August meeting or next available.

Thank you,
Derek

DS DEVELOPMENT 
2709 W. Peterson Ave    Chicago, IL  60659
P: 773.878.5555    Ext.12    F: 773.878.5500

From: Adler, John [mailto:adlerj@wilmette.com] 
Sent: Thursday, July 20, 2017 8:54 AM
To: derekschiller263@gmail.com
Subject: RE: July 25th VB Meeting

Any word from the seller on the continuance?

Thanks,

John

From: Adler, John 
Sent: Wednesday, July 19, 2017 8:46 AM
To: 'derekschiller263@gmail.com' <derekschiller263@gmail.com>
Subject: July 25th VB Meeting

1.0

mailto:derekschiller263@gmail.com
mailto:adlerj@wilmette.com
mailto:adlerj@wilmette.com
mailto:derekschiller263@gmail.com
mailto:derekschiller263@gmail.com









L|_n Community Portal





Hi Derek – I left you a message about only 5 Village Board members being present on July 25th. Your
request will need 4 positive votes to be approved. A 3-2 vote would not approve the request. I need
to know ASAP if you are going to want the request table to a meeting at which 6-7 Village Board
members will be present.

Thanks,

John

John Adler, AICP, LEED AP
Director of Community Development
Village of Wilmette
1200 Wilmette Ave
Wilmette, IL 60091
Phone: (847) 853-7528
Fax: (847) 853-7701

Find Wilmette Biz on Facebook: 

Follow Wilmette Biz on Twitter: 

Learn more about your Wilmette property at:

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.facebook.com_wilbiz&d=DQMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=E6cbWAVTsWuRtzP6muJk3XgnGJZ1T7f5NnNsB3LTueA&m=cty8hK5B0lEApGKzQQlGWQHNXy2yzqmYEScuwwoLsi0&s=N3oYQjpxNsKfX5A8fRt637zW4f7rq4gb4u9gsdkWtEc&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.twitter.com_wilmettebiz&d=DQMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=E6cbWAVTsWuRtzP6muJk3XgnGJZ1T7f5NnNsB3LTueA&m=cty8hK5B0lEApGKzQQlGWQHNXy2yzqmYEScuwwoLsi0&s=JNh3jfb2WSPsdoFebpElnJpnYsqBe9dX9vlXylcje8o&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__apps.gisconsortium.org_CommunityPortal_Default.aspx-3FPL-3DVWM-26PG-3D6069&d=DQMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=E6cbWAVTsWuRtzP6muJk3XgnGJZ1T7f5NnNsB3LTueA&m=cty8hK5B0lEApGKzQQlGWQHNXy2yzqmYEScuwwoLsi0&s=moLGtz6cZPj_FNn-9zAKVxwLnUZXoFT8ZQ3fuZ2jH0s&e=


REPORT TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
FROM THE 

PLAN COMMISSION 

Recommendation: The Plan Commission did not make a recommendation to approve 
tentative plat approval of a two-lot subdivision at 730 Romona 
Road.   

The Plan Commission concluded its public hearing and by 
unanimous motion authorized the creation of this report and the 
transmission of the case to the Village Board for further action. By 
custom, the Plan Commission’s failure to recommend approval of 
the application is treated as a recommendation to deny. 

Case Number: 2017-P-03 

Property: 730 Romona Road 

Zoning District: R1-A, Single Family Detached Residence 

Applicant: 626 Forest LLC 

Nature of Application: Request for tentative plat approval for a two-lot 
subdivision 

Section of Code: Chapter 15, Planning and Platting 

Applicable Provisions of 
the Zoning Ordinance: Section 8.3 

Hearing Date: July 6, 2017 

Date of Application: May 10, 2017 

Plan Commission Vote: Maria Choca Urban, Chairman Yes 
Michael Bailey No 
Homa Ghaemi No 
Christine Norrick  No 
Steven Schwab Yes 
Jeffrey Head  Absent 
Michael Taylor Absent 

2.0

https://www.google.com/maps/place/730+Romona+Rd,+Wilmette,+IL+60091/@42.076848,-87.7486887,842m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m5!3m4!1s0x880fc5a2b40027cb:0xe5184940b4f41f87!8m2!3d42.076848!4d-87.7465


Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 2 

 
Notices:     Notice of public hearing to the applicant, June 12, 2017.  

Notice of public hearing published in The Wilmette 
Beacon June 15, 2017.  Posted on the property, June 15, 
2017. Affidavit of compliance with notice requirements 
dated June 22, 2017. 

 
 
 
Report Prepared By:   John Adler, AICP, LEED AP 
      Director of Community Development 
 
Report Approved and  
Submitted By: Chairman Maria Choca Urban 
 
 

    7-20-2017 
 _____________________________________________ 
 Chairman Maria Choca Urban  Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:adlerj@wilmette.com


Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 3 

STAFF INFORMATION AS PRESENTED TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
  
Description of Property 
 
The Subject Property is located on the east side of Romona Road approximately 139.48’ north 
of Birchwood Court. The property has 140.0’ of frontage on Romona Road and is 160’ in depth. 
The property is 22,400 square feet in area. The property is improved with a one-story single-
family home and attached two-car garage. 
 
The Subject Property is surrounded by properties zoned R1-A, Single Family Detached 
Residence and improved with single-family homes. 
 
The Subject Property was part of a 1962 subdivision (Benner’s Subdivision) that received a lot 
width variation to permit a flag-shaped lot. A copy of that subdivision is attached as Document 
Number 1.6. Lot 2 in Benner’s Subdivision is the flag-shaped lot and Lot 1 is the Subject 
Property. That approval was conditioned upon Lot 2 only receiving curbside trash pickup. A copy 
of the approving ordinance is attached as Document Number 2.8. 
 
Subdivision Request 
 
The petitioner is seeking to subdivide one existing lots into two new lots. The parcel is proposed to 
be re-subdivided into two conforming lots.  The north lot, Lot 1, measures 70’ wide by 160’ deep 
and has an area of 11,200 square feet.  The south lot, Lot 2, also measures 70’ wide and 160’ deep 
and has an area of 11,200 square feet.  A new single-family home is proposed to be constructed on 
each lot.  The Village Code requires Plan Commission review and Village Board approval of a plat 
of subdivision. 
 
The zoning will remain R1-A, Single Family Detached Residence, and the existing structure will 
be removed and two new homes will be built if the subdivision is approved.  Section 8.3 of the 
Zoning Ordinance requires lots in the R1-A District to have a minimum lot size of 8,400 square 
feet and a lot width of 60’.  The proposed lots conform to the lot area and lot width requirements. 
 
 
 

R1-A District Lot Requirements 
 
     Minimum  Proposed  Proposed 
     Requirement  Lot 1   Lot 2 
 
  Lot Width  60’   70’   70’ 
 
  Lot Area  8,400 s.f.  11,200 s.f.  11,200 s.f. 
 
 
 
  
  



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 4 

Subdivision Code, Chapter 15 of the Village Code 
 
Chapter 15, Planning and Platting contains the subdivision regulations and sets forth the plat 
requirements. 
 
Chapter 15-2.3(d) requires lots to be “consistent with the density and the existing pattern of 
development in the surrounding neighborhood.  For the purpose of this Section, “neighborhood” 
shall mean that area delineated in the Neighborhood Area Map, incorporated by reference in this 
Section as if fully set forth herein, within which the property proposed to be subdivided is located.  
“Neighborhood Map” means the Neighborhood Area Map approved by the Board of Trustees as 
well as any amendments adopted thereto.”  “Each lot in a proposed subdivision or resubdivision in 
a residential zoning district shall be substantially rectangular in shape, unless the contours of an 
adjacent street or previously established lot render such shape impractical.  A lot whose relationship 
to one or more adjacent lots is such as to form an “L” shape is considered inconsistent with the 
foregoing requirement and shall not be included in any residential subdivision or resubdivision.”  
A copy of the Neighborhood Area Map for the subject property is attached as Document Number 
1.5.  The subject neighborhood includes properties bounded by Romona Road on the west, Locust 
Road on the east, Lake Avenue on the north, and Regina High School to the south. 
 
Of the approximately 126 single-family parcels (not including the Subject Property) contained in 
the subject neighborhood, as defined by the Neighborhood Area Map, approximately 118 are lots 
with areas less than the proposed new lots (11,200 sf) and approximately 86 are lots with widths 
equal to or less than the proposed new lots (70’ wide). 
 
If the tentative approval is granted the applicant will be required to obtain engineering approval 
before seeking final plat approval from the Village Board. 
 
Zoning Ordinance Provisions Involved 
 
Section 8.3 references Table 8-3 which establishes a minimum lot area of 8,400 square feet, a 
minimum lot width of 60’, and the setback provisions for lots in the R1-A, Single Family Detached 
Residence District.  
 
Action Required 
 
Approval of this request entails a recommendation to grant tentative plat approval for the proposed 
two-lot subdivision of the property located at 730 Romona Road, in conformance with the plans 
submitted, with the condition that the existing house be removed prior to the final plat being 
recorded. 
 
(After the vote on the request) 
Move to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and recommendation for the Plan 
Commission for case number 2017-P-03. 
 
 
 
  



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 5 

CASE FILE DOCUMENTS 
 
     Doc. No.     Documents  
 Location Maps and Plans 
 
  1.0 Aerial Map 
  1.1 Sidwell Tax Map 
  1.2 Zoning Map 
  1.3 Plat of Survey   
  1.4 Proposed Plat of Subdivision 
  1.5 Neighborhood Area Map 
  1.6 1962 Subdivision 
   
 Written Correspondence and Documentation 
 
  2.0 Completed application form dated May 10, 2017 
  2.1 Letter of Application dated May 10, 2017 
  2.2 Proof of ownership 
  2.3 Notice of Public Hearing as prepared for the petitioner, June 12, 

2017 
  2.4 Notice of Public Hearing as published in the Wilmette Beacon, 

June 15, 2017 
  2.5 Certificate of publication 
  2.6 Certificate of posting, dated June 15, 2017 
  2.7 Affidavit of compliance with notice requirements, filed by 

applicant, June 22, 2017 
  2.8 Ordinance 2592 
  2.9 Email with attachment from Chas Schinzer, 732 Romona Road, 

dated June 28, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 6 

3.0 TESTIMONY, COMMENTS AND ARGUMENTS ON BEHALF OF THE 
APPLICANT 

 
3.1 Persons appearing for the applicant 

 
3.11 Mr. Derek Schiller, 2709 W. Peterson Avenue, Chicago IL   

        
 3.2 Summary of comments 

 
3.21 Mr. Adler said the first and only case on the agenda is 2017-P-03, a request for 

tentative plat approval for a two-lot subdivision. 
 
3.22 Mr. Derek Schiller, 2709 W. Peterson Avenue, Chicago IL, explained that he is 

requesting to subdivide 730 Romona into two equal size parcels. Currently the 
parcel measures 140’ wide on Romona and 160’ deep. He seeks to have two 70’ 
wide by 160’ deep lots. The current lot area is 22,400 square feet which is much 
larger than the average sized lots in the neighborhood. The proposed subdivision 
will leave two parcels, 11,200 square feet each, which are sizable lots relative to 
the average lots found throughout the neighborhood. The new parcels 
considerably meet the density and development pattern of the neighborhood. For 
these reasons he believes the request conforms to the standards of review set forth 
in the Village of Wilmette Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Code. 

 
4.0 INTERESTED PARTIES 
 

4.1 Persons speaking on the application 
 

4.11 Ms. Karen Dexter Rolison, 820 Romona Road 
4.12 Ms. Sharon Greenburg, 722 Romona Road 
4.13 Mr. Charles Schinzer, 732 Romona Road 
4.14 Mr. Joel Greenburg, 722 Romona Road 
4.15 Mr. Sheldon Sandman, 738 Romona Road 
4.16 Ms. Lynne Sandman, 738 Romona Road 
4.17 Mr. Cass Friedberg, 2834 Birchwood Avenue 
4.18 Ms. Mia Schinzer, 732 Romona Road 
4.19 Peg O’Halloran, 183 Walnut Avenue 

 
4.2 Summary of Comments 
 
4.21 Ms. Karen Dexter Rolison, 820 Romona Road, asked how often the Board of 

Trustees agrees with the Plan Commission’s recommendation as they are the 
experts and understand zoning more than the Board would. Mr. Adler said on a 
subdivision the Village Board would usually accept the Plan Commission’s 
recommendation. He couldn’t recall a time where a subdivision came to the 
Village Board with a positive recommendation that the Village Board didn’t 
approve. Ms. Rolison said they have lived in three different houses in Wilmette 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 7 

and they just moved east hoping to find a place where retired people could live 
and stay in the Village. When she first moved in she was very ill just coming out 
of lung cancer surgery and that little piece of forest on Romona has been so 
important to her that it broke her heart to see the hearing notice posted. The 
property has a whole lot of greenery and a coolness in the air and that is what is 
lacking in our overgrown, big home village. At the very least she would hope the 
Plan Commission makes the developer keep all the trees possible because that is 
what Wilmette is really all about and we wouldn’t be who we are without it. 

 
4.22 Ms. Sharon Greenburg, 722 Romona Road, just south of the proposed 

subdivision. She has concerns about the request from a different perspective. 
There are numerous trees on the property and removing the trees will be a very 
noisy activity. She is also concerned about the disturbance to the ground with the 
root structure. Some of the Elm trees must be 80-90- years old and she is 
concerned about what might happen to their masonry work, their drainage and 
sewer systems. The Greenburgs recently redid their concrete, which had sunk, so 
she is concerned about that as well as the aesthetic concerns previously expressed 
so well. 

 
4.23 Mr. Charles Schinzer, 732 Romona Road, said he and his wife, Mia Schinzer, are 

kind of the odd dog in this request. They are not just neighbors but neighbors with 
an easement relationship with the lot currently in front of the commission. The 
Schinzers are the subservient and 730 Romona is the dominant relationship, in 
legal terms. The easement relationship has not been great over the years. The 
owner of the lot in front has refused to do just about everything under the sun and 
it has been very problematic to have to try and manage that relationship. He can’t 
imagine that you are going to tear all that down and have construction trucks 
coming through and utilizing the driveway and there being a way to manage that 
just as a citizen. It will place a burden on the Schinzers to manage a very novel 
legal relationship. The people who live at 730 Romona now don’t do any 
maintenance. Wherever the current residents could get away with something they 
did and that is something the Schinzers need to put a stop to.  

 
The easement calls out in very specific terms that the owners of 730 Romona have 
in and out access over the existing drive. The owners of 730 Romona can’t move 
the drive anywhere along the easement or change the access point. The Schinzers 
are very concerned if the owners of 730 Romona change the way they access the 
drive they will be able to build a 6’ fence in his front yard, 14’ away from his front 
door and still be fully in compliance with city rules. They have a lot of objections 
because they believe it will dramatically change the value of their house 
negatively. Everybody around will be inconvenienced with two houses being put 
up but they will also have to manage an easement  as well as having the prospect 
of having a 6’  fence in their front yard and there is no way under the sun they will 
allow that. The Schinzers already have a fence along the back side of their house 
so they would have 6’ fences on both sides of their house and that would make 
the value of their property so low based on all of the things they have done to the 
house. His wife has put her heart and soul into the house so there is no way under 
the sun they will let that type of thing happen. They have done too much to 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 8 

increase the value of their property while the lot in front has gone through total 
neglect through the past 20 years and they are going to be in effect rewarded for 
doing that and that isn’t right.  
 
The Schinzers objection on rezoning is very firm and they have reasons beyond 
the typical person who enjoys the property to object and they will feel the impact 
10 times more. There is no other citizen in Wilmette that has to go through this. 
He asked if any of the Plan Commission members have visited the property. He 
asked if the Commissioners were aware just how poorly the front is maintained. 
Is there any guarantee that the next person is going to do any better? They are at 
the point where only they will speak up for that. If you don’t go and see the 
property you will just say we have rubber stamped 18 of these already this year 
so let’s keep doing it. They are the ones that need to stand up and speak for their 
property as they keep getting taken advantage of. They get the least of city 
services. They don’t get city snowplowing and have to walk 100 yards to put their 
trash to the street. They need to speak up and say no for the right reasons. That is 
his starting points, there is more. Mr. Adler asked Mr. Schinzer to finish his 
statement. Mr. Schinzer said that other people might bring up points that he will 
want to comment on. 

 
4.24 The location of the Schinzer’s property was clarified for an audience member. 
 
4.25 Mr. Joel Greenburg, 722 Romona Road, has lived there for 40 years with his wife 

Sharon. Right now they have beautiful woods next to their house just as the 
Sandmans to the north do. His read of the Wilmette code is that they are entitled 
to a 7’ setback so it is possible they will go from having woods next to them to a 
house 7’ away from their property line. They have no idea what the plans are but 
they could have two houses at that 7’ setback, which would really squeeze them 
and change a property that is sort of magnificent to become a very squeezed 
ordinary subdivision. If there is any power in this organization/commission to stop 
the subdivision, it is something to really look at because the aesthetics of this 
situation will become deplorable. When those two houses are built it will be just 
an ordinary subdivision and the Village will suffer for it.  

 
4.26 Mr. Sheldon Sandman, 738 Romona Road, has lived with his wife Lynne on the 

north side of the property question since 1973. He noticed when it was asked if 
anybody on the Plan Commission visited the property he saw only one nod. He 
believes it is incumbent upon all Commissioners to not just look at a diagram but 
to go and look at the property itself because it is very unique. There are very few 
pieces of property in that area, south of Lake Avenue that exist the way that 
property does and is one of the reasons they moved there in 1973. To go ahead 
and put in two homes will, as Mr. Greenburg said, destroy the symmetry of that 
area which is just north of Birchwood Avenue, where the homes not just on their 
side of the street are very spaciously set apart from one another. The properties 
on Romona from Birchwood to Lake Avenue are very unique with regards to the 
spaciousness that exists between each parcel. He asked each member to take the 
time to view the property to get a better understanding of what everybody is 
speaking about. If those homes are built the Shinzer property will literally be 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 9 

blocked off in regards to where they are and that isn’t right. They thought when 
the property was sold somebody would perhaps tear the existing house down and 
build a larger house or add on to the home. If you were living where they live you 
wouldn’t want to see two homes go there. 

 
4.27 Commissioner Schwab asked the lot widths on the east side of Romona in 

comparison to the 140’ wide subject property. Mr. Adler answered south there are 
three lots around 69’-70’ and one around 74’. North there are lots that are 75’ 82’, 
101’, 100’ and 102’ wide. 

 
4.28 Ms. Lynne Sandman, 738 Romona Road, said the width of the lots on the east 

side of Romona create the uniqueness of this enclave, an enclave that only benefits 
Wilmette. She read the online ads for the house and there was no mention of 
bedroom or baths, the kitchen. It has a very nice kitchen. She was sure that 
decoratively it could be enhanced on the interior. However, the ad for the house 
is talking only about the fact that it could be divided into two new houses and 
nothing is mentioned about a family or a retired couple moving into this one level 
house. How many one level houses on nice wooded lots with friendly neighbors 
are there. She was amazed that she was told that nobody came to look at the house 
but the house wasn’t advertised, the property was.  

 
4.29 Mr. Cass Friedberg, 2834 Birchwood Avenue, said one of the reasons his family 

has enjoyed living in Wilmette where they live is the amount of natural foliage 
that is there. Their objection to the plan is if it is divided into two lots with two 
houses it will destroy a good amount of the trees. If it is kept as one lot, even with 
the house being torn down, anew house could be built retaining some of the 
existing trees. Of course it is the prerogative of the new owner to decide about 
that. They are certainly in favor of the one house instead of the two lot option as 
it would preserve more foliage. 

 
4.30 Ms. Sandman asked if the developer requested zoning changes whereby they 

could make the structure larger. Mr. Adler said no. Ms. Sandman asked if the 
developer could request a variation in the future. Mr. Adler said anybody could 
request a variation but for lots like the ones proposed a variation for a new home 
wouldn’t be granted. 

 
4.31 Commissioner Norrick asked Mr. Adler to clarify that the request was for 

subdivision of one lot into two; and not a rezoning request. Mr. Adler confirmed 
that it is not a rezoning request but a subdivision request.  

 
4.32 Ms. Sandman asked if it could lead to a rezoning request. Mr. Adler said that this 

is not a rezoning request because such a request would be to actually change the 
underlying zoning of the property, which is currently zoned as “single-family”.  
He said that if the developer wanted to request a variation, for example for a 
reduced side yard for new construction, he could but he would inform him that 
the relief would not be granted.  

 
 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 10 

4.33 Mr. Schinzer said they are not a crazy bunch foaming at the mouth as there have 
been new homes and additions built nearby and they have never objected to 
improving the neighborhood but this is a novel lot to begin with. The right solution 
is to put one single-family home on the property. If you look at the home located 
two to three doors down where they saved a huge Oak tree in the front, they did a 
tremendous job with that. Mr. Schinzer said that they have lived there 12 years 
and others 40 years so they know what they are talking about when they talk about 
the fabric of the neighborhood and the quality of the neighborhood. The owner 
has a right to sell her property but there are many different ways to stay within 
what the neighborhood is about without going to such extremes where they are 
worried about the valuation of their property. They will have to manage the 
easement over a year and half construction cycle and no other resident has to do 
that. He encouraged the Commissioners to visit the property and listen to what all 
the neighbors are saying. 

 
4.34 Ms. Rolison spoke and said they have lived all over Wilmette and one of the things 

about west Wilmette is the traffic. She has had to get use to all the noise of Skokie 
Boulevard and Lake Avenue. You also have Romona School and Regina in their 
neighborhood. The addition of those busy intersections, streets, boulevards and 
school traffic means they have an extra need for noise control than east Wilmette 
does. The trees help provide noise abatement. She asked if the plan is totally 
within the zoning laws. Mr. Adler said the subdivision is but they haven’t seen 
the new home plans to confirm that. 

 
4.35 Mr. Greenburg asked what the required front setback was. Mr. Adler said the 

minimum of 25’ or the established setback on that side of the block from Orchard 
to Birchwood. He said the required rear yard is 20% of the lot depth or 32’ for the 
proposed lots. He clarified that the combined side yards need to be 25% of the lot 
width versus 10% for the minimum side yard. 

 
4.36 Commissioner Urban said that the question was asked if the proposed subdivision 

is consistent with the zoning of the neighborhood and the minimum lot width 
requirement of the zoning code is 60’ and 70’ is proposed. The minimum lot area 
is 8,400 square feet and 11,200 square feet is proposed.   

 
4.37 Mr. Schinzer said that is true going south down the road where there are ranch 

houses but not north. Mr. Adler clarified that the Planning and Platting code 
charges the Plan Commission to consider the density and development pattern of 
the neighborhood as defined in the Village’s neighborhood Map. The subject 
neighborhood is bounded by Lake to the north, Locust to the east, Romona to the 
west and the school to the south. Because of this, the Plan Commission cannot 
just consider the lots along Romona Road. 

 
4.38 Mr. Schinzer asked how you will get that square footage allotment without taking 

down around 100 trees. Mr. Adler said you can’t deny something that somebody 
has the right to do. The current property owner has the ability to remove those tree 
if they want. The Village does not have a requirement that those trees remain. Mr. 
Adler explained that the Village has a 35% canopy coverage requirement for new 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 11 

construction and thought asking the applicant their intention with tree removal 
may make sense. Mr. Greenburg asked how the 35% canopy coverage 
requirement affects the proposed plan. Mr. Adler said that even properties with 
very little existing canopy coverage can meet the requirement with new plantings 
and neighboring trees that overhang the property also count towards the 35% 
requirement. 

 
4.39 Ms. Rolison asked who she could talk to regarding raising the 35% requirement. 

Mr. Adler said the tree canopy requirement would have to be amended by the 
Village Board. She asked if the existing trees were not part of the planning 
process. Mr. Adler said maybe if there was a different tree preservation 
requirement but it wouldn’t be the Plan Commission considering that. He said the 
subdivision could still be granted and staff would make sure the tree preservation 
requirements were met as part of the new home permit process. He said that the 
tree canopy coverage requirement will need to be met but we know that shouldn’t 
be difficult on the subject property. 

 
4.40 Chairman Urban said we set zoning and tree canopy requirements on a 

neighborhood basis but also a village-wide basis. While 35% may feel adequate 
in general across the Village, there may be situations like the proposed subdivision 
where it doesn’t feel like enough, but that is  not the way our ordinance is written. 

 
4.41 Mr. Schinzer asked how the proposed construction will be completed. Are they 

going to use the easement where there will be cement trucks on the drive? Mr. 
Schiller said one concrete truck will be used to pour the foundation and another 
the basement floor. Mr. Schinzer asked if they plan on using the access driveway.   
Mr. Schiller answered that they would like to keep as many trees as possible and 
if construction access is blocked with trees, the driveway may be the best way to 
access the property. 

 
4.42 Ms. Mia Schinzer said they need to come and go to work and school and they 

know from doing construction that construction trucks will be coming and going 
for hours, weeks and months on end. She will be really upset having to ask 
construction trucks to move all the time. Mr. Schiller said he knows he isn’t 
allowed to block the access drive but at the beginning of the project is when big 
trucks need to line up and that could cause traffic.  

 
4.43 Mr. Adler said using a proposed new driveway to access the property might make 

sense since the trees will need to be removed for that access anyways. With most 
new homes they are coming off the street in front or an alley. Having access 
through an easement is relatively unusual. However, if the subdivision is approved 
and there is a way to save more trees by using the shared access, discussing that 
before construction starts may make sense.  

 
4.44 Mr. Schinzer said that is a non-starter as they have kids riding up and down the 

driveway. He didn’t think anybody else would ask their neighbor to use their 
driveway to put cement trucks up and down on it. 

 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 12 

4.45 Ms. Schinzer said they have kids riding their bikes to and from school and there 
will be construction workers who they do not know. She does not want to have to 
worry about the safety of her children and that will be a huge issue. 

 
4.46 Commissioner Ghaemi said the driveway is just a driveway and she didn’t know 

how the applicant would manage putting trucks on it without blocking the access. 
 
4.47 Commissioner Schwab said regardless if it was a subdivision or one home 

wouldn’t a developer still have access to that driveway. He didn’t see any 
difference between a single lot and double lot in respect to the driveway issue. 

 
4.48 Commissioner Bailey asked the Schinzers and Mr. Schiller to describe what they 

thought the legal relationship was between the two parcels. He asked who has 
rights and who has responsibilities and where do you derive that. 

 
4.49 Mr. Schiller said he doesn’t currently own the property. He plans to buy the 

property with the same rights as the current owner has. As he understands it, the 
easement is a 24’ wide by 160‘ deep parcel adjacent to the 140’ by 160’ lot and 
provides the right to access 730 Romona by using the driveway as easement; and 
the easement is in the legal description of the property. There is mention of 
needing to maintain the property but he wasn’t sure exactly what that was.  

 
4.50 Mr. Schinzer explained they own the property and that 24’ wide was a bit of a 

stretch. What they have is in and out access over the physical existing driveway. 
For the past 20 years the Gills, who live there, have refused to do any maintenance 
work and it is required in the deed. 

 
4.51 Commissioner Bailey asked where it was in the deed. He didn’t see where it said 

who specifically had to provide the maintenance and if one is maintaining does 
the other have an obligation to contribute. Mr. Schinzer said it has been an 
argumentative relationship over the last 12 years they have lived there and in the 
first 3 years the Gills did absolutely nothing.  

 
4.52 Mr. Schinzer talked about a time when the city flagged 3 trees for Dutch Elm 

disease along the property of the drive in the front of their house and the Gills 
were served by the Village. The Gills never talked to them about it, just returning 
the notice to the Village. The Gills had a lawyer send a letter arguing that they are 
only required to maintain the physical drive itself. If you go there today you will 
see from the Gill’s property forward the weeds are very high because the Gills 
refuse to maintain it. When Mr. Gill was alive Mr. Schinzer agreed to take the 
area from his house to where the Gill driveway begins with the Gills taking 
everything from that point forward. Once Mr. Gill died that went away and that 
was about 3 years ago. It is back to what it was like the first 3 years they lived 
there with the Gills neglecting the property. The Gills will not maintain the land 
itself and once split the cost to repair pot holes in the front. The Gills record of 
maintaining the drive jointly is about as thin as thin can be, next to zero. 

 
 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 13 

4.53 Commissioner Bailey asked if Mr. Schinzer thought the Gills were in violation of 
the agreement and if so, what is the basis for that. Mr. Schinzer said the easement 
is a contract and most law you will see in relation to easement is on the side of the 
servient side, the Gills, which says if the person who owns it blocks it they will 
have recourse against them. The only time he saw it taken from their perspective 
is if the servient side doesn’t hold up their end of the bargain, in this case joint 
maintenance, then it is enforced as any other contract would be enforced. In this 
case they should kick the Gills off the easement because they are in violation of 
what the terms are which is to jointly maintain it. If you go and see the easement 
there is not a lot of question regarding the amount of maintenance the Gills have 
done. 

 
4.54 Commissioner Bailey asked if the proposal was that the easement still exists after 

the subdivision. Mr. Adler said the subdivision did not impact the easement as the 
easement is a private agreement. Commissioner Bailey asked what Mr. Adler 
meant by saying it does not impact the easement, which parcel will have the 
easement. Mr. Adler said in talking with the Village Attorney the easement would 
be able to be used by the adjoining property but the maintenance responsibility 
would be shared with the entire property. Commissioner Bailey was concerned 
that none of that was addressed in the report.  Mr. Adler said the easement is a 
private agreement between two parties. Chairman Urban said it wasn’t really 
within the purview of the Plan Commission. Mr. Adler said the Village was not 
involved in the drafting of the agreement and did not include it in the original 
subdivision of the property. 

 
4.55 Commissioner Bailey asked if Mr. Adler was clear that if a property owner is in 

violation of contract rights with its neighbors we shouldn’t take that into account. 
Mr. Adler said he didn’t know if there was a contract violation and that the Village 
Attorney said this is a private agreement between to property owners. The Village 
was not involved in the negotiation of this. Mr. Adler said it would be like if he 
and Commissioner Bailey lived next door to each other and made some sort of 
agreement, the Village is not going to be part of the agreement. Commissioner 
Bailey said the Village approves the easements. Mr. Adler said no, the Village 
didn’t approve the easement.  

 
4.56 Commissioner Bailey said the Village approved the subdivision into this peculiar 

parcel. Mr. Adler said the subdivision did not require the use of the pole portion 
of the flag lot to access the front lot. 730 Romona Road has access off of Romona 
Road. The Schinzer property is not required to provide access to 730 Romona. 
The access easement could be abandoned and 730 Romona could still be accessed.  

 
4.57 Commissioner Bailey said now it is required, now it is an easement. Mr. Schinzer 

disagreed because he has to provide that land to them for access. Mr. Adler 
clarified the owner of 730 Ramona could abandon the use of the easement and 
access the property directly from Romona. It is his understanding doing so would 
not necessarily relieve the owner of 730 Romona from needing to continue to 
participate in maintenance of the easement per the agreement. It is unfortunate 
that the original parties to the easement agreement didn’t established something 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 14 

more formal maintenance wise. 
 
4.58 Mr. Greenburg felt the language was pretty formal as it states the maintenance 

will be done jointly.  Mr. Adler said the problem is that what constitutes 
maintenance wasn’t defined. 

 
4.59 Mr. Greenburg said the variation ordinance provided for one house in front and 

one house in back and now you are throwing that ordinance out. In 1962 the 
Village passed this ordinance and now the ordinance doesn’t exist by the language 
that is being used. He has not sought legal zoning counsel but the discussion has 
shined more light on the issue. He doesn’t see how the 1962 ordinance doesn’t 
have relevance today so that we can just disregard it. He felt the original ordinance 
needed to be revoked. 

 
4.60 Commissioner Bailey would like clarity on what the relevance of the original 

ordinance was. He doubts that if in 1962 the owner had come in asking to 
subdivide into 3 parcels that it would have been consistent with the ordinance. 
They divided it in a peculiar way 55 years ago, and now there’s a proposal to 
divide it into 3 parcels in a manner which the Village probably would never had 
approved in 1962. Is it up to the Plan Commission to disregard this history or do 
we take it into account? He would like clarification on that from the Village 
Counsel.  

 
4.61 Mr. Adler said the ordinance was included for a reason because it was of interest 

to the request. Staff did have a conversation with the Village Attorney about it. 
The Attorney said there was nothing in the ordinance precluding further 
subdivision of the property. The relief was to allow a 24’ wide flag lot and nothing 
in the ordinance precludes further subdivision of the property.  

 
4.62 Commissioner Bailey said he wasn’t asking if it was precluded but is it an 

appropriate factor to take into consideration. Mr. Adler said in the Village 
Attorney’s opinion it was not and that we needed to look at the two proposed lots 
to see if there was any Village requirement not being met by subdividing the one 
lot into two. Are they meeting the lot width and area requirments? 

 
4.63 Commissioner Bailey said it is not at all clear to him. Mr. Adler said he was asked 

a question and answered based on his conversation with the Village Attorney. 
 
4.64 Commissioner Bailey said the parcels are completely unique because of what the 

Village did 55 years ago. To say it is consistent with the neighborhood or 
adjoining parcels needs to take into account the unusual nature of these two 
particular parcels. He didn’t think it was appropriate to just look at all the other 
parcels. When we look at the subject parcels, isn’t it appropriate to take account 
the history of what the Village did before in permitting this highly unusual parcel 
to be created in the first place. He doesn’t know the answer but doesn’t think you 
can completely disregard the history. 

 
 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 15 

4.65 Chairman Urban asked if today the Village would permit a subdivision that 
allowed the creation of the Schinzer’s lot. Mr. Adler answered no. Chairman 
Urban asked if the Schinzer’s property is the subject of the subdivision. Mr. Adler 
answered it is not. Chairman Urban asked if, per staff’s conversation with the 
Village Attorney, the easement is not under the Plan Commission purview. Mr. 
Adler answered correct, it is not. Chairman Urban asked if commission members 
are being ask to make a decision on a request to subdivde an existing lot into two 
conforming lots. Mr. Adler answered correct. 

 
4.66 Commissioner Bailey asked if the way the Commission responds to Mr. Shinzer’s 

comment about objecting to the way the easement has been maintained is to say 
it is irrelevant. It wasn’t clear to Commissioner Bailey that it isn’t relevant.  

 
4.67 Chairman Urban said it isn’t irrelevant but is a contract between two private 

parties. 
 
4.68 Commissioner Ghaemi said she agreed with Commissioner Bailey. It is a 

continuum, certain events happened and certain events are going to happen. You 
can’t take them in a vacuum and separate them. Whatever decision they made in 
the past affects the decisions they are making now and vice a versa.  She agreed 
that you can’t ignore what the ordinance was and just say today we are sitting here 
and the Village allows this. She viewed the property and it will be a change of 
lifestyle, change of character and it might not be her place but she takes issue with 
people thinking they are going to be making so much off of somebody else’s 
misery. Everybody needs to look at that property. It is not the right solution to 
divide it into two. One is acceptable but they need to keep a lot of the character. 
There will be a lot of inconvenience. For whatever reason there was an agreement 
between two owners to use the driveway. 

 
4.69 Chairman Urban said when the two current owners of the two properties bought 

their respective properties they understood what the contractual obligations were. 
Commissioner Ghaemi agreed but said they bought it with one owner owning the 
entire property and having one house on it. Chairman Urban said she was referring 
to the Schinzer property and the large lot that is the subject of the subdivision. 

 
4.70 Ms. Sandman said there is a history of previous owners of both properties 

respecting the agreement. There is something in real estate law that if the land 
usage is such that it continues to be respected so it can’t just be volleyed over the 
net for the convenience of development. Ignoring something that has been in 
existence for over a generation isn’t progress. It is irresponsible and thoughtless. 

 
4.71 Mr. Schinzer said to Commissioner's Bailey’s point that if you don’t take in to 

consideration the history and how the lots are defined, you are forcing him as a 
Wilmette resident to go to court to say the agreement now is null and void because 
the Village has decided to zone it so they can have two properties. The definition 
of the relationship between the two properties and the easement incorporates the 
survey which has their lot in front and his lot in back, there is no subdivision of 
lots. If the subdivision is allowed the Schinzers are being forced to either 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 16 

accommodate somebody’s real estate venture by allowing somebody else’s access 
to the easement and all the construction that will come with it. It also puts him in 
the position to have to enforce the rights of his property and to keep its value they 
will need to go to court and ask a judge to make an interpretation because the city 
has decided to rezone the property. The judge will need to determine if the 
agreement can or cannot be enforced moving ahead. 

 
4.72 Commissioner Bailey couldn’t understand how it is appropriate for the 

Commission to not consider the real property rights of theses property owners. He 
questioned what happens when the property is subdivided. Does the easement still 
exist? Does it exist for parcel one and parcel two? Does extraordinary action need 
to be taken to resolve this? Nothing in the report addresses those questions. The 
parties seem to have different views about what the easement is all about. To him 
the easement while created by the parties was incident to an action the Village 
took 55 years ago to create this highly unusual parcel. To him the fact that these 
two parcels are configured in this unusual way makes this a lot different than the 
subdivision that was recently reviewed by the Commission where there wasn’t 
this unusual property around it or this peculiar history or easement maintenance 
dispute. Many of these questions are not addressed at all in the report. His view is 
that he cannot vote in favor unless these matters are more fully explained 

 
4.73 Chairman Urban asked if we know if the easement in fact was arrived at as a result 

of the original subdivision. Mr. Adler said it was not part of the original 
subdivision but you can see when it was recorded which was right around the 
same time the subdivision was done. Because of this it appears there was a desire 
to not reestablish how 730 Romona would access their property. If they didn’t 
establish the easement, 730 would have had to install a new driveway off  Romona 
Road. He didn’t know why it wasn’t part of the subdivision plat but the parties 
probably decided it made more sense to have one access. 

 
4.74 Mr. Adler said the subdivision code now specifically precludes flagged shaped 

lots unless relief is granted. He mentioned a subdivision that was never developed 
that had a flagged shaped lot, and in that case, the access easement was included 
on the approved subdivision plat.  

 
4.75 Mr. Schinzer explained why the easement came about for these properties. He 

said that the house in front, being the existing house, already had the drive. He 
felt if they changed the driveway they would have had to change how the garage 
is accessed. Providing the easement was the easiest way to do it. He said the 
easement agreement had been adhered to for almost 60 years. The easement is 
now a bad deal for him as he is the one that gets cited if weeds are too tall and he 
is liable for what happens on the easement. They are at the meeting using their 
voice to say it is not going to happen and there are many reasons why.  

 
4.76 Ms. Greenburg asked about the use of the driveway and aren’t the Schinzers 

entitled to protection from these drastic changes that are going to leave them 
perhaps entirely responsible for maintaining this long driveway. Mr. Adler said if 
this was a developer wanting to build one house and they decided to come off  



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 17 

Romona Road with a new drive we would have the same issue and there would 
be absolutely no involvement by the Village. There is a disagreement currently 
regarding the easement maintenance and the Village is not involved in that. If 
during construction the easement is blocked the Village can get involved because 
it is involved in the issuance of the construction permit. He mentioned that even 
public alleys might be blocked temporarily during construction. 

 
4.77 A question was asked if the subdivision impacts the joint maintenance agreement. 

Mr. Adler said that the Village isn’t saying that whatever is required by the 
agreement won’t be required after the subdivision. He said the Schinzers may 
have difficulty with future property owner just as they are having with the current 
property owner. 

 
4.78 Mr. Schinzer said they understand it is a contract and they have to manage that 

with the other parties. Their biggest concern is once you start allowing it, we as 
citizens have to do something and you don’t do that to any other citizen of 
Wilmette. There is that one off-ness they feel. They know it will change the 
property value of their house tremendously if the Village allows what is going to 
happen with fences 14’ way from their front yard. They may say they won’t do it 
but the next people 20 years down the road will say it is allowed.  

 
4.79 Commissioner Bailey said that even if the property isn’t subdivided the current 

owner has the right to put up a fence. Mr. Adler agreed. Mr. Schinzer said that a 
6’ high fence couldn’t be installed there because the house is oriented towards the 
easement. Mr. Adler clarified that the easement does not constitute a public way 
and that the only area they would precluded from installing a 6.5’ fence today 
would be the required front yard off of Romona Road. If the current owner wants 
to put up a 6.5’ high fence out of the required front yard there is nothing stopping 
them as a private access easement does not preclude somebody from doing that.  

 
4.80 Ms. Schinzer said it is 730 Romona's back yard but her front yard. Mr. Adler 

clarified that for the purposes of zoning the front yard of the Schinzer’s property 
is the portion of property that fronts Romona Road and that a private access 
easement does not prevent a 6.5' tall fence from being installed.  

 
4.81 Mr. Schinzer said they would argue that point until their dying breath. Mr. 

Schinzer said the Village would be lessening the value of their property like no 
other property in the Village. Mr. Adler said there are other flagged shaped lot in 
the Village where this condition exists. Mr. Schinzer reiterated that he will not let 
that happen. 

 
4.82 Commissioner Bailey asked if Mr. Schinzer was talking about a fence along the 

side of the easement. Chairman Urban clarified that because the Schinzer’s house 
is oriented towards Romona Road, a fence on 730 Romona between the two 
properties would be 18’ from the Schinzer’s front door. Commissioner Bailey said 
that doesn’t have anything to do with the Plan Commission as that could be done 
with a single parcel currently.  

 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 18 

4.83 Commissioner Bailey can see how this subdivision raises a number of questions 
about what this easement means that are not resolved. When you divide the 
property do both parcels have rights to the easement? Do both have 
responsibilities? That is not addressed. He doesn’t think that is an irrelevant matter 
because you are putting the property owners in the difficult situation which may 
be different than their understanding when the easement was created. That is 
relevant but the fence isn’t because a fence can be installed in any event regardless 
of the subdivision. 

 
4.84 Commissioner Norrick said it would be nice if the parties could voluntarily work 

out an agreement regarding the easement. 
 
4.85 Mr. Greenburg asked if the previous ordinance needed to be repealed or is it 

repealed by operation of the new subdivision. Mr. Adler said the Village Attorney 
did not comment on the ordinance needing to be repealed. Mr. Greenburg said 
there is a certain process for repealing ordinances and somebody should look at 
that. Mr. Adler said the 1962 ordinance granted relief for the width of the rear 
property (currently owned by the Schinzers) so there is nothing in that ordinance 
that would prevent the subdivision of the lot in front of that property, or nothing 
that makes this request different than other routine subdivisions the Plan 
Commission reviews. 

 
4.86 Commissioner Bailey said the 1962 subdivision changed the neighborhood. This 

funny parcel is part of the neighborhood that the Commission needs to take into 
account. It should not just disregard this parcel in this exercise. 

  
4.87 Mr. Schinzer said it wasn’t just two people making a real estate transaction back 

in 1958. The reason why there was enough land back there is because Birchwood 
Avenue bends. It was done with the Villages acknowledgment of what was going 
on. Chairman Urban and Mr. Adler agreed that the Village did approve the 
previous subdivision. 

 
4.88 Mr. Schinzer said the Village Attorney seemed to be on a fishing expedition for - 

well it didn’t say you can’t build public swimming pools over there so let’s just 
pass it. He knows he is stretching it but he thinks the attorney is stretching it as 
well. 

 
4.89 Commissioner Bailey said what he felt was missing is that there are some legal 

issues related to the request that are relevant to their determination which aren’t 
addressed in the report. The Corporation Counsel’s opinion has just been 
presented informally. He thought there needed to be some higher level of 
formality on how this is worked out. He also would like clarification to what 
extent it is appropriate in their consideration to consider the ordinance that was 
approved in 1962. Yes it was 55 years ago but it is an action that the Village took 
and he has a hard time believing if back than the additional lot was requested that 
it would have been approved that way. Maybe that is irrelevant but what he knows 
isn’t irrelevant is that this unusual parcel is part of the neighborhood when we are 
considering the character of the neighborhood. 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 19 

4.90 Chairman Urban asked Mr. Adler if the request should be put to a vote or should 
it be continued to get some clarity. Mr. Adler said that question should be asked 
of the applicant. If the request is continued it would be until the first Tuesday in 
August. He explained that if continued we can see about having the Village 
Attorney attend that meeting or if the question is called the Village Attorney will 
be at Village Board meeting. Mr. Schiller asked about process at the Village Board 
meeting. It was explained that the applicant and interested parties will be able to 
address the Village Board. The Village Board may have questions for applicant, 
neighbors or staff.  

 
4.91 Peg O’Halloran, 1831 Walnut Avenue, real estate agent for the property, 

explained that the property owner asked that the property be advertised only for 
the land and that is why the description didn’t contain information on the house. 
She said that access easements can’t be parked on or blocked and she felt Mr. 
Schiller was well aware of that. The easement is not going to change no matter 
what happens so she doesn’t understand why it is part of the Commission’s 
decision. 

 
4.92 Mr. Schinzer said the easement also includes that land around it, which the Gills 

have not supported for the past 20 years so to think a truck is going to stay on a 
very narrow drive is naive. That they should just believe that the next owners are 
going to just go through the joint maintenance agreement like the Gills did so well 
would be fool hearty on his part. They know the problems with the easement 
because they have lived them for 12 years. Now they are asked to accommodate 
a real estate speculator to put up 2 new residences and to think that it is going to 
be a better situation for him, he didn’t think so. 

 
4.93 Chairman Urban asked Mr., Schiller what his preference was. Mr. Schiller asked 

for an opportunity to talk with Ms. O’Halloran about requesting a continuance or 
not. 

 
4.94 Mr. Friedberg asked about the Plan Commission vote. Mr. Adler said four 

members would have to vote “yes” for the subdivision for it to be a positive 
recommendation and that the vote would be taken tonight if the applicant asks for 
a vote. 

 
4.95 Mr. Schiller wanted to clarify somethings that might have been misconstrued. In 

regards to side yard setback they see having 7.5’ minimum on each side or 15’ 
between buildings. He clarified he was talking about a 7.5’ setback to the south 
property line adjoining the Greenburg property plus whatever setback distance it 
is to the Greenburg house. 

 
4.96 Mr. Sandman asked what the space between the two proposed homes would be. 

Mr. Schiller answered at least 15’. 
 
4.97 Mr. Schiller said on the north the drive easement is 24’ wide and the minimum 

setback they need to maintain is 7’, so there should be a minimum of 35’ between 
homes.  



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 20 

4.98 Mr. Schiller asked how many votes were needed for the subdivision to receive a 
positive recommendation. Mr. Adler answered four “yes” votes. 

 
4.99 Mr. Schiller would like to work something out with the easement. They are 

looking to improve the property and it sounds like it hasn’t been maintained. 
 
4.100 Mr. Sandman said Mr. Schinzer indicated that his property value would be 

negatively impacted by the requested subdivision. He asked if Mr. Schiller would 
be able to say what the homes would be priced at if two homes are eventually 
allowed to be constructed. Mr. Schiller said over a million dollars each.  

 
4.101 Mr. Schiller said he heard about the objection to the fence but he believes 

improving the values of these lots would raise the value of houses around it. He 
didn’t think one could make an argument that the fence itself will devalue the 
house itself when there could be a net effect of an increase that is greater than that 
of the fence. It might not be something the Shinzers are looking for but he didn’t 
think the value of their house would go down.  

 
4.102 Mr. Schinzer said he doesn’t see anybody building fences around their own house 

to increase the value of their property so he thought it was a strong argument when 
no one else is doing it. They will be clearly looking out their front window at a 6’ 
fence. 

 
4.103 Mr. Greenburg asked how the applicant would deal with the trees. Mr. Schiller 

said he would like to maintain as many trees as possible as that would help when 
they go to sell the property. The houses have not been designed yet but they would 
like to keep as many old growth or large trees as possible.  

 
4.104 Mr. Schiller said there are a lot of plants that aren’t very desirable including 

Buckthorn.   
 
4.105 Mr. Schinzer asked about the timeline for the construction of the two houses. Mr. 

Schiller said depending on how they stagger them one house takes anywhere from 
8-12 months but they haven’t decided if they will do one at a time or both together. 
Mr. Schinzer asked if realistically it could take 1.5 years. Mr. Schiller said yes but 
it could depend on how the sale of the first house goes. 

 
4.106 Mr. Sandman asked if Mr. Schiller has built other homes in the area. Mr. Schiller 

answered yes, about 5 houses in the immediate area including 2711 Orchard, 425 
Sunset, 342 Beverly, 2522 Greenleaf and 2539 Greenleaf. A more recent house 
was at 626 Forest Road in Glenview. 

 
4.107 Commissioner Norrick asked if the Commission could place conditions on the 

approval. Mr. Adler said yes, if the applicant is willing to accept the conditions. 
Commissioner Norrick asked if the applicant would be willing to accept 
conditions on the improvement of the easement. Mr. Schiller said it seems that 
there are two sides to this. He is hearing that everybody loves the way the property 
looks but also a big problem is that the property doesn’t look good or isn’t 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 21 

maintained. Commissioner Norrick said it appears it is the driveway easement not 
being maintained. Mr. Schiller said they are looking to purchase the property with 
the same rights as the current owner purchased it with.  

 
4.108 Mr. Schinzer said if Mr. Schiller wants the easement it will need to be rewritten 

because the way it is written it has been run over by the past owner. They need to 
decide whether to go to court to have the existing owner kicked off the easement 
because of neglect. Because they have lived with the neglect the last 12 years there 
will need to be something more documented. 

 
4.109 Commissioner Urban said that it seems like all of the points people want to make 

have been made. There are two ways to go. One path is to continue the request to 
give Mr. Adler time to talk with the Village Attorney to get some answers to 
questions raised and give time to discuss with the neighbors their concerns. The 
second path is to call for a vote and proceed to the Village Board. In the interim 
the Village Attorney will hear from Mr. Adler and understand what was discussed 
at the meeting. Mr. Schiller asked for the Plan Commission to vote on the request.  

 
4.110 Chairman Urban closed public testimony. 
 

5.0 VIEWS EXPRESSED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION 
     
5.10 Commissioner Schwab said the Plan Commission has limited purview as the 

Chair mentioned. Their purview is limited to whether the subdivision is consistent 
with the village ordinances. The proposed lots are conforming. The trees and 
easement are not part of the Commission’s purview. While they are issues that 
they should potentially take into consideration they are properly taken up at the 
Village Board meeting and not before the Plan Commission, which has a limited 
purview. He is in favor of the proposal because of the limited nature of the 
Commission’s role. 

 
5.11 Commissioner Bailey is struck by the very unusual nature of the request and his 

personal view is in light of its unusual nature he isn’t necessarily opposed to the 
subdivision but he thinks there are a number of questions that have not been 
answered. In particular it is not all clear to him that the Commission’s purview is 
as limited as Commissioner Schwab suggests. Zoning says it requires the lot to be 
consistent with the density, which appears to be met, and the existing pattern of 
development. The existing pattern of development is something the Commission 
should take into account. This unusual parcel is part of the existing pattern of 
development and is subdividing this consistent with this parcel, which after all is 
part of the neighborhood and is the part most directly impacted.  

 
5.12 Commissioner Bailey said the idea that the Village wasn’t involved in the 

easement is not clear to him. He didn’t think this unusual parcel could have been 
created without the expectation that the easement would have been there. The 
Village would not have permitted it unless there was some understanding that 
there would have been an easement. By approving this the Village would basically 
be creating a dispute between the neighbors in this area. It is not clear to him that 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 22 

the easement isn’t within the Commission’s purview. He thinks it is particularly 
important because the dispute relates to the property rights that are concerned with 
these parcels. It is not like an independent contract, an easement is a property right 
that runs with the land and with these parcels.  He isn’t clear to what extent the 
Village’s prior actions should be taken into as a factor and that is something he 
would like further clarification on from Corporation Counsel. It seems that the 
Village’s course of conduct, even if separated by 55 years, is appropriate to take 
into consideration account particularly because the Village in some respect 
created this highly unusual situation. He isn’t necessarily opposed to the request 
but to be responsible to the community he needs more answers to these questions 
before he could approve the request. 

 
5.13 Commissioner Ghaemi said she is opposed to the request. She visited the property. 

The easement is an issue to her for the same reasons Commissioner Bailey 
mentioned. Taking one piece of property where everybody’s expectations were 
that one house would reside there and turning it into two structures that she hears 
are going to be over a million dollars each is beyond the density in that 
neighborhood. As a Plan Commission their job is to plan and in her heart she can’t 
vote yes as her issue is beyond the easement.   

 
5.14 Commissioner Norrick said like Commissioner Bailey she is concerned about 

some of the unknowns and would like clarification and that is causing her to not 
be able to vote yes.  

 
5.15 Chairman Urban said this is an unusual situation with an unusually shaped lot 

behind the subdivision but in her heart of hearts she believe the Schinzers bought 
the property understanding the unusual circumstances of their home and with their 
eyes wide open as to the existence of an easement related to their property. She 
would agree that the Village today wouldn’t approve a flagged shaped lot today 
but that doesn’t change the fact that historically the Village did. She agrees with 
Commissioner Schwab that the Commission’s purview is limited to whether the 
subdivision conforms with the Village’s codes and it does and the numbers cited 
in the report suggest that it also conforms to the prevailing character of the 
neighborhood in terms of lot area and lot width and she will be voting in favor of 
the request. 

 
 6.0 DECISION   

 
6.1 Commissioner Norrick moved to recommend granting a request for tentative plat 

approval of a two-lot subdivision at 730 Romona Road in accordance with the 
plat, with the condition that the existing house be removed prior to the final plat 
being recorded. 

    
 6.11 Commissioner Schwab seconded the motion. 
 
 
 
 



Case 2017-P-03 
730 Romona Road 

 

 23 

6.12 The vote was as follows: 
 
 Maria Choca Urban, Chairman Yes 
 Michael Bailey   No 
 Homa Ghaemi    No      
 Christine Norrick   No 
 Steven Schwab   Yes 
 Jeffrey Head    Absent 
 Michael Taylor   Absent 
   
  Motion failed.  The subject request will be on the July 25, 2017 Village Board 

agenda.  
 
 6.2 Commissioner Bailey moved to authorize the Chairman to prepare the report and 

recommendation for the Plan Commission for case number 2017-P-03.   
 
 6.21 Commissioner Norrick seconded the motion and the voice vote was all ayes 

and no nays.   
 

7.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

 The Plan Commission did not make a recommendation to approve tentative plat approval 
of a two-lot subdivision at 730 Romona Road.   

 
 The Plan Commission concluded its public hearing and by unanimous motion authorized 

the creation of this report and the transmission of the case to the Village Board for further 
action. By custom, the Plan Commission’s failure to recommend approval of the 
application is treated as a recommendation to deny. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



1.0



1.1

adlerj
Rectangle



R1-A

1.2

adlerj
Typewritten Text

adlerj
Rectangle



1.3



1.4





1.5

adlerj
Rectangle



1.61.6



2.1



2.8





From: cschinzer
To: Adler, John
Cc: Mia Toy Schinzer
Subject: Easement 730 romona
Date: Wednesday, June 28, 2017 3:03:46 PM

Hi john - here is a copy of the warranty deed establishing the easement with 730 and 732
romona.  

Please note this document includes a survey defining lot 1 (730) and lot 2 (732).

Of note, the paragraph detailing ingress/egress rights over the existing driveway with the
stipulation the parties jointly maintain the premises is the substance of the legal relationship.

Issues which are problematic:  rezoning lot 1 into 2 lots would change the survey definition of
lot 1.

Lot 1 has refused to maintain land portion of easement in word and action.

Lot 1 has stated they will only provide driveway maintenance AFTER the property is sold
WITH conditions on lot 2.  This quid pro quo arrangement is not acceptable and does not meet
the standard of an enforceable contract.

Further, rezoning of lot 1 would allow a future home to face Romona Road and would then
allow the owners of lot 1 to build a 6 foot fence within 16 feet of our front yard.  This would
dramatically alter the value of our property.

Note we will appear at the July 6 meeting and state our case opposing the rezoning initiative.

Thx!

Chas Schinzer

Sent via the Samsung Galaxy Note5, an AT&T 4G LTE smartphone

2.9

mailto:cschinzer@comcast.net
mailto:adlerj@wilmette.com
mailto:miatoy@comcast.net




REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION AGENDA ITEM: 3.10

Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT: Resolution Authorizing Reimbursement of the General Fund by Bond 
Proceeds 

MEETING DATE: July 25, 2017 

FROM: Michael Braiman, Assistant Village Manager 

None 

Recommended Motions 

Move to adopt Resolution #2017-R-19 declaring the Village of Wilmette’s official intent to 
reimburse certain capital expenditures from the proceeds of future debt issues.  

Background 

The FY 2017 Budget includes the following General Fund capital improvements to be funded 
by bond proceeds: 

Project FY 2017 Budget 

Public Works yard improvements $3,380,000 

Village Hall Roof Replacement $630,000 

Village Hall HVAC Replacement $200,000 

Police Radio Network Replacement $500,000 

Police Station Generator Replacement $135,000 

Total $4,845,000 

Discussion 

The Village intends to issue debt for the aforementioned projects later this fall. Several of the 
contracts have already been approved by the Village Board, and work is underway. Until the 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

Village Manager’s Office

mailto:braimanm@wilmette.com


Page 2 of 2 AGENDA ITEM: 3.10

Village issues the related debt, the ongoing work will need to be funded by General Fund 
reserves. As of July 25, 2017, the Village has expended $172,586.61 on these capital projects. 
Resolution #2017-R-19 will permit these monies to be reimbursed to the General Fund by the 
bond proceeds. 

Budget Impact 

The Fiscal Year 2017 Budget allocated funding for these projects as listed on page one of this 
report.  

Documents Attached 

1. Resolution 2017-R-19



RESOLUTION NO.  2017-R-19 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING THE VILLAGE OF WILMETTE’S OFFICIAL 

INTENT TO REIMBURSE CERTAIN CAPITAL EXPENDITURES FROM THE 

PROCEEDS OF FUTURE DEBT ISSUES 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and the Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Wilmette as follows: 

The purpose of this resolution, is to satisfy the “Official Intent Requirement” of Treasury 

Regulations Section 1.150-2.  The Village of Wilmette, Illinois (the “Village”) has determined to 

undertake the capital improvement projects described in this resolution and to expend funds to pay the 

costs of such capital improvement projects. 

The Village Facility Repair Project which include: 

(i) roof replacement at Village Hall 

(ii) HVAC replacement for Village Hall; and 

(iii) public works yard improvements; and 

(iv) police radio network replacement; and 

(v) police station generator replacement; 

all at an estimated aggregate cost of $5,000,000. 

Section 2. The Village expects to make payments for a portion of the aforementioned 

Village Facility Repair Project from the Village’s General Fund and further, reasonably expects to be 

reimbursed for such expenditures with the proceeds of bonds to be issued by the Village.  The maximum 

principal amount of debt expected to be issued for the reimbursement of such expenditures is 

$2,100,000.00 and the entire project estimated cost is $5,000,000. 

Section 3. This declaration of official intent is consistent with the budgetary and financial 

circumstances of the Village. 

Section 4. A copy of this resolution shall be filed immediately in the office of the Village 

Clerk and shall be made available for public inspection in the manner required by law. 



-2- 
US_100048659v2_204403-00014 7/19/2017 8:13 PM 

Section 5. This resolution shall be operative and effective upon its passage. 

Adopted this 25th day of July, 2017 

(SEAL) 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Deputy Village Clerk 



7/22/15 Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 1 of 10 

   1200 Wilmette Avenue 
  WILMETTE, IL  60091 

Engineering  (847) 853-7660 
Department  Fax (847) 853-7701 

MEETING MINUTES 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 15, 2016 
7:00 P.M. 

SECOND FLOOR TRAINING ROOM OF VILLAGE HALL 

Members Present: Commissioner Brendan McCarthy 
Commissioner Susan Barton 
Commissioner Libby Braband 
Commissioner Isaac Gaetz 
Commissioner Jill Hayes 

Members Absent: Chairman Pat Lilly  
Commissioner Michael Taylor 

Staff Present: Brigitte Berger-Raish, P.E., Director of Engineering and     
Public Works 
Russell Jensen, P.E., Village Engineer  
Brian King, Police Chief   

Guests Present: Peter Lemmon, P.E., Kimley Horn & Assoc. 
Garth Gustafson, 15 Prairie Avenue 
Gretchen Cappiello, 801 15th Street 
Mario Scozia, 1210 Lake Avenue 
Jon Marshall, 822 Prairie Avenue 
Lorene Thomas, 2228 Elmwood Avenue 
Lauren Barlow, 2118 Elmwood Avenue 

I. CALL TO ORDER. 

Commissioner McCarthy called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. and welcomed 
those in attendance.   

Agenda Item: 3.11



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 2 of 10 

 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES; TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION MEETING OF 
MARCH 9, 2016. 

 
Commissioner McCarthy directed the Commission’s attention to the draft minutes 
of the Transportation Commission meeting of March 9, 2016.  No comments 
were offered.  Commissioner Braband moved approval of the minutes.  The 
motion as seconded by Commissioner Gaetz.                 .  The motion was 
approved by a unanimous voice vote.  
 

III. APPROVAL OF THE 2016/2017 SCHOOL CROSSING GUARD REPORT 
PRESENTED BY THE POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 
Police Chief King, presented the annual school crossing guard report which did 
not recommend any changes for the 2016 / 2017 school year.    
 
Commissioner Hayes moved to keep the crossing guard schedule the  same 
for school year 2016 / 2017.  The motion was seconded by  Commissioner 
Barton.  The motion was approved by unanimous voice  vote.   
 

IV. 2015-2016 TRAFFIC CALMING SUMMARY 
 
Village Engineer, Russ Jensen, presented the summary of eligible traffic calming 

candidates conducted since the fall of 2015 to the present, based on requests 

from constituents for consideration. There have been about 20 requests for 

studies initiated by residents, via our website. Staff conducts studies noting traffic 

volumes, speed and traffic accident history to determine if these locations are 

eligible for traffic calming.  In the distributed packet is a list of eligible candidate 

locations: 100 block of Prairie Avenue, 1900-2200 blocks of Kenilworth Avenue, 

1900-2000 blocks of Thornwood Avenue, 1900-2200 blocks of Elmwood Avenue, 

2000 block of Greenwood Avenue, 300 block of Sunset Drive, 2000 block of 

Schiller Avenue and the 800 block of Park Avenue.  

Mr. Jensen indicated traffic calming locations are eligible to move forward as 

stand-alone projects, however budget funding has not been provided since the 

2008 recession.  The other means to move them forward has occurred in 

conjunction with road construction.  If the eligible candidate receives resident 

consent and a recommendation of the Transportation Commission, they are 

incorporated into the road program without the need for separate funding.  Also 

included in the packet is information for identifying road program eligibility.   

   

Director of Engineering and Public Works, Brigitte Berger-Raish advised that 

because the Village Board has not approved a separate line item budget for 

traffic calming for FY 2017, that doesn’t mean that next year they won’t. Right 



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 3 of 10 

 

now the sole funding mechanism is rolling the traffic calming measure into the 

road program, which could change next year. It was a difficult budget year and 

the Village Board focused more on roads and sewers, rather than discretionary 

spending.   

Commissioner McCarthy asked when the Village notifies the residents that a 

street may be re-established as a brick street.  

Mr. Jensen responded that the Village reaches out to residents generally the 

year before construction as staff programs the street in the program. 

Lorene Thomas, 2228 Elmwood, asked what types of traffic calming devices are 

available. 

Mr. Jensen responded that examples include speed bumps, lane striping, curb 

bump-outs and lane meandering. A lot of calming effects are visually driven.  

Ms. Berger-Raish advised that signage and striping and moving parking around 

are more economical options.  The more structural the measure the more 

expensive – e.g. needing to hire a contractor to move curb.  

Ms. Thomas, 2228 Elmwood, said she has seen a huge increase in traffic when 

the configuration on Lake Avenue changed and a couple other changes nearby. 

Can we put a sign saying no-right-turn during certain hours to help alleviate the 

congestion for SB traffic on Ridge onto Lake?  

Ms. Berger-Raish responded that traffic has to go somewhere, so restricting 

traffic on Elmwood will likely push traffic to the north. We can look at the whole 

neighborhood solution for Kenilworth Gardens because it’s certainly all tied 

together. The Commission would not recommend restricting turning movements 

without understanding the impacts to the surrounding neighborhood.  

Ms. Thomas recommended to redirect the traffic anyway because they’ve been 

dealing with this traffic for over 10 years. Our street isn’t a neighborhood street 

any longer, it feels more of a through-street.  

Commissioner Barton said that Elmwood does stand out as having a very high 

85th percentile speed. Have we done any targeted enforcement? 

Chief King thought the Lake and Ridge intersection may be targeted for re-

engineering.  

Ms. Berger-Raish advised there are no plans for intersection changes to Lake 

and Ridge.   



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 4 of 10 

 

Ms. Thomas asked if there’s something we can do to prevent neighbors from 

parking all over the place and to keep traffic from driving down the street. Any 

suggestion that’s not a re-configuration of the street or new signage?  

Chief King indicated the volume of traffic is a bigger issue than speed. 

Mr. Jensen advises that traffic studies are done during weekdays for 3 days in a 

row to determine peak issues which are typical of morning and evening rush 

hour. 

Chief King indicated in terms of the speed, he asked for the data and it shows a 

very large number of vehicles travelling over 75 mph which means the sensors 

may have malfunctioned.  We can put sensors down in the spring and to obtain 

better readings. 

Commissioner Hayes inquired about striping the parking lanes. Visually, striping 

creates a narrowing effect which can slow traffic.  

Ms. Thomas asked the Village to do what it can in a cost-effective manner to 

make it safer. There are families with little kids on our street. 

Ms. Lauren Barlow, 2118 Elmwood, asked a question to the Police Chief 

regarding ticketing speeding offenders. She wanted to follow up because she has 

not heard back from Police. What do those sensors do? 

Police Chief Brian King advises said the sensors track car volume and speed.  

Road sensors are more successful to do a survey on the road, whereas the 

trailer is more visible enforcement.  We are going to do something in the interim 

based on peaks and we will do some targeted enforcement to start the 

perception so drivers slow down. 

Garth Gustafson, 157 Prairie, has been on Prairie over 25 years and has seen a 

lot of changes. Traffic volume gets worse every year, particularly when Green 

Bay Road was reconfigured and during the rush hours. Traffic lights along Green 

Bay Road exasperate the problem. He sees traffic coming down Prairie from 

Park to get around Green Bay Road to avoid those 2 traffic lights and continue 

southbound or northbound.  Primarily it is worse at night. His question is can the 

Village alleviate the project by changing the traffic light pattern? 

Ms. Berger-Raish said that it’s actually better than it was. We received a federal 

grant to redo the signals at Lake, Central and Wilmette in 2009.  The signal 

timing was changed to be more efficient.  We had to get an order through the 

Illinois Commerce Commission to get the signals re-timed because the signals 

are coordinated with the railroad. 



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 5 of 10 

 

Mr. Gustafson said we should close off streets like Prairie to eliminate cut-

through traffic. We could do the same at Park and farther west because people 

look for ways to save time. He asked if we would consider cameras and signs 

(e.g. no right turn on red), and this should alleviate some of the problem to give 

us back our neighborhood streets again.   

Police Chief King said he has observed cut-through traffic in that neighborhood 

because people are trying to avoid the train. Most of the violators are from the 

neighborhood. He indicated the violation rate today is lower than it used to be 

prior to 2009.  

Commissioner Gaetz said he used to live in Old Town, Chicago, where streets do 

not follow the Chicago grid.  The result is there aren’t many people cutting 

through the streets in that neighborhood. It does seem to work. 

A brief discussion ensued regarding the operation of the traffic signals on Green 

bay Road.  

V. TRAFFIC CONTROL AT THE INTERSECTION OF LAKE AVENUE AND 12TH 

STREET 

Mr. Jensen indicated the Village received a resident request to re-review traffic 

control (specifically a 4-way stop) at the intersection of Lake Avenue and 12th 

Street.  The previous request was made in 2013 which also was for a 4-way stop.  

The Village engaged Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc. (TADI) who determined the 

all-way stop control warrant criteria was not met.  These findings were presented 

to the Transportation Commission at their meeting on June 23, 2014, and the 

Transportation Commission consensus was to improve striping in the area and 

look at some pedestrian improvements in the area.   

The Village retained the services of Kimley-Horn and Associates to evaluate the 

traffic control and roadway configuration options for the intersection of 12th 

Street and Lake Avenue and Lake Avenue from the railroad tracks east to 

Wilmette Avenue.  Mr. Peter Lemmon of Kimley-Horn is here to present his 

findings.  

Mr. Lemmon said he reviewed the traffic count data from this past year and re-

checked the warrants to see if the volumes met the different criteria for an all-way 

stop. The volumes do not meet the criteria to satisfy the warrant requirements. 

They also looked at crash history and whether an all-way stop or traffic signal 

would have resulted in fewer accidents.   

We began to identify some of the key issues and came up with some ideas. He 

showed a diagram to the attendees.  Currently, there is approximately 21 feet in 



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 6 of 10 

 

each direction to create 4 lanes.  In the new concept, the 4 lanes would be 

merged to 2 lanes at the intersection of 12th. This effectively starts to slow down 

traffic due to the narrowness.   

Commissioner McCarthy mentioned that consolidation of the Green Bay trail and 

separate pedestrian crossings across Lake Ave. at 13th Street into one crossing 

might be better if the traffic lanes are narrowed from two to one.  

Mario Scozia, 1210 Lake, said he lived here for 27 years and after the work on 

the Edens Expressway, everyone found Lake Ave. to be a shortcut. Most drivers 

aren’t Wilmette residents. He does not want to add a traffic light. A problem 

already exists west-bound by the RR tracks as it narrows down and it’s a 

nightmare in the morning.  A stop sign solution may be better.  

Mr. Lemmon said going westbound, merging into the one lane is probably within 

100-150’ past the BP station where everyone is trying to get down to one lane. 

We have 475’ there to complete this transition.  

Commissioner Braband commented this is a low-cost solution.  There’s street 

parking in front of a townhome area which is new on Lake Street.  

Mr. Lemmon said the parking will slow traffic down. The 45-to-1 taper is based on 

speed, which is an IDOT standard.  The eastbound narrowing goes down to an 

11’ travel lane. The westbound side will remain the same to prevent vehicle 

stacking. Most (80-85%) traffic is using the center lane anyway, and the queue 

forms up mostly in the inside lane first.  

Commissioner Hayes inquired about turns from eastbound Lake to 12th Street.  

Mr. Lemmon said that during his observations, on occasion right hand turns 

needed to yield to a pedestrian crossing 12th Street.  For traffic turning left, there 

were fewer conflicts observed with pedestrians.  

Commissioner McCarthy asked for any other thoughts from the Commission. 

Ms. Berger-Raish said that if the Commission recommends to move forward on 

an incremental basis to do striping, we would send letters with diagrams to the all 

the impacted neighbors. It’s not that expensive, but it’s more than our 2017 

budget allows. However, we can recommend to approve the additional costs in 

2017 without waiting another calendar year.  

Commissioner Braband made a motion for staff to propose the Lake Avenue 

road diet striping plan to the Municipal Services Committee for funding and 

implementation in 2017. Commissioner Barton seconded.  The motion was 

approved by unanimous voice vote.  



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 7 of 10 

 

 
VI. TRAFFIC CONTROL AT THE INTERSECTION OF 15TH STREET AND PRAIRIE 

AVENUE / SPENCER AVENUE 
 
Mr. Jensen said that the intersection has east-west control. The request is for a 

four-way stop.  Some concerns brought up by the residents about the previous 

review and study include a lot of pedestrian traffic was unaccounted for because 

of the park and previous counts had not taken into account the high pedestrian 

activity during the weekends. Again, staff asked Kimley Horn to look at the 

information collected so far and to give us recommendations – should we 

consider a 4-way stop or something else? Staff completed a 6-day count 

(Tuesday through Sunday) to get the vehicle counts over a weekend. Kimley 

Horn supplemented the vehicle counts with pedestrian counts for merging 

purposes and to assess if the combination was more significant. The merged 

volumes do not warrant a 4-way stop at the intersection. At this point, the 

recommendation is not to change the existing traffic control. 

Commissioner Hayes said the previous counts were from November. She heard 

from several residents that November isn’t representative of the issue of concern. 

The Village counts should include September or October when school is in 

session and park activity counts in May is because youth soccer starts in April. 

She agrees the data doesn’t show it, but supports additional counts.  

Mr. Lemmon said that improving visibility is better than stop signs. Maybe we can 

stripe some of the parking to have clear lines of sight to make the crossing 

shorter.  

Chief King said he agrees that recounting is necessary. The studies are clear 

and the violation rates are higher so pedestrians are less safe.  

Mr. Lemmon said that even if the counts doubled, we still wouldn’t fulfill the 

criteria to install a 4-way stop.  

Bob Dixon, 1539 Lake, said parents should pay more attention to their children 

crossing the street for park access. 

Gretchen Cappiello, 801 15th, said the parking was moved back in front of our 

house which was a big improvement. She wanted to go back to 2013 after the 

Village installed the highlighted traffic crossing at Lake. There was some talk of 

looking to see if additional signage can be added to highlight the crosswalk. 

Currently the crosswalk is a dark paver. Everyone is rushing down 15th to school. 

Drivers don’t recognize when pedestrians have the right-of-way. Please consider 

adding better markings for the crosswalk.  



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 8 of 10 

 

Ms. Berger-Raish said the challenge of crosswalks on brick pavers is you can’t 

stripe them.  

Mr. Lemmon said we can recommend a sign with a downward arrow. It’s a trade-

off – do you fill with asphalt instead? Raising visibility is the issue. Also, children 

and seniors are more vulnerable, so we need to pay special attention to them. 

There isn’t a discount on the warrants for age or size.  However, lines of sight 

can be improved to account for them. Part of this comes down to culture – over 

time in Wilmette we are becoming more used to pedestrians in the crosswalks. 

People now are getting used to pedestrians in the roadway. Additional stop signs 

aren’t the right solution.  

Jon Marshall, 822 Prairie, said he lives at the southeast corner for 18+ years. 

This intersection has many close calls, being right next to the park, in the 

afternoon hours and weekends. Children are going to the park and to school. 

Drivers use Prairie to cut through the neighborhood on their way to work, and 

they save themselves 3 traffic lights. They speed through and take the corners 

very quickly. It’s scary to see a lot of close calls. Please take into account how 

much of the traffic count are children.   

Commissioner McCarthy asked the Commission for their opinion. 

Commissioner Braband said she would like speed data on 15th because some 

people are talking about speed being the issue. Maybe we need more direct and 

targeted enforcement. 

Commissioner Gaetz asked if another crosswalk guard can be added. 

Police Chief King said this would require pulling a guard from a different location 

which is a complicated process. 

Commissioner Braband said that we are creating an informational video to 

highlight how to not be in a hurry so much. We are collecting data real-time 

around schools and violations. It’ll be shown at curriculum night and notices will 

be posted on walls. It’s an educational tool to show the nanny, grandma, 

grandpa, and the children - to remind drivers to be safer drivers. We are seeking 

grant money and PTO money.  

Commissioner Braband made a motion recommending to make visibility 

enhancements, targeted enforcement and education. Commissioner Hayes 

seconded.   The motion was approved by unanimous voice vote. 

 
VII. TRAFFIC CONTROL AT THE INTERSECTION OF LAKE AVENUE AND 16TH 

STREET 



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 9 of 10 

 

 
Mr. Jensen indicated a resident requested traffic control on Lake Avenue and 

16th Street by means of a traffic control signal or 4-way stop. The study analysis 

does not support either of those measures. No previous outreach was on file 

regarding this location. The communication from the resident lacked additional 

information on why the request was being made.  

Commissioner Braband said she lives on Greenwood and 15th/16th and she 

doesn’t see what the issue is at this intersection.  

Ms. Berger-Raish said that there were 3 resident e-mails opposed to this request.  

Bob Dixon, 1539 Lake, said he has lived there for over 25 years and sees no 

issue at this intersection.  

Commissioner Braband said there is no way to coordinate signals. The train 

comes at its schedule. There’s already a backup issue on Lake Ave and this 

would exacerbate the situation.  This request is not supported. 

Ms. Berger-Raish indicated no motion is needed.  

Lauren Barlow, 2118 Elmwood, said there are many vehicles using Elmwood and 

she has seen school buses going 40 mph. Perhaps shortening the length of the 

red light at Lake and Ridge would be a solution to the Elmwood traffic.  

Commissioner Braband said she’ll speak to the District transportation coordinator 

to discuss the speeding bus situation.  

 
IV. OLD BUSINESS  

 
Ms. Berger said that Phase I engineering was stalled about a year on Locust 
Road, so construction will be postponed to late 2018. She added that for the 
Skokie-Hibbard Federal Grant project, the IDOT letting is scheduled for March 
2017 and there is a summer construction start for that intersection project. The 
Central Avenue STP project is estimated at $3 million and the Phase I open 
house had 100 participants. In the spring, the results of the open house survey 
questionnaires for pedestrian and bike accommodations will be shared.  

 
V. NEW BUSINESS 

 
None. 
 

VI. ADJOURNMENT 
 



7/22/15  Approved at the 6-28-17 Transportation Commission Meeting 

Page 10 of 10 

 

Commissioner McCarthy moved to adjourn the meeting.  The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner Braband.  The motion was approved by a unanimous 
voice vote. The motion carried.  No further discussion occurred on the motion.  
 
The meeting was thereafter adjourned at 8:54 p.m.  
 
Minutes Respectfully Prepared by R. Jensen    

 



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION AGENDA ITEMS: 3.15

SUBJECT: Purchase of Asphalt Roller and Trailer 

MEETING DATE: July 25, 2017  

FROM:  Brigitte Ann Berger-Raish, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 
Guy Lam, Deputy Director of Public Works 
Kurt Smith, Vehicle Maintenance Superintendent 

Budget  $ 38,000 
Net Cost After Trade-In 35,650 

Over/(Under) Budget  ($ 2,350) 

Recommended Motion 

Move to approve a contract in the amount of $38,900 with McCann Industries, Inc., Addison, 
IL for purchase of asphalt roller and trailer.  

Background 

This request is for the purchase of an asphalt roller (C-12) and trailer (C-29), scheduled for 
replacement in 2017 as part of the Village’s 10-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP). Staff 
within the Street Division of Engineering and Public Works Department utilize this equipment 
for street repairs and patching with hot asphalt materials. Specifically, this roller assists with 
the application of approximately 50-tons of hot sand mix and 40-tons of hot asphalt surface 
and binder each year. The existing unit will be replaced with a larger capacity roller (47-inch 
versus 35-inch drum width) as the current unit (23-years of age) is undersized, underpowered, 
and inadequate for compacting larger surface areas having a material depth of 2-3 inches.  

The new asphalt roller will contribute to a more comprehensive in-house asphalt pavement 
patching program, where permanent repairs are assigned to areas which were previously 
treated with temporary measures. Quite often, these areas require repeat visits and become 
resource intensive from a maintenance standpoint (i.e. labor, equipment and material usage). 
Efficiency gains are expected through use of this upgraded equipment. Integrating permanent 
type of repairs also produces a greater quality of road surface and can help to extend the life 
of asphalt streets (and alleys) before their scheduled resurfacing date. The expected useful life 
of the new asphalt roller and trailer is between 20-25 years 

Discussion 

Beginning in April, staff developed specifications for purchase of the asphalt roller and trailer. 
On May 18, 2017, bid notices for a Request for Proposal (RFP No. 17-M-0012) were sent to 
six area vendors specializing in the supply and sale of asphalt rollers and trailers. The bid 

Engineering & Public 
Works Department

BUDGET IMPACT: 

mailto:bergerb@wilmette.com
mailto:lamg@wilmette.com
mailto:smithk@wilmette.com


Page 2 of 3 AGENDA ITEMS: 3.15

opening occurred on June 8, 2017 and a total of five proposals were received. Results of the 
bid opening are denoted in the table below. 

Bid Results RFP No. 17-M-0012 

Vendor 
Asphalt 
Roller  

(Make/Model) 

Trailer  
(Make/Model) 

Total Bid 
Amount 

Trade-In 
(Optional) 

Net Bid 
Amount 

McCann Industries, Inc., 
Addison, IL 

CASE DV26 
Towmaster 

T5DT 
$38,900 $3,250 $35,650 

Westside Tractor Sales Co., 
Wauconda, IL 

BOMAG 
BW120-SL-5 

Felling FT10T $39,965 $3,500 $36,465 

Casey Equipment Co., 
Arlington Heights, IL 

Dynapac 
CC1200 Plus 

Big Tow B-3 
DT 

$44,075 $1,500 $42,575 

Patten Industries, Inc., 
Elmhurst, IL 

Caterpillar 
CB24B 

Towmaster 
T10 DT 

$46,112 $4,000 $42,112 

ALTA Equipment Co., 
New Hudson, MI 

Wacker-
Neuson RD 28 

Towmaster 
T5DT 

$50,170 $3,000 $47,170 

McCann Industries, Inc., Addison, IL provided the lowest responsive proposal for purchase of 
the asphalt roller and trailer and did not take any exceptions to the specification. Staff reviewed 
the manufacturer make and model information included in McCann’s proposal and they are 
sourced from reputable suppliers with products widely used in the industry. In 2015, as part of 
pilot program, the Village rented a similar asphalt roller (i.e. make and model) with positive 
reviews and feedback from staff. Prospective bidders were also asked to provide a trade-in 
credit for the existing roller and trailer. McCann Industries, Inc. has offered a trade-in credit of 
$3,250. Staff recommends accepting this credit as part of the final contract as it represents fair 
market value and there are no assurances that going out to auction would produce equal or 
more favorable pricing. Furthermore, McCann Industries has supplied equipment for the Village 
prior (2013- backhoe purchase) and demonstrated to be competent and capable vendor. They 
have also been responsive to any warranty repair claims. Therefore, staff recommends award 
to the lowest responsive bidder. 

The delivery of the asphalt roller takes 60 days from the order date and 105 days for the trailer; 
final delivery of both units is expected before the end of November 2017.    

Budget Impact 

The 2017 Budget provides $38,000 to replace an asphalt roller (C-12) and trailer (C-29). The 
final purchase cost of the new asphalt roller and trailer is $35,650 (includes optional trade-in 
credit), resulting in a final budget savings of $2,350.  

The table below illustrates funding for 2017. 



Page 3 of 3 AGENDA ITEMS: 3.15

Budget 
11960070-480275-40214 

$38,000 

Asphalt Roller and Trailer $38,900 

Trade-In Credit ($3,250) 

Final Net Cost $35,650 

Balance (Savings) ($2,350) 

Documents Attached 

1. CIP page for C-12 and C-29
2. Proposal from McCann Industries, Inc., Addison, IL
3. Proposal from Westside Tractor Sales Company, Wauconda, IL
4. Proposal from Casey Equipment Company, Arlington Heights, IL
5. Proposal from Patten Industries, Inc., Elmhurst, IL
6. Proposal from ALTA Equipment Company, New Hudson, MI











































REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION AGENDA ITEMS: 3.16

SUBJECT: Professional Design and Project Management Services for Replacement 
of Roof at Village Hall 

MEETING DATE: July 25, 2017  

FROM:  Brigitte Ann Berger-Raish, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 
Guy Lam, Deputy Director of Public Works 
John Ramaker, Facilities Supervisor 

Net Cost $32,700 
Budget $630,000 

Remaining Budget ($597,300) 

Recommended Motion 

Move to approve a contract in the amount not to exceed $32,700 with Hutchinson Design 
Group, Ltd. (HDG), Barrington, IL for professional design and project management services 
associated with the Village Hall roof replacement project. 

Background 

This request is for professional design and project management services for replacement of 
the roof at Village Hall, scheduled in 2017 as part of the Village’s 10-year Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP). The roof at Village Hall is comprised of the following areas: the upper main roof 
(approximately 16,000 square feet), lower dugout area for the HVAC chiller unit (approximately 
800 square feet) and two small overhead canopy areas (i.e. located above east and west front 
entrances). The roof was rehabilitated approximately 20 years ago (built-up type construction), 
however, the concrete deck construction (and insulation) is original to the building (circa 1973). 

On April 25, 2017, staff presented to the Village Board a recommendation for award of contract 
in the amount of $606,758 with The Garland Roof Company, Inc., Cleveland, Ohio for 
replacement of the Village Hall roof (i.e. modified built-up type construction). The project was 
to be coordinated through the U.S. Communities joint purchasing program under a turn-key 
agreement which included professional design and project management services. U.S. 
Communities is a national nonprofit purchasing cooperative. The recommendation was 
removed from the agenda due to trustee concerns with transparency of the U.S. Communities 
procurement process and pricing for replacement of the Village Hall roof. To address these 
concerns, staff moved ahead with a traditional procurement process, commencing with a 
Request for Proposal (RFP) for professional design and project management services. The 
next phase of the project will include an RFP process for the roof construction.    

Engineering & Public 
Works Department

BUDGET IMPACT: 

mailto:bergerb@wilmette.com
mailto:lamg@wilmette.com
mailto:ramakerj@wilmette.com


Page 2 of 3 AGENDA ITEMS: 3.16

Discussion 

In May, staff developed bid specifications for professional design and project management 
services for the Village Hall roof replacement project. The scope of work includes three phases: 

1. Professional Design Services and Bid Specification Preparation/Review,
2. Alternate Proposal for Garden or Green Roof System, and
3. Project Management Services.

On May 31, 2017, notices for a Request for Proposal (RFP No. 17-M-0014) were sent out to 
six vendors specializing in commercial roof design and project management services. The RFP 
document was also made available for download on the Village website. On June 7, 2017, a 
non-mandatory, pre-proposal meeting and formal walk-through was conducted at Village Hall 
by staff with five vendors. The proposals were due on June 28, 2017 and a total of five 
proposals were received. The results are denoted in the table below. 

Proposal Results RFP 17-M-0014 

Vendor 

Professional 
Design 

Services 
(Phase I) 

Green Roof 
System Design 

Services 
(Phase II) 

Project 
Management 

Services  
(Phase III) 

Final Cost 
(Phases I, II & III) 

Hutchinson Design 
Group, Ltd., 
Barrington, IL 

$14,400.00 $3,950.00 $14,350.00 $32,700.00 

TFS Alliance 
Group, Ltd., 
Chicago, IL 

$8,000.00 $4,000.00 $24,000.00 $36,000.00 

Walker Restoration 
Consultants, 
Chicago, IL 

$14,500.00 $8,500.00 $13,350.00 $36,350.00 

StudioGC, Inc., 
Chicago, IL 

$35,738.28 $11,850.10 $9,579.68 $57,168.06 

RDM Consultants, 
Inc., Chicago, IL1

6% of 
Construction 

Costs 

7% of 
Construction 

Costs 

3% of 
Construction 

Costs 

16% of 
Construction 

Costs 

1Disqualified, did not provide staffing hours, hourly rates and multipliers 

Hutchinson Design Group, Ltd. (HDG), Barrington, IL provided the lowest responsive proposal 
based on inclusion of all Phases (I, II and III). HDG has performed similar work for the Village 
in the recent past (2010 - Water Plant Roof Improvements and 2015 - Police Department Roof 
Replacement) and demonstrated to be a competent and capable vendor. Each of these 
projects were sizable in terms of scale and respective budgets, and were completed on 
schedule and under budget. HDG has also amassed an extensive portfolio, providing quality 
roofing services for several other municipalities and school districts. Overall, the bid response 
for this project was well received from reputable firms. Pursuing additional proposals would not 



Page 3 of 3 AGENDA ITEMS: 3.16

liking produce more favorable pricing. Therefore, staff recommends award of a contract to the 
lowest responsive bidder. 

Schedule 

If approved, the following work schedule is anticipated in order to ensure construction is 
completed before the start of the winter season: 

• RFP Preparations, Design and Drawings – Final Draft due by Wednesday, 8/9/17

• RFP Village Hall Roof Construction – Notice issued on Thursday, 8/10/17

• Pre-Proposal Meeting at Village Hall – Thursday, 8/17/17

• RFP Opening – Thursday, 8/31/17

• Agenda Item (Roof Construction) – Recommendation for Award – Village Board Meeting
on 9/12/17

• Village Hall Roof Construction – Start Date: 9/25/17, End Date: 11/30/17

Budget Impact 

The 2017 Budget provides $630,000 (financed from bond proceeds) to replace the roof at 
Village Hall. The final cost for professional design and project management services is $32,700, 
resulting in a remaining balance (or savings) of $597,300 which will be available for roof 
construction services. The table denoted below illustrates funding for 2017. 

2017 Budget  
11952070-460600-60112 

$630,000 

Professional Design and Project Management $32,700 

Balance – for Roof Construction Services $597,300 

Documents Attached 

1. CIP page for Roof Replacement at Village Hall.
2. Proposal from Hutchinson Design Group, Ltd., Barrington, IL
3. Proposal from TFS Alliance Group, Ltd., Chicago, IL
4. Proposal from Walker Restoration Consultants, Chicago, IL
5. Proposal from StudioGC, Inc., Chicago, IL
6. Proposal from RDM Consultants, Inc., Chicago, IL







































REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION    AGENDA ITEM: 3.17 
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

   
 

       

SUBJECT: Smoke Testing Contract   
 
MEETING DATE:  July 25, 2017       
 
FROM:   Brigitte Berger-Raish, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 
  Russell Jensen, P.E., Village Engineer 

  
Budget  $130,000 
Net Cost 129,535 

Over/(Under) Budget ($465) 
 

 
Recommended Motion 

Move to approve a contract with RJN, Wheaton, Illinois, in the amount not-to-exceed $129,535 
for Smoke Testing Services. 

Background  

In response to widespread sanitary-related flooding in the separate sewer system west of Ridge 
Road, the Village implemented a multi-tiered approach to address sanitary sewer backups.   
 
In 2012, the Village’s sanitary sewer consultant, RJN, performed a comprehensive hydraulic 
model of the separate sanitary sewer system located west of Ridge Road. This system consists 
of 250,375 feet of sanitary sewer pipe and two outlets to the Metropolitan Water Reclamation 
District of Greater Chicago (MWRD) interceptors. The western portion of the system, known as 
the Harms Basin, consists of 91,777 feet (37%) of the system and the eastern portion, known 
as the Princeton Basin, consists of 158,598 feet (63%) of the system (see Attachment 1 for a 
map of the two basins). The goal of the hydraulic study was to identify bottlenecks in the system 
that could cause sewer surcharging and ultimately sewer backups. From the study, the 
following recommended improvements were executed: 
 

• Annual Sanitary Sewer Lining Program 

• Hunter Road Back-Pitched Sewer Replacement 

• Wilmette Avenue and Hibbard Road Relief Sewer Improvements  

• System-wide Manhole Rehabilitation 

• West Park Sanitary Storage Reservoir 
 
With these structural system improvements complete, the Village has switched its focus to 
identifying and removing inflow and infiltration (I/I) of groundwater and rainwater from the 

Engineering and Public 
Works Department 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

mailto:bergerb@wilmette.com
mailto:jensenr@wilmette.com


 

Page 2 of 3   AGENDA ITEM: 3.17 
 

sanitary system. Reducing non-sanitary flows in the sanitary system will improve the 
effectiveness of the above-described structural improvements and further reduce the severity and 
frequency of sewer backups. In addition, from a regulatory perspective, the Metropolitan Water 
Reclamation District of Greater Chicago (MWRD) has recently adopted changes to the Watershed 
Management Ordinance, also adopted by Wilmette, that requires local agencies tributary to 
MWRD to adopt an I/I program over the next five years. This includes developing a program to 
address I/I on private property.   
 
Sanitary Sewer Evaluation Studies (SSES) 
 
Based on the flow monitoring of the sanitary sewer system, it is evident that both sewer basins 
experience excessive (I/I) of stormwater into the sanitary system. Excessive I/I is a primary 
cause of sanitary sewer surcharging and basement sewer backups. Sanitary sewer evaluation 
studies (SSES) identify public and private sources of inflow and infiltration (I/I) of groundwater 
in the sanitary sewer system.   
 
Smoke testing and dyed water flooding are common testing methods of identifying I/I. Smoke 
testing is a simple means of locating openings in the sewer system that allow surface rainwater 
runoff to enter the sanitary sewers. Air combined with non-toxic smoke is forced into the sewer 
lines to disclose the location of connections and leaks. Smoke may appear where there are 
defects in the main sewer line or laterals (connection between the main line and a building) or 
where there are other connections to the sewer system such as roof drains, patio drains, and 
footing drains. 
 
Dyed water flooding is typically performed as a follow up to smoke testing. In this method of 
testing, the storm sewer system is plugged and flooded with dyed water. During the test, a 
Closed Circuit TV camera is placed in the adjacent sanitary sewer to video the locations where 
the dyed water enters the sanitary sewer.   
 
The Village recently performed smoke testing and dyed water flooding of the sanitary sewer 
system in the Kenilworth Gardens neighborhood.  A summary of this work is provided below: 
  

Program Year  Description Number 
of Total 
Defects  

Number of 
Corrected 
Defects  

Status  

Smoke 
Testing 

2014 Identify low-cost Phase I 
($100 or less) sources of 
I/I including connected 
downspouts and leaking 
cleanout caps   

78 60 (77%) Village sent second 
follow up notices in 
late May.  Corrective 
action date: Aug. 31  

Dyed 
Water 
Flooding 

2015 
and 
2016 

Confirm and quantify 
Phase II (more costly) 
sewer lateral defects  

115 N/A Village sent initial 
notices to 
homeowners in late 
May.  No action is 
required at this time.    

 
As of this date, 77% of homeowners in the smoke-tested area corrected their identified defects 
following the initial notification.  A second notification letter was sent to the remaining homes in 



 

Page 3 of 3   AGENDA ITEM: 3.17 
 

late May.  Staff will follow up with these homeowners in September if corrective actions have 
not yet been taken.    
 
Discussion 
 
The 2017 budget includes $130,000 to continue the SSES program. Staff recommends 
extending the Village’s 2016 contract with RJN to continue this work in 2017. The Request for 
Proposal (RFP) that was developed in 2016 yielded proposals from two engineering firms, with 
RJN providing the more competitive cost proposal. Their proposal included a recommended 
scope of work and pricing for 2016 and 2017.   
 
Attachment 2 and the table below summarize the proposed scope of work for the 2017 smoke 
testing program:  
 

Scope of Work Quantity Unit Price Extended Price 

Smoke Testing 135,2001 LF $0.67/LF $90,584 

Analysis, Reporting 
and Project 
Management  

Allowance  20% of smoke 
testing cost above 

$18,117 

Private Sector 
Assistance 

Invoiced on time 
and material basis 

Estimated at 23% of 
smoke testing cost  $20,834 

TOTAL $129,535 
1 Proposed smoke testing location is the area upstream of Kenilworth Gardens per the map 
(Attachment 3).   
 
This contract was reviewed and recommended for approval by the Municipal Services 
Committee at their June 30, 2017 meeting. Smoke testing is best done during dry periods, so 
weather permitting, the work will take place July through September.   
 
Budget Impact 

This contract for $129,535 will be paid for out of account 40957090-470500, Inflow and 
Infiltration Smoke Testing, which has a budget of $130,000.   

Documents Attached 

1. Sanitary Sewer Basin Map 
2. RJN Fee Structure for 2016 and 2017 Smoke Testing and Dyed Water Flooding 
3. Map of Proposed Smoke Testing Area 

 



© OpenStreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA
Village of Wilmette, IL

MWRD I/I Program
Overall System
February 2016.

\\Whe-panzura1\office-11\WHEATON\PROJECTS\Wilmette_IL\11294500 Wilmette MWRD Asst\5.0 GIS\Map Documents\Map Documents - Exhibits\Overall System (11x17).mxd  -  Date Printed: 2/11/2016  3:50:44 PM

Harms Road Princeton Place Combined Sewer Region MWRD Prioritization Area Wilmette Boundary

Harms Road
Princeton Place Combined Sewer

Region



SECTION 5

FEE STRUCTURE

 SECTION 5  •  Page 20

FEE STRUCTURE

Our unit price rates for this project are as follows:

�� Smoke Testing: $0.67 per linear foot tested based 
on a minimum of 30,000 linear feet tested

�� Dye Flooding: $1,000 per dye flood setup plus 
an additional $1,100 per setup if sewer televising is 
provided based on a minimum of 10 setups

�� Analysis, Reporting, and Project Management: 
Lump sum set at 20% of the field work costs (not 
including subcontracted work)

�� Private Sector Assistance – New Locations: 
This scope is not known until the smoke testing 
is completed, so it will be invoiced on a time and 
materials basis with an allowance in the contract at 
23% of the smoke testing cost.

�� Private Sector Assistance – Existing 
Locations: If the Village would like us to follow up 
on the remaining private sector sources that were 
identified in the previous smoke testing, we request 
an allowance of $15,000.  This includes up to two 
follow-up letters, answering questions, inspections, 
and completion of the MWRD paperwork needed for 
the annual Village submittal.

It is anticipated that this will be a two-year project, so 
these rates are applicable through December 31, 2017.

Based on the $130,000 budget, it is our 
recommendation that the dye flooding be completed 
in Year 1 and the smoke testing in Year 2.  The dye 
flooding is in an area where backups have occurred 
and good results were achieved in the area previously 
completed.

If the Village follows our recommendation, we calculate 
that up to 38 dye flood setups would be required. Based 
on the prices shown earlier, the Year 1 cost would be as 
follows if the Village provided television assistance:

�� Dye Flooding: 38 Setups * $1,000 per Setup = 
$38,000

�� Analysis, Reporting, and Project Management: 
$38,000 * 20% = $7,600

�� Private Sector Assistance – Existing 
Locations: $15,000 allowance

		  Total Year 1 without TV: $60,600

Based on our prices above, the Year 1 cost would be as 
follows if RJN subcontracted the television assistance:

�� Dye Flooding: 38 Setups * $2,100 per Setup = 
$79,800

�� Analysis, Reporting, and Project Management: 
$38,000 * 20% = $7,600

�� Private Sector Assistance – Existing 
Locations: $15,000 allowance

		  Total Year 1 with TV: $102,400

We calculate that 135,200 linear feet would be smoke 
tested in Year 2 (158,598 LF in Princeton Basin minus 
23,398 LF already tested).  Based on our prices above, 
the Year 2 cost would be as follows:

�� Smoke Testing: 135,200 LF * $0.67/LF = $90,584

�� Analysis, Reporting, and Project Management: 
$90,584 * 20% = $18,117

�� Private Sector Assistance: Allowance of $20,834 
($90,584 * 23%) invoiced on a T&M basis

		  Total Year 2 Cost: $129,535

3059-5



!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2 !!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2 !¤!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2 !!2!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2!!2

!!2
!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!
!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2
!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!¤!2

!!2
!!2 !!2!!2

!!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!¤!2

!!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2 !!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!¤!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2!!2
!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2 !!2!!2 !!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2 !!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2 !!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2
!¤!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2!¤!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2
!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2
!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!¤!2

!!2
!!2

!!2!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!¤!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2!!2!!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!¤!2 !!2!
!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2
!!2 !!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2
!!2 !!2!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!
!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2!!2 !!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2 !!2

!!2
!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2!¤!2!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2!
!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!
!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2
!!2!!2

!!2!!2
!!2

!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!¤!2

!!2
!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2
!!2!!2!!2!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2 !!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2
!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2 !!2

!!2 !!2

!!2 !!2

!!2 !!2

!!2 !!2!!2

!!2 !!2!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2 !!2 !!2

!!2!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2!!2

!!2!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2
!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2
!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2!!2

!!2

!!2!!2!!2!!2
!!2 !!2

!!2

!!2

!¤!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2

!!2
!!2

!!2

© OpenStreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA
City of Wilmette, IL

Project Proposal
2017 Smoke Testing Program

June 2017.
\\Whe-panzura1\office-11\WHEATON\PROJECTS\Wilmette_IL\GIS_DATABASES\Map Documents\Map Documents - Exhibits\Proposal 2017\Proposed 2017 Study Area (8.5x11).mxd  -  Date Printed : 6/8/2017  9:44:28 AM

Princeton Basin Total LF of Sewer: 158,245 LF 
Previously Smoke Tested: 23,398 LF
2017 Proposed Smoke Testing: 134,847 LF

!!2 Standard Manhole

!!2 Drop Manhole

!¤!2 Split Manhole

!!2 Inverted Siphon

Collector

Inverted Siphon

Wilmette Boundary

Proposed Smoke Testing

Previously Smoke Tested



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION AGENDA ITEMS: 3.18 

SUBJECT: Supplemental Analysis of the Separate Storm Sewer System Study

MEETING DATE: July 25, 2017

FROM: Brigitte Berger-Raish, P.E. Director of Engineering and Public Works
Russ Jensen, P.E., Village Engineer

BUDGET IMPACT: Total Contract Amount………………………… $49,385
Over/(Under) Budget ...................................... ($49,385)

Recommended Motion

Move to approve a contract with Stantec, Chicago, IL, in the amount not-to-exceed $49,385 for 
Supplemental Analysis of the Separate Storm Sewer System Study.

Background

The Village completed a study of the separate storm sewer system, west of Ridge Road, in
2016. The consulting firm of Christopher B. Burke Engineering Ltd. (CBBBEL) was engaged to
perform the study in 2014 after several large rain events resulted in widespread overland
flooding. The study began with public engagement to learn about residents’ flooding experience
and was followed by a comprehensive hydraulic and hydrologic modeling of the storm sewer
system. The analysis by CBBEL indicated the bottleneck in the system is the network of storm
sewer pipes, because they are not large enough to efficiently convey stormwater to the pump
station on Lake Avenue.  As a result, there is system surcharging and overland flooding during
even moderate rain events.

CBBEL presented a series of alternatives that would achieve the Village’s goal of flood
protection during a 10-year storm event. The results of the study and alternatives to address
the problem were discussed at a series of Municipal Services and Village Board meetings in
2015 and 2016. Through these meetings, it was determined that building relief sewers to add
capacity to the existing storm system would provide the greatest benefit. Known as Alterative
1, this project consists of building approximately 44,000 feet of new sewer pipe and would cost
an estimated $77 million (2016 dollars).

Given the significant financial investment and impact of this proposal, the Village Board
approved a contract with Stantec in January of this year to perform an independent technical
review of the CBBEL study.  The study included the following tasks:

• Phase I – Technical Review

Engineering & Public
Works Department

mailto:bergerb@wilmette.com
mailto:jensenr@wilmette.com


Page 2 of 3   AGENDA ITEM: 3.18 
 

• Phase 2 – Alternatives Review  

• Phase 3 – Project Cost Review 

• Phase 4 – Draft Report and Presentation to Municipal Services Committee 

• Phase 5 – Value-Engineering Analysis 

• Phase 6 – Final Report 
O 

Stantec presented the results of the first four phases of the Value-Engineering study to the 
Village Board at a Committee of the Whole (COW) meeting held on June 26, 2017.  At the 
meeting, Stantec confirmed the accuracy of the technical components of the CBBEL study and 
agreed that the most logical project to provide 10-year level of protection for all properties west 
of Ridge Road is Alternative 1.  They also discussed the construction estimate for Alternative 
1 in detail and indicated the cost of the project could range from $80 million to $95 million (2017 
dollars). The Village Board directed Stantec to complete the final two phases of the study which 
include the value-engineering analysis and final report. The results of Phases 5 and 6 will be 
presented at the next Committee of the Whole meeting tentatively scheduled for September 
25.    
 
Discussion 

 
After the June 26 COW meeting, Village staff solicited stormwater questions from the Village 
Board to ensure there was adequate opportunity to evaluate all suggestions and options to 
address stormwater in west Wilmette. The consolidated list of questions is provided in 
Attachment 1. In addition to responding to Trustee questions, Stantec will summarize the 
impacts, costs and benefits of four stormwater project alternatives. These items are not 
included in Stantec’s scope of work for the Value-Engineering Study and therefore require a 
separate contract. Specifically, the following tasks are described in detail in Stantec’s letter 
proposal (Attachment 2): 
 
Task 1: Assist with Response to Trustee Questions 
 

This task includes meeting with staff and developing responses to 24 trustee 
questions.   

 
Task 2: Development of Updated Menu of Alternatives 
 
  This task includes preparing summary fact sheets on four potential Alternatives: 
 

1. Alternative 1 ($80 million - $95 million relief sewer project) 
2. Alternative 3 ($47 million neighborhood storage project) 
3. Alternative 1 and 3 Hybrid (Alternative 3 modified to include additional 

improvements to increase level of service provided) 
4. Alternative 4 (Reduced cost option - already under development by 

Stantec in a separate contract issued 6-1-2017 in the amount of $19,955. 
Staff asked Stantec to look at a low cost option after the cost estimate for 
Alternative 1 increased to $95 million.)  
 

Task 3: Analysis of Local Flood Mitigation Options 
 



Page 3 of 3   AGENDA ITEM: 3.18 
 

This task identifies local improvements that could be implemented to reduce the 
risk of structure flooding by buying out homes and constructing local detention 
areas. This hypothetical exercise will evaluate two areas--Kilpatrick between 
Gregory and Hartzell and Meadow Drive.     

 
Task 4: Meeting with Village Board 
 

Stantec will attend two Committee of the Whole meetings to continue discussions 
of stormwater. 

 
Stantec was selected to execute the Value-Engineering study based on the quality of their 
proposal and interview, practical knowledge of Wilmette’s sewer system and extensive 
knowledge and experience in wet weather management for many similar communities and the 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District.  Staff recommends continuing to work with Stantec 
for this supplemental work because they have performed well on the Value-Engineering study 
and are well-versed on the Village’s storm sewer system and the alternatives under 
consideration.  
 
Budget Impact 
 
This contract is not budgeted but will be paid for out of sewer reserves. 
 
Below is a summary of contracts awarded to Stantec to date: 
 

Project Description Contract Date Contract Amount 

Value-Engineering Study January 24, 2017 $114,933 

Reduced Cost Alternative Review  June 1, 2017 $  19,955 

Supplemental Analysis (This contract) July 25, 2017 $  49,385 

 
 
Documents Attached 
 

1. Consolidated list of trustee questions  
2. Stantec Letter Proposal dated July 20, 2017   



Consolidated Trustee Questions re Stormwater 

 

Stantec 

 
1. Comparison of Alternative 1 and 3 including: 

- map or chart which shows water levels in 10 yr and 100 yr storms 
- comparison of duration of 100 yr storm water 
- cost breakdowns - per structure, per parcel (President Bielinski) 
  

2. Potential enhancements (big relief sewer) to Alternative 3 to cover hot spots 
which would not be sufficiently impacted by current configuration of Alternative 3 
(President Bielinski) 
 

3. Neighborhood storage possibilities where storage could be added given 
topography and assuming Village could acquire a sufficient number of homes to 
create large enough area to be useful.  (President Bielinski) 
 

4. Alt 1 = $80-90+ million 
Alt 3 = $45-50+ million 
Is there something in between in cost, like an enhanced Alternative 3? (President 
Bielinski) 
  

5. Is there any meaningful impact from implementing something less costly than 
Alternative 3? (President Bielinski) 
 

6. Can we get the houses impacted by neighborhood for the 10-yr/100yr events? 
(Trustee Dodd) 

 
7. Can we get the implementation costs by neighborhood.  I know they shared this 

briefly but didn't feel overly comfortable with the numbers so this would be 
helpful.  (Trustee Dodd) 

 
8. Can we ask them to do a pareto analysis (80/20 rule), so what would we miss out 

if we did only an 80% solution and what would the cost be.  As I stated in 
separate email, my experience sometimes shows the last 20% of the work is 
80% of the cost and this is what I"m looking to understand.  (Trustee Dodd) 

 
9. I continue to be interested in a neighborhood solution for some of this project as 

a way of reducing the cost.  So for example, could we close off 21st/Beechwood 
as a street and put some small retention tank there to hold water. Or on one of 
the worst streets in Wilmette like Kilpatrick could we purchase 8 homes with the 
worst flooding and put in retention tank for that neighborhood as more cost 
effective solution for just part of area.  (Trustee Dodd) 

 



10. Can we do something creative to increase capacity at the top of the bowl (so tear 
up the major roads as top of topography) and make these stormwater pipes even 
larger therefore reducing the need to tear up all the ancillary roads.  (Trustee 
Dodd) 

 
11. What are the biggest risk areas for this project? And what are the areas where 

the cost of the project is most unknown and could change?  (Trustee Dodd) 
 

12. If we could only spend $60-70 million, what solution would they 
recommend?  What would not get done? (Trustee Dodd) 
 

13. If it's a phased project and the Phase 1 includes a main storm trunk and some far 
westside new storm sewer lines, would that start providing any relief to areas 
further east (like Wilshire, and Kenilworth Gardens)? (Trustee Kurzman) 

 
14. Are there green projects already identified in the Burke/Stantec studies that could 

supplement and build on the Storm Sewer Improvement?  (Trustee Kurzman) 
 

15. When will Stantec/CBB share XPSWMM modeling data with residents? (Trustee 
Kurzman) 

 
16. Would the Storm Sewer Upgrade result in improved IL water quality in any 

way? For example, would it reduce the storm runoff going into 
the sanitary sewers? Or would the sections of replaced or new storm sewer lines 
function better to improve water quality somehow? (Trustee Kurzman) 

 

17. What other metrics can be used to calculate a per-structure cost other than storm 
water within one foot of a property’s highest elevation?   (Trustee Kurzman) 

 

18. If we use the current metric for per-structure cost, which homes are identified as 
being saved in 10-year flood events that would currently flood?   (Trustee 
Kurzman)  

 

19. In the scenario of the project not proceeding, what is the estimated cost for the 
Village to purchase these homes that cannot be served to 10-year protection?  
What would it cost to tear down these homes?  What is the recurring revenue lost 
to the Village in terms of taxes, typical permitting, etc. for the removal of these 
properties?  (Trustee Kurzman) 
 

20. I am wondering what would happen if we set a different standard as our goal for 
the work.  In other words, during my conversation with the homeowner on 
Beechwood, it seemed that her issue really concerned the last few inches of 
water that made it into her basement and made the streets impassable.  I wonder 
if we set the standard to be not to dry out the streets, but to just eliminate the last 



few inches that force the water over her foundation and into her basement?  
(Trustee Kurzman) 

 

21. I know 5-6% of a project costs is generally allocated to engineering 
costs.  However, the fees in this deal seem to be getting very high.  Do we really 
need to pay such a great sum for engineering fees?  This seems excessive.  
(Trustee Leonard) 

 

22. Is there an opportunity to buy the worse affected homes, demolish them, then 
sell to developers to build slab on grade structures?  Does this help?  (Trustee 
Leonard) 

 

23. The 6-7” of rain that fell in about 12 hours in central Lake County – what type of 
storm would that be? 100-year? How would the Village’s storm sewer system 
have performed if a similar event occurred after the preferred alternative project 
was completed?  (Staff) 

 

24. Can you add restrictors to local storm sewers in upstream areas to redistribute 
the storm flows? (Resident) 

 

RJN 

25. Could the West Park Project be having a positive impact on overland flooding?  
(Example, resident of Kilpatrick observed less standing water on his yard once 
the West Park project became operational.) (Resident / Staff) 

 

Village Staff 

26. What results does the Department expect to see from Stantec at the next 
meeting? (Trustee Kurzman) 

 

27. What decisions will be made at the next meeting? (Trustee Kurzman) 
 

28. What is the pathway and timeline to an up-or-down vote on the project? (Trustee 
Kurzman) 

 

29. Why does the Village have more confidence in Stantec’s cost estimate than the 
inflation-adjusted cost of the CBB estimation?  (In the last meeting, why was 
Village staff discourse about potential bonding using figures circa $90 million 
rather than $77 or $80 million?  Is there a reason beyond being conservative and 
choosing the highest possible number? (Trustee Kurzman) 



 
30. Has the Village considered alternatives to self-reporting in its models?  For 

example, Winnetka appears to record debris piles in its streets.  Additionally, will 
the Village consider keeping resident flooding information confidential? (Trustee 
Kurzman)  

 

31. How many basement restoration-related permits are typically issued in a given 
period of time?  (In both the separated and combined sewer systems). (Trustee 
Kurzman) 

 

32. Do permits for basement restorations increase after a significant rain event (10-
year flood event or greater)?  If so, does the increase appear to match the self-
reported flood totals?  (In both the separated and combined sewer systems). 
(Trustee Kurzman) 

 

33. Using one or more 10-year flood events as examples, how much would it cost to 
waive basement permitting fees for residents in 2-year flood neighborhoods 
experiencing back-up? (Trustee Kurzman) 

 

34. Using one or more 10-year flood events as examples, how much would it cost to 
refund one month of sewer fees to residents in 2-year flood neighborhoods 
experiencing back-up? Two months? (Trustee Kurzman) 

 

35. Are we aware of new/additional compliance from Kennilworth Gardens since the 
recent round of letters?  Are residents fixing known illegal connections that cost 
more than $100?  How are we monitoring KG resident compliance? (Trustee 
Kurzman) 

 

36. Will the Village support the MWRD’s effort to gain authority to enforce repairs of 
private laterals?  Would the Village consider its own ordinance to enforce repairs 
of private laterals? (Trustee Kurzman) 

 

37. Via MWRD Phase II, has the Village applied for any green infrastructure projects 
for the separated sewer system?  Has the Village applied for any projects to 
alleviate problems in the separated sewer system? (Trustee Kurzman) 

 

38. What progress is being made on the current “Comprehensive Storm Water 
Management Program”? (Trustee Kurzman) 
 



39. Is there a process for revising and benchmarking the Program?  Is there a way to 
make it more accountable to the public, demonstrating progress, etc.? (Trustee 
Kurzman) 
 
 

 



Stantec Consulting Services, Inc.  

350 N. Orleans Street, Suite 1301 
Chicago, IL  60654 
312-831-3000 

 
July 20, 2017 

 
Ms. Brigitte Berger-Raish, P.E. 
Director of Engineering and Public Works   
Village of Wilmette 
711 Laramie Avenue 
Wilmette, Illinois  60091 

Reference:    Proposal for Supplemental Analysis 
  Separate Storm Sewer System Study 
 
 
Dear Brigitte, 

We are pleased to submit a letter proposal for Supplemental Analysis of items related to the Village’s plan 
for stormwater management improvements.  The efforts included in this scope of services are intended to 
help answer trustee questions stemming from the discussions to date and present clear information 
regarding the options available to the Village for reducing flooding risks in the western part of Wilmette.  
Results will be reviewed with Village staff on an ongoing basis during the project.  We expect to present 
results from this scope to Village representatives in September 2017. 

Tasks that will be performed to complete this analysis include the following: 

TASK 1 – ASSIST WITH RESPONSE TO TRUSTEE QUESTIONS 

Village staff have compiled a list of questions regarding aspects of the Village’s stormwater management 
program from Village trustees.  Stantec will meet with Village staff to review the questions and develop a 
strategy for the preparation of responses.  Based on discussions with Village staff, Stantec will proceed 
with the preparation of responses to the approximately 24 questions posed to it.  Stantec will submit a 
draft of the response to Village staff for review.  Upon receipt of comments, Stantec will finalize the 
response document and forward it to the Village. 
 
An initial review of the questions suggests that while some can be answered based on current available 
data and information, others will require new analysis.  An allowance of up to 80 person-hours of effort is 
allocated for the development of the response document.  Should Stantec determine that the effort to 
complete the response document will exceed the 80 person-hour allowance it will notify the Village to 
obtain formal authorization prior to proceeding.  

TASK 2 – DEVELOPMENT OF UPDATED MENU OF ALTERNATIVES 

Stantec will use results from previous analyses along with new work to prepare summary descriptions 
(fact sheets) for four potential options for reducing the risk of stormwater flooding on the west side of 
Wilmette.  The options for which descriptions will be prepared include: 
 

• Alternative 1 (as presented in the January 2015 Stormwater Management Report prepared by 
Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd.) 

• Alternative 3 (as presented in the January 2015 Stormwater Management Report prepared by 
Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd.) 



• Alternative 3/Alternative 1 Hybrid (Alternative 3 concept modified to include additional 

improvements needed to increase the level of service provided) 

• Reduced Cost Option (as developed by Stantec under a separate scope of services already 

authorized) 

The fact sheet for each option will include a brief narrative description of the design intent for the option, 
an 11”x17” map showing the configuration of the required improvements, an 11”x17” map showing 
approximate inundation boundaries for the 10-year and 100-year design storms, a summary of estimated 
project costs, and an indication of project benefits expressed in terms of metrics to be developed in 
consultation with Village staff.  Stantec will prepare and submit to the Village a draft fact sheet for 
Alternative 1 based on the previously developed data for the project.  Comments from the Village will be 
used to refine the Alternative 1 fact sheet and establish a template to be used for the other options. 
 
Model representations used as the basis for preparation of the fact sheets for Alternatives 1 and 3 will be 
those developed in conjunction with the 2015 Stormwater Management Report.  The model 
representation for the Reduced Cost Option has been previously developed by Stantec under a separate 
scope of services.  New modeling will be performed to define and characterize the Alternative 
3/Alternative 1 Hybrid.  Conceptual estimates of project costs will be developed using representative unit 
costs for major project elements as developed during Stantec’s 2017 review of Alternative 1. 
 
Upon completion of this task, Stantec will submit to the Village electronic (pdf) copies of the fact sheets 
for each of the options described above. 

TASK 3 – ANALYSIS OF LOCAL FLOOD MITIGATION OPTIONS 

Stantec will perform analyses to define local improvements that could be implemented to reduce the risk 
of structure flooding at two specific locations:  Kilpatrick Avenue between Gregory Avenue and Hartzell 
Street, and Meadow Drive (N,E,S,W) northwest of the intersection of Wilmette Avenue and Hunter Road.  
Improvements (including the buy-out of flood prone homes and construction of local detention capacity) 
will be developed to achieve a 10-year level of protection against structure flooding.  A fact sheet similar 
to those developed for options under Task 2 of this scope of services will be prepared for the suggested 
local improvements.  Costs for the purchase of private property will be developed based on current 
valuations from the Cook County Assessor’s office and reviewed with Village staff.  Costs for new 
improvements will be based on unit prices from the Alternative 1 review or new AACE Class 5 analysis of 
probable costs. 
 
Drafts of the fact sheets for the identified improvements will be submitted to Village staff for review and 
comment.  Upon receipt of comments from the Village, Stantec will submit final fact sheets for these two 
areas. 

TASK 4 – MEETINGS WITH VILLAGE BOARD 

Stantec will make a presentation summarizing the results from Tasks 1, 2, and 3 at a Village Board 
meeting expected to be scheduled for September 2017.  Stantec will prepare and submit to Village staff 
for review a PowerPoint slide deck to be used in the presentation.  Comments from staff will be 
considered in the preparation of the final slide deck to be distributed to the Trustees. 
 
Stantec will attend a second meeting (anticipated to occur in October 2017) to answer questions from the 
Village Board during its discussion/consideration of an action plan for stormwater management on the 
west side of Wilmette. 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT 

Stantec’s Project Manager will be responsible for the overall coordination of project staff, tracking of 
progress, and submittal of monthly progress reports/invoices to the client. 

 



SCHEDULE: 

Assuming a Notice-to-Proceed date of Monday, July 31, 2017, deliverables from the proposed analysis 
will be completed in time to be discussed with Village staff by September 18, 2017 and included in the 
agenda packet for a meeting of the Village Board to be held in late September 2017.  The second 
meeting with the Village Board is anticipated to occur in October 2017. 
 
 
ESTIMATED LEVEL OF EFFORT AND COST: 

Table 1 provides a summary of the estimated level of effort required to complete the proposed scope of 
services.  Monthly billings will be based on the actual hours charged by Stantec staff working on the 
project and 2017 Hourly Billing Rates as shown in Table 2.  Billings for completion of the proposed scope 
of services will not exceed $49,385 without prior written approval from the Village. 
 
If the proposal as presented is acceptable, please sign where indicated below and return a scanned copy 
of the fully executed letter agreement to my attention.  Should you have questions regarding our proposal, 
please contact me at 312.831.3117 or joe.johnson@stantec.com.  We look forward to working with the 
Village on this important assignment.  
 

STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES, INC. THE VILLAGE OF WILMETTE, ILLNOIS 

  

 ______________________________________ 

Joe Johnson, P.E., PMP  
Vice President 
Phone: 312.831.3117 
joe.johnson@stantec.com 

Printed Name:  __________________________ 

Title:                 __________________________ 

Date:                __________________________ 
 

 

  



 

Table 1 – Estimated Level of Effort/Basis for Compensation 

Project Phase Labor Hours Labor Billings 

Direct Cost/ 

Subconsultant 

Billings 

Total Billings 

Task 1 – Response to 
Trustee Questions 

80 $12,240 $100 $12,340 

Task 2 – Updated Menu of 
Alternatives 

80 $12,360 $0 $12,360 

Task 3 – Analysis of Local 
Flood Mitigation Options 

100 $15,300 $100 $15,400 

Task 4 – Meeting with 
Village Board 

34 $5,900 $200 $6,100 

Project Management 20 $3,185 $0 $3,185 

Total – All Tasks 314 $48,985 $400 $49,385 

 
 
 
Table 2 – Hourly Labor Billing Rates:  2017 

Employee Classification Hourly Labor Billing Rate 

Company Officer $250.00 

Principal Engineer or Scientist $220.00 

Principal Estimator $180.00 

Lead/Supervising Engineer or Scientist $165.00 

Senior Engineer or Scientist $135.00 

Professional Engineer or Scientist $125.00 

Administrative Support $100.00 

 



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES TERMS AND CONDITIONS Page 1 of 2 

Professional Services Terms and Conditions on StanNet Forms> Company Forms>Risk Management> Standard Form Agreements 

 

The following Terms and Conditions are attached to and form part of a proposal for services to be performed by Consultant 
and together, when the CLIENT authorizes Consultant to proceed with the services, constitute the AGREEMENT.  Consultant 

means the Stantec entity issuing the Proposal. 

DESCRIPTION OF WORK:  Consultant shall render the services described in the Proposal (hereinafter called the “SERVICES”) to 

the CLIENT. 

DESCRIPTION OF CLIENT:  The CLIENT confirms and agrees that the CLIENT has authority to enter into this AGREEMENT on its own 

behalf and on behalf of all parties related to the CLIENT who may have an interest in the PROJECT. 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  No terms, conditions, understandings, or agreements purporting to modify or vary these Terms and 

Conditions shall be binding unless hereafter made in writing and signed by the CLIENT and Consultant.  In the event of any 
conflict between the Proposal and these Terms and Conditions, these Terms and Conditions shall take precedence.  This 

AGREEMENT supercedes all previous agreements, arrangements or understandings between the parties whether written or 

oral in connection with or incidental to the PROJECT  

COMPENSATION:  Payment is due to Consultant upon receipt of invoice.  Failure to make any payment when due is a material 

breach of this AGREEMENT and will entitle Consultant, at its option, to suspend or terminate this AGREEMENT and the provision 

of the SERVICES.  Interest will accrue on accounts overdue by 30 days at the lesser of 1.5 percent per month (18 percent per 

annum) or the maximum legal rate of interest. Unless otherwise noted, the fees in this agreement do not include any value 

added, sales, or other taxes that may be applied by Government on fees for services. Such taxes will be added to all invoices 
as required.  

NOTICES:  Each party shall designate a representative who is authorized to act on behalf of that party. All notices, consents, 

and approvals required to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given to the representatives of each party.  

TERMINATION:  Either party may terminate the AGREEMENT without cause upon thirty (30) days notice in writing. If either party 

breaches the AGREEMENT and fails to remedy such breach within seven (7) days of notice to do so by the non-defaulting 

party, the non-defaulting party may immediately terminate the Agreement. Non-payment by the CLIENT of Consultant’s 

invoices within 30 days of Consultant rendering same is agreed to constitute a material breach and, upon written notice as 
prescribed above, the duties, obligations and responsibilities of Consultant are terminated. On termination by either party, the 

CLIENT shall forthwith pay Consultant all fees and charges for the SERVICES provided to the effective date of termination.  

ENVIRONMENTAL:  Except as specifically described in this AGREEMENT, Consultant’s field investigation, laboratory testing and 

engineering recommendations will not address or evaluate pollution of soil or pollution of groundwater. 

PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY:  In performing the SERVICES, Consultant will provide and exercise the standard of care, skill 

and diligence required by customarily accepted professional practices normally provided in the performance of the SERVICES 

at the time and the location in which the SERVICES were performed.  

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: The CLIENT releases Consultant from any liability and agrees to defend, indemnify and hold Consultant 
harmless from any and all claims, damages, losses, and/or expenses, direct and indirect, or consequential damages, including 

but not limited to attorney’s fees and charges and court and arbitration costs, arising out of, or claimed to arise out of, the 

performance of the SERVICES, excepting liability arising from the sole negligence of Consultant.  It is further agreed that the 

total amount of all claims the CLIENT may have against Consultant under this AGREEMENT, including but not limited to claims 

for negligence, negligent misrepresentation and/or breach of contract, shall be strictly limited to the lesser of professional fees 

paid to Consultant for the SERVICES or $50,000.00.  No claim may be brought against Consultant more than two (2) years after 

the cause of action arose.  As the CLIENT’s sole and exclusive remedy under this AGREEMENT any claim, demand or suit shall 

be directed and/or asserted only against Consultant and not against any of Consultant’s employees, officers or directors. 

Consultant’s liability with respect to any claims arising out of this AGREEMENT shall be absolutely limited to direct damages 

arising out of the SERVICES and Consultant shall bear no liability whatsoever for any consequential loss, injury or damage 

incurred by the CLIENT, including but not limited to claims for loss of use, loss of profits and/or loss of markets. 

INDEMNITY FOR MOLD CLAIMS: It is understood by the parties that existing or constructed buildings may contain mold 

substances that can present health hazards and result in bodily injury, property damage and/or necessary remedial measures. 

If, during performance of the SERVICES, Consultant knowingly encounters any such substances, Consultant shall notify the 

CLIENT and, without liability for consequential or any other damages, suspend performance of services until the CLIENT retains 
a qualified specialist to abate and/or remove the mold substances. The CLIENT agrees to release and waive all claims, 

including consequential damages, against Consultant, its subconsultants and their officers, directors and employees arising 

from or in any way connected with the existence of mold on or about the project site whether during or after completion of 

the SERVICES. The CLIENT further agrees to indemnify and hold Consultant harmless from and against all claims, costs, liabilities 

and damages, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, arising in any way from the existence of mold on the project 

site whether during or after completion of the SERVICES, except for those claims, liabilities, costs or damages caused by the 

sole gross negligence and/or knowing or willful misconduct of Consultant. Consultant and the CLIENT waive all rights against 

each other for mold damages to the extent that such damages sustained by either party are covered by insurance.  



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES TERMS AND CONDITIONS Page 2 of 2 

Professional Services Terms and Conditions on StanNet Forms> Company Forms>Risk Management> Standard Form Agreements 

 

DOCUMENTS:  All of the documents prepared by or on behalf of Consultant in connection with the PROJECT are instruments 
of service for the execution of the PROJECT.  Consultant retains the property and copyright in these documents, whether the 

PROJECT is executed or not.  These documents may not be used for any other purpose without the prior written consent of 

Consultant.  In the event Consultant’s documents are subsequently reused or modified in any material respect without the 

prior consent of Consultant, the CLIENT agrees to defend, hold harmless and indemnify Consultant from any claims advanced 

on account of said reuse or modification.  

Any document produced by Consultant in relation to the Services is intended for the sole use of Client. The documents may 

not be relied upon by any other party without the express written consent of Consultant, which may be withheld at 
Consultant’s discretion. Any such consent will provide no greater rights to the third party than those held by the Client under 

the contract, and will only be authorized pursuant to the conditions of Consultant’s standard form reliance letter. 

Consultant cannot guarantee the authenticity, integrity or completeness of data files supplied in electronic format (“Electronic 

Files”). CLIENT shall release, indemnify and hold Consultant, its officers, employees, Consultant’s and agents harmless from any 

claims or damages arising from the use of Electronic Files.  Electronic files will not contain stamps or seals, remain the property 

of Consultant, are not to be used for any purpose other than that for which they were transmitted, and are not to be 

retransmitted to a third party without Consultant’s written consent.  

FIELD SERVICES:  Consultant shall not be responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, 
or for safety precautions and programs in connection with work on the PROJECT, and shall not be responsible for any 

contractor’s failure to carry out the work in accordance with the contract documents.  Consultant shall not be responsible for 

the acts or omissions of any contractor, subcontractor, any of their agents or employees, or any other persons performing any 

of the work in connection with the PROJECT. Consultant shall not be the prime contractor or similar under any occupational 

health and safety legislation. 

GOVERNING LAW/COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS:  The AGREEMENT shall be governed, construed and enforced in accordance with 

the laws of the jurisdiction in which the majority of the SERVICES are performed. Consultant shall observe and comply with all 
applicable laws, continue to provide equal employment opportunity to all qualified persons, and to recruit, hire, train, promote 

and compensate persons in all jobs without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, disability or national origin or any other 

basis prohibited by applicable laws.  

DISPUTE RESOLUTION:  If requested in writing by either the CLIENT or Consultant, the CLIENT and Consultant shall attempt to 

resolve any dispute between them arising out of or in connection with this AGREEMENT by entering into structured non-binding 

negotiations with the assistance of a mediator on a without prejudice basis.  The mediator shall be appointed by agreement 

of the parties.  If a dispute cannot be settled within a period of thirty (30) calendar days with the mediator, if mutually agreed, 

the dispute shall be referred to arbitration pursuant to laws of the jurisdiction in which the majority of the SERVICES are 
performed or elsewhere by mutual agreement.  

ASSIGNMENT:  The CLIENT and Consultant shall not, without the prior written consent of the other party, assign the benefit or 

in any way transfer the obligations under these Terms and Conditions or any part hereof.  

SEVERABILITY:  If any term, condition or covenant of the AGREEMENT is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 

void, or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of the AGREEMENT shall be binding on the CLIENT and Consultant. 



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION    AGENDA ITEM: 3.19 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

   
 

       

SUBJECT:  Building in Public Easements  
 
MEETING DATE:  July 25, 2017       
 
FROM:   Brigitte Ann Berger-Raish, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works 
  Russell Jensen, P.E., Village Engineer 

  
None  

 
 

 
Recommended Motion 

Introduction and subsequent adoption of Ordinance 2017-O-43 amending Chapter 15 of the 
Village Code concerning encroachments in Public Easements.  
 
Background  

From time to time, the Village receives requests to build permanent structures in existing Public 
Easements. The purpose of the proposed changes to the Village Code is to formally document 
what encroachments are permissible and not permissible in Public Easements. The Municipal 
Services Committee recommended this Ordinance at their June 30, 2017 meeting. 
 
Discussion 
 
Public Easements are necessary for the operation and maintenance of public and private 
utilities. Permitting permanent structures in an existing easement ultimately precludes the 
future use of the easement for its intended purpose. The proposed Code revisions allow minor 
encroachments such as landscaping, fences, play equipment and small accessory structures, 
without foundation, to be built in Public Easements. Permanent structures with foundations, 
such as garages and additions, are not permissible. The Village retains rights to access the 
easement and its use. If the easement needs to be used by the Village the property owner must 
remove any encroachments at their own expense.  
 
The approval process for encroachments into the easements will be managed by the 
Engineering and Public Works Department and the Code provides for an appeals process.  
 
Documents Attached 

1. Ordinance No. 2017-O-43 

Engineering and Public 
Works Department 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

mailto:bergerb@wilmette.com
mailto:jensenr@wilmette.com


ORDINANCE NO. 2017-O-43 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE WILMETTE VILLAGE CODE  
(Chapter 15 Planning and Platting)  

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Wilmette is a home rule municipality as provided in Article VII, 

Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 1970, and may pursuant to said authority 

undertake any action and adopt any ordinance relating to its government and affairs; and 

WHEREAS, the Wilmette Village Code, 1993; Chapter 15-2.3(c) requires there “where no 

alleys are provided easements not less than 6 feet wide shall be provided for any or all public 

utilities with access to all lots;” and   

WHEREAS, the easements required by Chapter 15-2.3(c) are acquired for the purpose of 

constructing, operating, maintaining, repairing, or replacing pipes, manholes, swales, or similar 

structures for the conveyance of water, sanitary sewage, or stormwater; and   

WHEREAS, Village staff has determined that there be no encroachments upon these 

easements as there is a public need to ensure that adequate access to these easements is maintained 

at all times; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees find that amending the Village Code 

to ensure that access to these easements is maintained at all times is in the best interests of the 

health, safety and welfare of the public.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES of the Village of Wilmette, Cook County, Illinois in the exercise of its home rule 

authority as follows: 

SECTION 1: Each of the foregoing recitals and findings are hereby made a part of this 

Ordinance and are incorporated by reference as if set forth verbatim herein. 



SECTION 2: The Wilmette Village Code, 1993, as amended, is further amended in 

Chapter 15, Planning and Platting, Section 15-2.2 Public Improvements by adding a new 

subsection 15-2.4(j) and by inserting the new text shown in underlined, bold type below, so that 

said new subsection 15-2.4(j) shall hereafter read as follows: 

15-2.4(j)  
 
(1) The Easements required by Section 15-2.3(c) (“Easement”) shall be acquired and 
maintained and kept free from any and all encroachments on or above the Easement except 
as provided for in this subsection.  The following encroachments are permissible in an 
Easement, upon the application and receipt of a Village permit as otherwise required by the 
Wilmette Village Code and as conditioned by this subsection: 

 
• Landscaping; 
• Fences; 
• Play equipment; 
• Small accessory structures without a foundation 
 
(2) The Village retains the right to enter any property where an Easement is located for 
any public purpose relating to the utility to be or already located within the Easement.  The 
property owner bears the risk of installing any encroachment over an Easement.  If at any 
time the Village requires access to the Easement for either new construction or maintenance 
of an existing utility, the property owner shall remove the encroachment and access to the 
Easement shall be provided to the Village, if in the opinion of the Village Engineer there is 
no other reasonable and cost effective method of accessing the utility.  All costs associated 
with removing any encroachment in an Easement shall be the responsibility of the property 
owner.  Any costs that are incurred by the Village for accessing the Easement shall be repaid 
to the Village within thirty (30) days after notice is provided to the property owner by the 
Village.  The Village will not replace or repair any removed or damaged encroachments 
located in an Easement.   
 
(3) A property owner may submit to the Director of Engineering and Public Works a 
request to allow for the placement of an otherwise restricted encroachment.   Such a request 
shall include a plan, a statement of hardship, drawings and any other materials requested by 
the Director of Engineering and Public Works.  The Director of Engineering and Public 
Works has sole the discretion to allow for or deny the placement of an otherwise restricted 
encroachment if the property owner has shown:  

i.  a hardship with no other alternative for placement of an otherwise restricted 
encroachment; and 
ii. that placement of an otherwise restricted encroachment will not damage or restrict 
access to the Easement; and 
iii. that the property owner execute an express written agreement to be recorded against 
the property and run with the property, at the property owner’s cost, indicating 



acceptance of the conditions of this Section, which include, but are not limited to, the 
removal requirements of the encroachment as determined in the sole discretion of the 
Director of Engineering and Public Works and repayment of any costs incurred by the 
Village to the Village.  

 
SECTION 3: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

approval and publication in pamphlet form as required by law. 

PASSED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Wilmette, Illinois, on the 

22nd day of August, 2017, according to the following roll call vote: 

AYES: __________________________________________________________ 

NAYS: _____________________________________________________________ 

ABSTAIN: _____________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT: _____________________________________________________ 

            
     Clerk of the Village of Wilmette, IL 
 

APPROVED by the President of the Village of Wilmette, Illinois, this 22nd day of August, 

2017. 

            
     President of the Village of Wilmette, IL 
ATTEST: 
 
        
Clerk of the Village of Wilmette, IL  
 
 
 



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION    AGENDA ITEMS: 3.20 

  
  
 

       

SUBJECT: Locust Road Phase II Design Services  
 
MEETING DATE:  July 25, 2017       
 
FROM:   Brigitte Berger-Raish, P.E., Director of Engineering and Public Works  
   Russ Jensen, P.E., Village Engineer 

    
Budget Amount 
Net Cost 

$208,000 
197,856 

Over/(Under) Budget ($10,144) 
  

 

 

 
Recommended Motion 
 
Move to adopt Resolution 2017-R-18 approving a Local Agency Agreement for Federal 
Participation and Preliminary Engineering Services Agreement for Federal Participation for the 
Locust Road Improvements, Phase II design services. 
 
Background 
 
The STP program is a federal program that provides federal funding for locally initiated 
transportation projects. The North Shore Council of Mayors, the agency that administers the 
STP funds, issued a call for new projects for consideration to be added to the multi-year 
program beginning in 2017. In 2012, the Village Board approved a resolution supporting the 
request for federal transportation funds to be used to rebuild Locust Road from Lake Avenue 
to Wilmette Avenue. The Village was awarded the grant in the amount of $1,568,200 (Phase II 
and Construction).  
 
The general scope of work for the Locust Road project includes new curb and gutter, minor 
drainage improvements and roadway reconstruction. In addition, the project will include shared 
bike lanes and a wider sidewalk to accommodate pedestrians and young bicyclists. Based on 
the number of water main breaks on Locust Road, staff recommends replacing the water main 
as part of the reconstruction project. The water main replacement will be locally funded and is 
incorporated into the current capital improvement program.     
 
The completion of the Phase I feasibility study was delayed by approximately one year so the 
Village could obtain plats of dedication from nine property owners who owned portions of the 
Locust Road right-of-way. The Village recently secured right-of-way ownership along the entire 

Engineering & Public Works 
Department 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

mailto:bergerb@wilmette.com
mailto:jensenr@wilmette.com


Page 2 of 3   AGENDA ITEMS: 3.20 

corridor so the Phase II design can begin. The Phase II design consists of preparing the plans, 
specification and cost estimates that will be competitively bid for construction by IDOT.   

Discussion 

As with all federal and state funded projects, the Village is required to execute the standard 
agreements prepared by IDOT. The first agreement entitled “Local Agency Agreement for 
Federal Participation” will secure the federal portion of the Phase II study which is $138,499. 
The balance of the project ($59,357) will be paid for by the Village.     

The second agreement entitled “Preliminary Engineering Services Agreement for Federal 
Participation” is the standard agreement required by IDOT for projects utilizing federal funds 
for design and construction. The agreement outlines a standard scope of work for Phase II 
design services which include preparation of the project plans, specifications and cost 
estimates.   

Consultant Selection   

Current IDOT requirements for procurement, management and administration of engineering 
and design-related services using federal funds requires local public agencies to substantially 
follow a Qualification-Based Selection (QBS) selection process. The evaluation process was 
outlined in the Request for Qualifications which was sent out to seven engineering firms to 
provide the Phase II design services of which four replied (one was a no-quote) and three 
submitted a qualifications proposal. The firms were evaluated by staff members of the 
Engineering Department and evaluated based on the following criteria:   

• Federal Aid Highway Experience

• Individual Experience of Assigned Personnel

• Capacity and Response to Project Schedule and Deadlines

• References

• Submittal

The evaluation resulted in the following rankings: 

Rank Firm 

1 Christopher B. Burke Engineering, LTD., Rosemont 

2 TranSystems Corporation, Schaumburg 

3 Engineering Enterprises, Sugar Grove 

No-quote Civiltech Engineering, Inc., Itasca 

DNS* Alfred Benesch, Chicago 

DNS* Clark Dietz, Inc., Elmhurst 

DNS* V3 Companies, Woodridge 

DNS* Baxter & Woodman, Inc., Crystal Lake 

*Firm did not submit qualifications proposal

Based on staff’s evaluation of the qualifications, Christopher B. Burke Engineering, LTD. 
(CBBEL) is the top ranked consultant because of their extensive knowledge of the project, 
experience with similar Phase II design projects and their familiarity with 1) the existing 
stormwater drainage system capacity and functionality and 2) the future stormwater planning 



Page 3 of 3 AGENDA ITEMS: 3.20

for the Village’s Separate Storm Sewer System. References from the Village of Orland Park, 
Village of Deerfield, City of Evanston, Village of Algonquin and Village of Forest Park provided 
positive feedback about CBBEL’s work product. They noted CBBEL’s staff is very 
knowledgeable, thorough, and cooperative. All references would hire CBBEL for future 
projects.   

Upon selection of the top ranked firm, the scope of service and pricing was provided for review 
and consideration of the Phase II design services. The submitted scope included a fee of 
$212,844 which was revised and modified to streamline the kick-off process and consolidate 
the stakeholder coordination. The revisions resulted in a reduced fee of $197,856. Staff 
recommends awarding CBBEL a contract in the amount of $197,856.   

Budget Impact 

Description Account Fee 

Locust Road Phase II 1120202035-425250-80109 $197,856 

Budget $208,000 

Budget Savings: $ 10,144 

Phase II is paid for locally and 70% of the costs are reimbursed with the federal grant. 

Schedule 

The Phase II study will begin as soon as the agreements are approved in Springfield, which 
could take 90 days. The bid letting is scheduled for November 9, 2018 and construction will 
occur in 2019.    

Documents Attached 

1. Resolution 2017-R-18

2. Local Agency Agreement for Federal Participation for the Locust Road Project

3. Preliminary Engineering Services Agreement for Federal Participation for the Locust
Road Project

4. Capital Improvement Program Page



#639780 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-R-18 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AGREEMENTS FOR THE LOCUST ROAD 
IMPROVEMENTS  

WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees (collectively “Village Board”) 

of the Village of Wilmette, Cook County, Illinois (“Village”), find that the Village is a home rule 

municipal corporation as provided in Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Constitution of the State 

of Illinois and, pursuant to said constitutional authority, may exercise any power and perform 

any function pertaining to its government and affairs for the protection of the public health, 

safety, morals and welfare; and, 

WHEREAS, the Village desires to improve the vehicular and pedestrian safety and 

capacity of Locust Road; and 

WHEREAS, federal funding has been secured and therefore the Village intends to 

proceed with the Locust Road improvement project; and 

WHEREAS, the County and State will financially assist the Village in meeting the local 

match requirements; and 

WHEREAS, the Local Agency Agreement for Federal Participation (attached as Exhibit 

A) and the Preliminary Engineering Services Agreement for Federal Participation (attached as 

Exhibit B) (collectively “Agreements”) are ready for review by the Illinois Department of 

Transportation (“IDOT”); and  

WHEREAS, IDOT may make minor revisions to the these Agreements that do not 

substantially change the scope of work cost distribution;  

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees find that approving the Agreements attached 

as Exhibit A and Exhibit B are in the best interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the 

residents of Wilmette; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Wilmette as follows: 

SECTION 1: The Village Board finds that all of the recitals set forth above are true and 

correct, and that they are hereby incorporated by reference as if set forth fully. 



2017-R-18 

2

SECTION 2: The LOCAL AGENCY AGREEMENT FOR FEDERAL PARTICIPATION 

in substantially the form attached as Exhibit A is hereby approved and the Village Manager or 

his designee is authorized to execute the same.  

SECTION 2: The PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR 

FEDERAL PARTICIPATION in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B is hereby approved 

and the Village Manager or his designee is authorized to execute the same.  

SECTION 4: The Village Manager or his designee is authorized to make modifications to 

the attached Agreements, in a manner consistent with the purposes of this Resolution, prior to 

executing same provided, in his judgment, said changes do not materially alter the obligations of 

the Village thereunder. 

SECTION 5: The Village Manager or his designee is authorized to take such further 

actions as may be necessary to carry out the purpose of this Resolution. 

SECTION 6: This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage. 

ADOPTED on _________________, 2017, pursuant to the following roll call vote: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT: 

Approved on ___________________, 2017. 

Village President  

____________________________________ 
Clerk of the Village of Wilmette, IL 



2017-R-18 

3

EXHIBIT A 

LOCAL AGENCY AGREEMENT FOR FEDERAL PARTICIPATION 



2017-R-18 

4

EXHIBIT B 

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR FEDERAL 
PARTICIPATION 













































REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION AGENDA ITEM: 3.21

SUBJECT: Third Amendment to the Ground Lease between the Village and New 
Cingular Wireless for cellular service equipment located at 1200 
Wilmette Ave.  

MEETING DATE:  July 25, 2017 

FROM:  Jeffrey M. Stein, Corporation Counsel 

BUDGET IMPACT: None 

Recommended Motion 

Move to approve Resolution No. 2017-R-20 approving a Third Amendment to the Ground 
Lease between the Village of Wilmette and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC.  

Discussion 

In 1997, AT&T Wireless PCS, Inc. (“AT&T) and the Village of Wilmette (“Village”) entered into 
a ground lease for thirty-nine (39) square feet of land at 1200 Wilmette Avenue which AT&T 
used for an antenna support structure (the “Ground Lease”).  In 2001, AT&T and Village 
modified the ground lease to expand the footprint from thirty-nine (39) feet to forty-eight (48) 
feet and increased the rent from $2,596.74 a year to $3,324.67 a year (the “First 
Amendment”).  In 2007, New Cingular Wireless1 and Village modified the ground lease again 
to expand the footprint from forty-eight (48) to one hundred and forty-four (144) feet and 
increased the rent from $3,324.67 annually to $7,778.88 annually with an automatic 
escalation based upon CPI increases for the previous year (the “Second Amendment”).   

New Cingular now proposes a Third Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement (the “Third 
Amendment”) between the New Cingular and the Village.    

Below is a summary of the key changes the Third Amendment will make from the Ground 
Lease, First Amendment and Second Amendment.  The attached proposed Third 
Amendment is modeled directly after a recent amendment to a similar lease between New 
Cingular and the Village that was approved in February of 2016. 

1. Term:  The initial term of the Ground Lease expired in November of 2002 but has four
automatic 5-year extensions; consequently, the Ground Lease, including all extensions, will 
expire in November 2022.   The term was not changed by the First Amendment or Second 

1 Through a merger, AT&T has become New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC (“New Cingular”). 

Law Department

mailto:steinj@wilmette.com


Page 2 of 2 AGENDA ITEM: 3.21

Amendment. New Cingular desires to extend the lease further and enter into a new term. 
New Cingular proposes to extend the lease with a new term beginning on December 1, 2017 
for five years (expiring December 1, 2022) plus five 5-year automatic extensions terminating 
in the aggregate in December, 2047.  Both parties have the right to cancel any automatic 
extension. 

2. Base Rent:  The current lease has a base rent of $17,962.84 a year with a yearly increase
equal to the CPI, but capped at 5%.  The Third Amendment will provide for a baes rent of 
$18,232.28 commencing on December 1, 2017 which is then subject to yearly increases of a 
flat rate of 1.5%. 

3. Premise Use:  The spaced used by New Cingular Wireless is not being altered by the Third
Amendment.  There is a provision that New Cingular Wireless may, after providing notice and 
any documentation – including technical specifications – to the Village as requested by the 
Village, modify the current equipment on site.  However, this modification can only take place 
upon the current space that is subject to the Ground Lease and the Amendments.  The Third 
Amendment does allow New Cingular to expand its footprint to space available, but only after 
written authorization from the Village is provided, which may be granted or withheld for any 
reason.  

Budget Impact 

None 

Documents Attached 

1. 2017-R-20 Resolution Approving a Third Amendment to the Ground Lease Between the
Village of Wilmette and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2017-R-20 
  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE GROUND LEASE 

BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF WILMETTE AND NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS PCS, LLC 

 WHEREAS, the Village President and Board of Trustees (collectively “Village Board”) of the 

Village of Wilmette, Cook County, Illinois (“Village”), find that the Village is a home rule municipal 

corporation as provided by Article VII, Section 6 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois and, 

pursuant to said constitutional authority, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to 

its government and affairs for the protection of the public health, safety, morals and welfare; and, 

 WHEREAS, The Village of Wilmette owns the premises located at 1200 West Wilmette 

Avenue, Wilmette, Illinois, entered into a Ground Lease Agreement dated November 25, 1997, as 

amended by First Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement dated November 6, 2001, and as further 

amended by Second Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement dated August 25, 2006 (collectively the 

“Original Lease”); and 

 WHEREAS, The Village Board finds it necessary and convenient to approve the Third 

Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A (“Third Amendment”), to provide 

a new term for the lease and up to five automatic 5-year extensions to December, 2047, and to change the 

manner in which annual rent increases are calculated; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and the Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Wilmette as follows: 

 SECTION ONE:  The foregoing findings and recitals are hereby made a part of this Resolution 

and are incorporated by reference as if set forth verbatim herein. 

SECTION TWO: The Third Amendment between Village of Wilmette and New Cingular 

Wireless PCS, LLC, attached as Exhibit A, is hereby approved. 

 SECTION THREE:  The Village Manager is authorized to execute the Third Amendment and 

he and his designees are authorized to execute all documents and take all actions necessary to carry out 

the purpose of this Resolution and the Lease.  Prior to executing same, the Village Manager is authorized 



to make changes to the form of the Third Amendment which, in his judgment, are necessary to carry out 

the purpose of this Resolution; 

SECTION FOUR:  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage. 

ADOPTED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Wilmette, Illinois, on the 

25th day of July, 2017 according to the following roll call vote: 

AYES: None. 

NAYS: None.  

ABSTAIN: None. 

ABSENT: None. 

Clerk of the Village of Wilmette, Illinois 

Approved on July 25, 2016. 

Village President 

Attest: 

Village Clerk 



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Third Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

1 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (“Third 

Amendment”), dated as of the latter of the signature dates below (the “Effective Date”), is by 

and between the Village of Wilmette, a municipal corporation, having a mailing address of 1200 

West Wilmette Avenue, Wilmette, IL 60091 (hereinafter referred to as “Landlord”), and New 

Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, having a mailing address of 

575 Morosgo Drive, Atlanta, GA 30324 (hereinafter referred to as “Tenant”).  

 

 WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant (or its respective predecessor-in-interest) entered into 

a Ground Lease Agreement dated November 25, 1997, as amended by First Amendment to 

Ground Lease Agreement dated November 6, 2001, and as further amended by Second 

Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement dated August 25, 2006 (hereinafter, collectively, the 

"Agreement"), whereby Landlord leased to Tenant certain premises ("Premises"), therein 

described, that are a portion of the property ("Property") located at 1200 West Wilmette 

Avenue, Wilmette, IL; and  

 

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement will expire on November 30, 2022, and the 

parties mutually desire to renew the Agreement, memorialize such renewal period and modify 

the Agreement in certain other respects, all on the terms and conditions contained herein; and 

  

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Agreement to extend the term of 

the Agreement; and  

 

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Agreement to adjust the Base 

Rent (as defined below) in conjunction with the modifications to the Agreement contained 

herein; and 

 

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Agreement to modify the notice 

section thereof; and 

 
WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Agreement to clarify scope of 

Tenant's permitted use of the Premises; and  

 

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Agreement to provide Tenant the 

right to enlarge the Premises; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant, in their mutual interest, wish to amend the 

Agreement as set forth below accordingly. 

  

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord and 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

2 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

Tenant agree that the recitals set forth above are incorporated herein as if set forth in their 

entirety and further agree as follows: 

 

1. Extension of Term. The term of the Agreement shall be extended to provide that the 

Agreement has a new initial term of five (5) years (“New Initial Term”) commencing on 

December 1, 2017 (“New Term Commencement Date”). As of the New Term 

Commencement Date, the term provided in the Agreement and any extensions thereof, as 

applicable, shall be void and of no further force and consequence. The Agreement will 

automatically renew, commencing on the expiration of the New Initial Term, for up to five (5) 

separate consecutive additional periods of five (5) years each (each such five (5) year 

additional period is hereinafter referred to as an "Additional Extension Term" and each 

such Additional Extension Term shall be considered an Extension Term under the 

Agreement), upon the same terms and conditions of the Agreement, without further action by 

either party unless Tenant notifies Landlord or Landlord notifies Tenant in writing of their 

intention not to renew the Agreement at least twelve (12) months prior to the beginning of any 

Additional Extension Term. The New Initial Term and the Additional Extension Term are 

collectively referred to as the Term ("Term"). 

 

2. Base Rent. Commencing on December 1, 2017, the current base rent payable under 

the Agreement shall be Eighteen Thousand Two Hundreed Two Hundred Thirty Two and 

28/100 Dollars ($18,232.28) per year (the "Base Rent"), and shall continue during the Term, 

subject to adjustment as provided herein. Section 3.2(c) of the Agreement shall be amended to 

provide that Base Rent shall be adjusted as follows: on the first day of year two (2) of the New 

Initial Term and each year thereafter, including throughout any Additional Extension Term 

exercised, the annual Base Rent will increase by one and one-half percent (1.5%) over the Base 

Rent paid during the previous year.  

 

3 .  Expansion of Permitted Use. Tenant, its personnel, invitees, contractors, agents, or  

assigns may use the Premises, at no additional cost or expense, for the transmission and 

reception of any and all communications signals and, with prior written notice to Landlord, to 

modify, supplement, replace, upgrade, or refurbish the equipment and/or improvements thereon 

(collectively, "Communications Facility"), or relocate the same within the Premises at 

any time during the term of the Agreement for any reason, or in order to be in compliance with 

any current or future federal, state or local mandated application, including but not limited to 

emergency 911 communication services, or for any other reason.  In addition to the notice 

provided by Tenant, Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, provide any documentation and 

professional certifications prior to Tenant performing any work upon the Communications 

Facility.   Landlord shall reasonably cooperate in obtaining governmental and other use permits 

or approvals necessary or desirable for the foregoing permitted use, provided Landlord shall be 

under no obligation to expend any money in doing the same.  If Landlord does not comply with 

the terms of this section Tenant may terminate the Agreement and shall have no further liability 

to Landlord; provided, however, it shall not be a default if Landlord fails to cooperate in 

obtaining governmental and other use permits where Tenant desires to expand their 

Communication Facility and such expansion has been rejected by Landlord.   

 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

3 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

4. Expansion of the Premises.  Landlord grants Tenant the right, subject to prior written 

approval of Landlord, which may be withheld in the sole discretion of Landlord, and to the 

extent practicable and on a space-available-basis, to enlarge the Premises or to make space 

available on the Property for Tenant so that Tenant may implement any necessary modifications, 

supplements, replacements, refurbishments, or expansions to the Communications Facility or to 

any equipment related thereto, or for any other reasons, as determined by Tenant in its sole 

discretion. Should Tenant exercise the right to expand the Premises, Tenant will pay and 

Landlord will accept as additional Base Rent under the Agreement an amount equal to the then 

current Base Rent calculated on a per square foot basis as multiplied by each additional square 

foot added to the Premises.  Upon notice to Landlord, a description and/or depiction of the 

modified Premises ground will become part of the Agreement without any additional action on 

the part of Tenant and Landlord; however, at the request of Tenant, the parties will execute a 

Memorandum of Agreement in recordable form memorializing the modification of the ground 

space of Landlord's Property, which either party may record at its option.   Provided, however, 

that the party recording the Memorandum of Agreement will pay for the recording of the 

Memorandum of Agreement and will pay for a release of the Memorandum of Agreement and 

this obligation shall survive termination of the Agreement.   

 

5. Charges. All charges payable under the Agreement such as utilities and taxes shall 

be billed by Landlord within one (1) year from the end of the calendar year in which the charges 

were incurred; any charges beyond such period shall not be billed by Landlord, and shall not be 

payable by Tenant. The foregoing shall not apply to monthly Base Rent which is due and 

payable without a requirement that it be billed by Landlord.  The provisions of this subparagraph 

shall survive the termination or expiration of the Agreement. 

 

6. Notices. Section 20 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced 

with the following:   

 

“(a)  NOTICES.  All notices, requests, demands and communications hereunder will be given by 

first class certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or by a nationally recognized 

overnight courier, postage prepaid, to be effective when properly sent and received, refused or 

returned undelivered.  Notices will be addressed to the parties as follows:  

 

If to Tenant: 

 

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC  

Attn:  Network Real Estate Administration 

Re:  Cell Site #: IL1388; Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall (IL) 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

575 Morosgo Drive  

Atlanta, GA 30324 

 

With a required copy of the notice sent to the address above to AT&T Legal at:             

 

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC  



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

4 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

Attn:  AT&T Legal Department 

Re:  Cell Site #: IL1388; Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall (IL) 

Fixed Asset No: 10095046 

208 S. Akard Street 

Dallas, Texas, 75202-4206 

 

A copy sent to the Legal Department is an administrative step which alone does not constitute 

legal notice. 

 

And as to Landlord: 

 

Village of Wilmette 

1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

Wilmette, IL 60091 

Attn: Corporate Counsel 

 

With a copy sent to: 

 

Tressler, LLP 

233 South Wacker Drive 

22nd Floor 

Chicago, IL 60606 

ATTN: Luke Glisan 

  

 Either party hereto may change the place for the giving of notice to it by thirty (30) days 

prior written notice to the other as provided herein.” 

 

7. Memorandum of Agreement. Either party will, at any time upon fifteen (15) days 

prior written notice from the other, execute, acknowledge and deliver to the other a recordable 

Memorandum of Agreement substantially in the form of the Attachment 1.  Either party may 

record this memorandum at any time, in its absolute discretion.  Upon the expiration of the 

Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Tenant, or its successor in interest, will record a 

release of the Memorandum of Agreement within 90 days of the Agreement’s termination.  The 

Tenant, or its successors in interest, share bear the cost of recording this release and the 

provisions of this Section 7 shall survive termination of the Agreement.   

 

8. Other Terms and Conditions Remain. In the event of any inconsistencies between 

the Agreement and this Third Amendment, the terms of this Third Amendment shall control.  

Except as expressly set forth in this Third Amendment, the Agreement otherwise is unmodified 

and remains in full force and effect.  Each reference in the Agreement to itself shall be deemed 

also to refer to this Third Amendment. 

 

9. Capitalized Terms.   All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the 

same meanings as defined in the Agreement. 

 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

5 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

 

[NO MORE TEXT ON THIS PAGE - SIGNATURES TO FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE] 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

6 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their properly authorized 

representatives to execute this Third Amendment on the dates set forth below. 

 

LANDLORD: 

Village of Wilmette, 

a municipal corporation 

 

 

 

 

By:         

 

Print Name:        

 

Title:         

 

Date:         

TENANT: 

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company 

 

By: AT&T Mobility Corporation 

Its: Manager 

 

 

By:         

 

Print Name:        

 

Title:         

 

Date:         

 

 

 

[ACKNOWLEDGMENTS APPEAR ON THE NEXT PAGE] 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

7 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

LANDLORD ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

STATE OF ________________ ) 

 ) SS. 

COUNTY OF ______________ ) 

 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that __________________________ is 

the person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that said person signed this 

instrument, on oath stated that said person was authorized to execute the instrument and 

acknowledged it as the _______________________________ of the Village of Wilmette, a 

municipal corporation, to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes 

mentioned in the instrument. 

 

DATED:  _______________________________. 

 

Notary Seal  

 

  

(Signature of Notary) 

  

(Legibly Print or Stamp Name of Notary) 

Notary Public in and for the State of 

___________ 

My appointment expires:    

 

 

 

 

 

  



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

8 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

TENANT ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

STATE OF ________________ ) 

 ) SS. 

COUNTY OF ______________ ) 

 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that ____________________________ 

is the person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he/she signed this 

instrument, on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the instrument and 

acknowledged it as the ____________________________________ of AT&T Mobility 

Corporation, the Manager of New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in 

the instrument. 

 

DATED:  _______________________________. 

 

Notary Seal  

 

 

  

(Signature of Notary) 

  

(Legibly Print or Stamp Name of Notary) 

Notary Public in and for the State of 

___________ 

My appointment expires:    

 

  



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

9 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

Attachment 1 

 

Memorandum of Agreement 
 

THIS DOCUMENT PREPARED BY, 

and  

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 

 

Michael Fraunces, President 

(858) 799-7850 

Md7, LLC 

10590 West Ocean Air Drive 

Suite 300 

San Diego, CA 92130 

 

Parcel #:  05-34-110-006-8001; 05-34-

110-007-8001; 05-34-110-008-8001 SPACE ABOVE FOR RECORDER’S USE 
 

Re: Cell Site #: IL1388 

 Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall (IL) 

Fixed Asset Number:  10095046 

State:  IL 

County:  Cook 

 

MEMORANDUM 

OF 

AGREEMENT 

 

 

 This Memorandum of Agreement is entered into on this ____ day of ______________, 

201__, by and between the Village of Wilmette, a municipal corporation, having a mailing 

address at 1200 West Wilmette Avenue, Wilmette, IL 60091 (hereinafter referred to as 

“Landlord”) and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, 

having a mailing address of 575 Morosgo Drive, Atlanta, GA 30324 (hereinafter referred to as 

"Tenant"). 

 

1. Landlord and Tenant (or their predecessors in interest) entered into a certain 

Ground Lease Agreement dated November 25, 1997, as amended by that certain 

First Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement dated November 6, 2001, as 

amended by that certain Second Amendment to Ground Lease Agreement dated 

August 25, 2006, and as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to 

Ground Lease Agreement dated ______________________________ ____, 

201__ (hereinafter, collectively, the “Agreement”) for the purpose of installing, 

operating and maintaining a communications facility and other improvements at 

Landlord’s real property located in the City of Wilmette, County of Cook, 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

10 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

commonly known as 1200 West Wilmette Avenue.  All of the foregoing are set 

forth in the Agreement. 

 

2. The New Initial Term will be five (5) years (“New Initial Term”) commencing 

on December 1, 2017, with five (5) successive five (5) year options to renew. 

 

3. The portion of the land being leased to Tenant (the “Premises”) is described in 

Exhibit 1 annexed hereto. 

 

4. This Memorandum of Agreement is not intended to amend or modify, and shall 

not be deemed or construed as amending or modifying, any of the terms, 

conditions or provisions of the Agreement, all of which are hereby ratified and 

affirmed.  In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this Memorandum 

of Agreement and the provisions of the Agreement, the provisions of the 

Agreement shall control. The Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

benefit of the parties and their respective heirs, successors, and assigns, subject to 

the provisions of the Agreement. 

 

 

[NO MORE TEXT ON THIS PAGE - SIGNATURES TO FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE] 

 

 

  



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

11 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Memorandum of Agreement 

as of the day and year first above written. 

 

 

LANDLORD: 

Village of Wilmette, 

a municipal corporation 

 

 

 

 

 

By:         

 

Print Name:        

 

Title:         

 

Date:         

TENANT: 

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, 

a Delaware limited liability company 

 

By: AT&T Mobility Corporation 

Its: Manager 

 

 

By:         

 

Print Name:        

 

Title:         

 

Date:         

 

 

 

[ACKNOWLEDGMENTS APPEAR ON THE NEXT PAGE] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

12 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

LANDLORD ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

STATE OF ________________ ) 

 ) SS. 

COUNTY OF ______________ ) 

 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that __________________________ is 

the person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that said person signed this 

instrument, on oath stated that said person was authorized to execute the instrument and 

acknowledged it as the _______________________________ of the Village of Wilmette, a 

municipal corporation, to be the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes 

mentioned in the instrument. 

 

DATED:  _______________________________. 

 

DATED:  _______________________________. 

 

Notary Seal  

 

  

(Signature of Notary) 

  

(Legibly Print or Stamp Name of Notary) 

Notary Public in and for the State of 

___________ 

My appointment expires:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

13 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

 

 

 

 

 

TENANT ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 

STATE OF ________________ ) 

 ) SS. 

COUNTY OF ______________ ) 

 

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that ____________________________ 

is the person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he/she signed this 

instrument, on oath stated that he/she was authorized to execute the instrument and 

acknowledged it as the ____________________________ of AT&T Mobility Corporation, the 

Manager of New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, to be 

the free and voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 

 

DATED:  _______________________________. 

 

Notary Seal  

 

 

  
(Signature of Notary) 
  
(Legibly Print or Stamp Name of Notary) 
Notary Public in and for the State of 

___________ 
My appointment expires:    

 

  



Cell Site No.: IL1388 

Cell Site Name: Wilmette Village Hall 

Fixed Asset No.: 10095046 

Market: IL / WI 

Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue 

 

14 
Category 3, 4, & 5  Amendment Form 

Exhibit 1 to Memorandum of Agreement 

 

Legal Description  

 

Street Address: 1200 West Wilmette Avenue, Wilmette, IL 60091 

 

Parcel #: 05-34-110-006-8001; 05-34-110-007-8001; 05-34-110-008-8001 

 

That certain Premises (and access and utility easements) on a portion of the real property 

described as follows: 

 

 
  


	Village Board Agenda-July 25, 2017
	3.1-Draft Village Board Minutes-7/11/17
	3.2-Appearance Review Commission Minutes-6/5/17
	3.3-Plan Commission Minutes-6/6/17
	3.4-Land Use Committee Minutes-7/26/16
	3.5-Land Use Committee Minutes-12/12/16
	3.6-Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes-6/21/17
	3.7-Ordinance-Amendment to Chapter 20, Article 16 of the Village Code Sign Ordinance
	3.8-Request to Remand-Zoning Board of Appeals Report, Case #2017-Z-31, 808 Linden Avenue
	3.9-Request to Table-Plan Commission Report #2017-P-03, 730 Romona Road
	3.10-Resolution authorizing reimbursement of the General Fund by Bond Proceeds
	3.11-Transportation Commission Minutes-12/15/16
	3.15-Contract-Purchase of asphalt roller and trailer
	3.16-Contract-Professtional Design and Project Managment Services for replacement of roof at Village Hall
	3.17-Contract-Smoke Testing Services
	3.18-Contract-Supplemental Analysis of the Separate Storm Sewer System Study
	3.19-Ordinance-Amend Chapter 15 of the Village Code concerning encroachments in Public Easements
	3.20-Resolution approving Locust Road Phase II Design Services
	3.21-Resolution approving Third Amendment to the Ground Lease between the Village and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC



